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Explanatory Note

 
This Amendment No. 1 on Form 8-K/A (this “Amendment”) to the Current Report on Form 8-K of Concrete Pumping Holdings,

Inc. (the “Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our”), originally filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on December
10, 2018 (the “Original Form 8-K”), is being filed solely to amend and restate in their entirety Items 2.01 and 9.01 in the Original Form 8-
K.  No other changes have been made to the Original Form 8-K.  References to “this Current Report on Form 8-K” are to the Original
Form 8-K as amended by this Amendment.

 
Introductory Note

 
On December 6, 2018 (the “Closing Date”), the Company consummated the transactions contemplated by that certain Agreement

and Plan of Merger, dated as of September 7, 2018 (the “Merger Agreement”), by and among the Company, Industrea Acquisition Corp., a
Delaware corporation (“Industrea”), the private operating company formerly named Concrete Pumping Holdings, Inc., a Delaware
corporation (“CPH”), and certain subsidiaries of the Company, pursuant to which (a) Concrete Pumping Merger Sub Inc., a Delaware
corporation and a wholly owned indirect subsidiary of the Company (“Concrete Merger Sub”), merged with and into CPH, with CPH
surviving the merger as a wholly owned indirect subsidiary of the Company (the “CPH Merger”), and (b) a wholly owned direct subsidiary
of the Company merged with and into Industrea, with Industrea surviving the merger as a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (the
“Industrea Merger”). The transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement are referred to herein as the “Business Combination.”

 
The Business Combination was completed on December 6, 2018. In connection with the Closing, the Company changed its name

from Concrete Pumping Holdings Acquisition Corp. to Concrete Pumping Holdings, Inc.
 
Under the Merger Agreement, the Company indirectly acquired CPH for aggregate consideration of approximately $182.5 million

in cash (excluding amounts deposited in escrow at Closing) and 13,947,323 shares of Company common stock (valued at $10.20 per share)
that were issued in exchange for shares of CPH’s capital stock prior to the consummation of the CPH Merger pursuant to the Non-
Management Rollover Agreement and that certain Management Rollover Agreement, dated September 7, 2018, by and among the
Company, Industrea and members of CPH management party thereto (the “Management Rollover Agreement”). In addition, 2,783,479
CPH options were converted into options of the Company, and pursuant to the Industrea Merger, all of the issued and outstanding shares of
Industrea common stock were exchanged on a one-for-one basis for shares of Company common stock, and all of the outstanding warrants
to purchase Industrea common stock are exercisable for an equal number of shares of Company common stock on the existing terms and
conditions of such warrants.

 
In addition, immediately prior to the Closing, (i) pursuant to that certain subscription agreement (the “Argand Subscription

Agreement”), dated as of September 7, 2018, by and among the Company, Industrea and the Argand Investor, Industrea issued to the
Argand Investor an aggregate of 5,333,333 shares of Industrea common stock for $10.20 per share, for an aggregate cash purchase price of
$54.4 million, plus an additional 2,450,980 shares of Industrea common stock at $10.20 per share, for an aggregate cash purchase price of
$25.0 million to offset redemptions of Industrea’s public shares in connection with the Business Combination (“Redemptions”); and (ii)
pursuant to that certain subscription agreement (the “Common Stock Subscription Agreement”), dated as of September 7, 2018, Industrea
issued to an accredited investor (the “Common Investor”) an aggregate of 1,715,686 shares of Industrea common stock at a price of $10.20
per share, for an aggregate cash purchase price of $17.5 million, plus an aggregate of 190,632 additional shares of Industrea common stock
the (“Utilization Fee Shares”) as consideration for such investor’s agreement to purchase Industrea common stock. The shares of Industrea
common stock issued to the Argand Investor and the Common Investor were exchanged on a one-for-one basis for shares of Company
common stock at the Closing.

 
Pursuant to the Non-Management Rollover Agreement and the Common Stock Subscription Agreement, immediately prior to the

Closing the Sponsor surrendered to the Company for cancellation for no consideration an aggregate of 1,202,925 shares of Industrea
common stock.
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In addition, on the Closing Date, pursuant to that certain subscription agreement, dated as of September 7, 2018 (the “Preferred

Stock Subscription Agreement” and collectively with the Argand Subscription Agreement and the Common Stock Subscription Agreement,
the “Subscription Agreements”), by and between the Company and Nuveen Alternatives Advisors, LLC (“Nuveen”) , the Company issued
to Nuveen 2,450,980 shares of the Company’s Series A Zero-Dividend Convertible Perpetual Preferred Stock (“Series A Preferred Stock”)
at a price of $10.20 per share, for an aggregate cash purchase price of $25.0 million.

 
Item 2.01 Completion of Acquisition or Disposition of Assets.
 

The disclosure set forth in the “Introductory Note” above and in Item 2.01 “Completion of Acquisition or Disposition of Assets” in
the Original Form 8-K is incorporated into this Item 2.01 by reference.

 
Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
 

The Company makes and incorporates by reference forward-looking statements in this Current Report on Form 8-K. These
forward-looking statements relate to expectations for future financial performance, business strategies or expectations for the Company’s
business. Specifically, forward-looking statements may include statements relating to:
 
 · the benefits of the Business Combination;

 
 · the future financial performance of the post-combination company following the Business Combination;

 
 · expansion plans and opportunities; and

 
 · other statements preceded by, followed by or that include the words “may,” “can,” “should,” “will,” “estimate,” “plan,”

“project,” “forecast,” “intend,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “seek,” “target” or similar expressions.
  

These forward-looking statements are based on information available as of the date of this Current Report on Form 8-K and the
Company’s management’s current expectations, forecasts and assumptions, and involve a number of judgments, risks and uncertainties.
Accordingly, forward-looking statements should not be relied upon as representing the Company’s views as of any subsequent date. The
Company does not undertake any obligation to update forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date they
were made, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as may be required under applicable securities laws.
 

As a result of a number of known and unknown risks and uncertainties, the Company’s actual results or performance may be
materially different from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. Some factors that could cause actual results to
differ include:
 
 · the inability to maintain the listing of the Company common stock and warrants on the Nasdaq Stock Market (“Nasdaq”);

 
 · the risk that the Business Combination disrupts current plans and operations as a result of the announcement and consummation

of the transactions described herein;
 

 · the ability to recognize the anticipated benefits of the Business Combination, which may be affected by, among other things,
competition and the ability of the combined business to grow and manage growth profitably;

  
 · changes in applicable laws or regulations;

 
 · the possibility that the Company may be adversely affected by other economic, business, and/or competitive factors; and

 
 · other risks and uncertainties included or incorporated by reference in this Current Report on Form 8-K, including those set forth

in the “Risk Factors” section in the proxy statement/prospectus included in the Company’s registration statement on Form S-4
(File No. 333-227259), as amended and supplemented, originally filed with the SEC on September 10, 2018 (as amended and
supplemented, the “proxy statement/prospectus”), which is incorporated herein by reference.
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Business
 

The business of Industrea prior to the Business Combination is described in the proxy statement/prospectus in the section entitled
“Information About Industrea,” which is incorporated herein by reference.
 
Information about CPH
 
CPH Business Overview
 

CPH is a leading provider of concrete pumping services in the highly fragmented U.S. and U.K. markets based on fleet size,
operating under the only established, national brands in both markets (Brundage-Bone and Camfaud, respectively). Concrete pumping is a
highly specialized method of concrete placement that requires highly-skilled operators to position a truck-mounted fully-articulating boom
for precise delivery of ready-mix concrete from mixer trucks to placing crews on a job site. CPH’s large fleet of specialized pumping
equipment and highly-trained operators position CPH to deliver concrete placement solutions that facilitate substantial labor cost savings to
customers, shorten concrete placement times, enhance worksite safety and improve construction quality. CPH operates a fee-based revenue
model with no bonding requirements.

 
Brundage-Bone was founded in 1983 by Jack Brundage and Dale Bone in Denver, Colorado. The co-founders, who set out to build

the leading concrete pumping services company in the U.S., entered the Dallas market in 1984 and subsequently executed CPH’s first
strategic acquisition in Seattle in 1986. Since its founding, CPH has completed more than 45 acquisitions expanding throughout the U.S.,
and in November 2016, CPH entered the U.K. market. Today, CPH is the number one player in every region it serves and is more than four
times larger than the next competitor in the U.S. and approximately ten times larger than the next competitor in the U.K. based on fleet
size. CPH’s industry includes approximately 1,000 regionally focused companies, many of which we believe are undercapitalized, utilize
aged equipment and operate only smaller and significantly fewer boom pumps. In a typical market, CPH competes with only one or two
other concrete pumping companies that can perform the larger and more complex projects that CPH can perform.

 
As the only nationally-scaled provider of concrete pumping in the U.S. and U.K. with 35-years of experience, CPH has the most

comprehensive fleet and highly-skilled operators to provide quality service and is especially suited to support large and technically complex
construction projects. CPH’s fleet’s size and breadth of operating capabilities allow CPH to target such larger and more complex jobs
(which generally command higher price points) compared to smaller competitors with more limited fleet and operator resources, and also
allows CPH to pursue multiple large projects concurrently. CPH has actively positioned its business towards commercial and infrastructure
construction projects, while continuing to pursue profitable residential opportunities. CPH serves a large base of more than 8,000 customers
with low customer concentration; CPH’s top 10 customers represented less than 10% of revenue in the fiscal year ended October 31, 2018.
CPH is able to leverage its scale to move assets across the U.S. and the U.K. depending on which regions show stronger market conditions.

 
CPH’s fleet is operated by approximately 657 experienced employees as of October 31, 2018, each of whom is required to

complete rigorous training and safety programs. As of October 31, 2018, CPH’s fleet of 945 total pieces of equipment consisted of 620
boom pumps, ranging in size from 17 to 65 meters, 57 placing booms, 16 telebelts and 252 stationary pumps and other specialized concrete
placing equipment. CPH maintains the flexibility to move assets between branches depending on market conditions. CPH performs
substantially all of its repair and maintenance work in-house through a staff of 92 mechanics so as to maximize fleet availability and
performance levels. CPH operators are paid on an hourly basis and only when they are deployed on jobs, demonstrating CPH’s
commitment to comprehensive and disciplined labor cost management. We estimate that 70% of CPH’s total costs are variable.
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CPH is also the leading provider of concrete waste management services in the U.S. market based on fleet size, operating under the

only established, national brand (Eco-Pan). After concrete is used at a construction site, the ready-mix trucks, concrete pump trucks and
other equipment are required to be washed out to remove the remaining concrete before it hardens. U.S. federal and state environmental
regulations regulate the safe and environmentally compliant disposal of this concrete waste (“washout”). CPH provides a full-service, cost-
effective, regulatory-compliant solution to manage environmental issues caused by concrete washout, branded Eco-Pan, which is highly
complementary to CPH’s core concrete pumping service. Eco-Pan provides a route-based solution that operates from 13 locations in the
U.S. as of October 31, 2018, providing watertight pans to be used to collect concrete washout. Eco-Pan’s growth has been supported by
heightened environmental regulations, potentially severe penalties on contractors who do not comply, and high costs associated with
traditional labor-intensive concrete washout methods. CPH leverages its existing Brundage-Bone and Camfaud customers to cross-sell Eco-
Pan as a value-added, cost-effective, regulatory-compliant solution to properly manage environmental issues caused by concrete.

 
For the fiscal year ended October 31, 2018, CPH generated revenues of $243.2 million and net income of $28.4 million.

 
CPH’s key service segments are summarized below:
 

U.S. Concrete Pumping — Brundage-Bone:   CPH provides concrete pumping services in the U.S. with a fleet of 584 equipment
units from a diversified footprint of 80 locations across 22 states as of October 31, 2018 and operates under the brand Brundage-Bone. CPH
provides operated concrete pumping services, for which CPH bills customers on a negotiated time and volume basis based on the duration
of the job and yards of concrete pumped. Additional charges (such as a fuel surcharge and travel costs) are frequently added based on the
local market competitive environment and specific project requirements. Typically, CPH sends a single operator with each concrete pump.
CPH does not take ownership of the concrete and thus has minimal inventory or product liability risk. CPH typically does not engage in
fixed-bid work or have surety bonding requirements. CPH operates a daily fee-based revenue model regardless of project completion.
Brundage-Bone is a leading provider of concrete pumping services in the U.S. based on fleet size and the only competitor with a multi-
regional footprint in a highly fragmented industry. CPH’s large fleet of specialized pumping equipment and highly-trained operators
position CPH to deliver concrete placement solutions that we believe facilitate substantial labor cost savings to its customers, shorten
concrete placement times, enhance worksite safety and improve construction quality. CPH has actively positioned the Brundage-Bone
business towards commercial and infrastructure construction projects, while continuing to pursue profitable residential opportunities.

 
U.K. Concrete Pumping — Camfaud:   On November 17, 2016, CPH formed Oxford Pumping Holdings Ltd. to complete the stock

acquisitions of two concrete pumping companies in the U.K.: Camfaud Concrete Pumps Limited, and Premier Concrete Pumping Limited,
which each also owned 50% of the stock of South Coast Concrete Pumping Limited (together, the “Oxford Acquisitions”). Oxford Pumping
Holdings Ltd. was a wholly-owned subsidiary of Brundage-Bone Concrete Pumping, Inc., which in turn is wholly owned by Concrete
Pumping Intermediate Holdings, LLC. Following an internal restructuring, Oxford Pumping Holdings Ltd. changed its name to Camfaud
Group Limited on April 3, 2018. CPH operates its business in the U.K. under the “Camfaud” brand name. Camfaud operates both a fixed
and a mobile fleet. The fixed fleet business entails either (1) utilizing static line pumps with an accompanied operator, or (2) renting out the
equipment on a long-term basis without an operator. Mobile equipment is charged to customers under a minimum hire rate (typically five
to eight hours). The business model is similar to pumping in the U.S. In the U.K., CPH, under the Camfaud brand name, provides concrete
pumping services with a fleet of 361 equipment units from 28 locations as of October 31, 2018. On July 3, 2017, CPH completed the stock
acquisition of the U.K.-based company Reilly Concrete Pumping Ltd. (“Reilly”). The Reilly acquisition provides CPH with a more
comprehensive footprint across the U.K., allowing the company to provide its diverse customer base with a truly national service offering
on major infrastructure and commercial projects. Reilly’s mobile pump fleet totaled 45 pumps as of October 31, 2018.
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Concrete Waste Management Services — Eco-Pan:   Eco-Pan was founded in 1999 and was acquired by CPH in 2014. Eco-Pan’s

services help its customers to comply with environmental regulations, avoid fines and reduce their compliance costs. Eco-Pan is a route-
based solution that operates 60 trucks and more than 5,200 custom metal pans to construction sites from 13 locations in the U.S. as of
October 31, 2018. Eco-Pan charges a round-trip delivery fee and weekly or monthly rental rate for its pans, which provides a turn-key
solution to the customer compared to the alternative of bagging the waste concrete, pouring it into an on-site lined pit, or disposing of it
into trash dumpsters and arranging for a pick-up. Eco-Pan delivers watertight pans to job sites to collect concrete washwater, and picks up
the pans to deliver to recycling centers, passing disposal fees onto the customer. To the extent that pans are held at the job site for an
extended number of days or irregular waste is found in the pan, Eco-Pan charges incremental fees. Eco-Pan’s trucks are designed to allow
for the pick-up and re-delivery of multiple pans, leading to significant incremental efficiencies as “route densities” increase. We believe
that Eco-Pan is highly complementary to Brundage-Bone, as customers’ decision makers for purchasing concrete pumping services also
typically handle the disposal of waste concrete. Currently, Eco-Pan operates in 12 of the 22 major markets that Brundage-Bone serves,
providing additional growth opportunities from rolling out Eco-Pan in the other Brundage-Bone geographies. We also believe that cross-
selling of Eco-Pan services to Brundage-Bone’s customers is a substantial revenue growth opportunity for the combined company. The
combination of the two businesses also presents the opportunity for cost-saving synergies, as in some cases the Brundage-Bone and Eco-
Pan fleets can be co-located at the same facilities, serviced by a common set of mechanics, administered by the same office staff and
marketed by the same salespeople, while increasing “route densities” for pan pick-ups and deliveries.

 
CPH Industry Overview
 
Industry Overview — Concrete Pumping
 

There are two primary methods of placing concrete when direct pouring (“tail-gating”) is not an option: traditional methods (such
as using wheelbarrows and cranes and buckets) and concrete pumping. Traditional methods are both labor-intensive and time-intensive,
requiring loading materials into containers, hauling the containers to the appropriate location and subsequently returning the containers to
the concrete mixer to be re-filled. Concrete pumping, by contrast, provides a safer, more cost-effective and more time-efficient concrete
placement solution, in which concrete is continuously pressure pumped through a boom and hose directly to the specified area. Except
where direct pouring is feasible (such as for highways and level sites where a ready-mix truck can park within approximately 15 feet of the
concrete installation), concrete pumping continues to be the method of choice over traditional concrete placement methods, as it lowers
construction costs, shortens job times, allows for better access to challenging pour locations and enhances worksite safety. A concrete pump
can empty a ready-mix concrete truck in as little as four minutes and has the technical capability of being able to place concrete at distances
of up to 1,000 feet vertically and 4,000 feet horizontally. By contrast, traditional methods such as using wheelbarrows are more labor and
time intensive with up to 200 wheelbarrow loads required to empty a ready-mix truck. Given this ability, concrete pumping is the
placement method of choice for technical jobs or when concrete must be placed in harder-to-reach areas, including multi-story commercial
and residential projects as well as infrastructure projects such as tunnels and bridges.
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Advantages of Concrete Pumping

 

 
Concrete pumping represents only approximately 1-2% of overall project cost for medium and large jobs but is highly critical due

to the highly-perishable nature of concrete, which has only an approximate 90-minute life before hardening. During this time, concrete must
be transported from the concrete plant to the worksite before it starts to harden. Concrete can represent as much as 10-12% of total
construction project cost, and the cost of concrete has steadily increased over the last several years in the U.S. A wasted batch of concrete is
costly to the contractor, who must often work under a fixed budget and tight timeline. These dynamics make customers relatively price-
inelastic with regards to concrete pumping services. Concrete pumping helps its contractor customers avoid the potentially costly
headaches associated with traditional methods of concrete placement. Concrete pumping enables greater speed and efficiency, ability to
access hard to reach areas, increased safety, enhanced consistency of the concrete pour, and less labor intensity as compared to alternatives.
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Comparing Concrete Pumping to Other Methods of Concrete Placement

 

 
 

Concrete pumping is typically used for foundations, walls and floors of buildings. In particular, concrete pumping is well-suited
for:

 
· Multi-story buildings:   Buildings above grade cannot use tail-gating to pour concrete, and wheelbarrows and crane and bucket

pouring are more labor-intensive and time-intensive;
 

· Urban construction or areas with limited space:   Concrete pumping requires less space and the equipment can be located farther
from the construction site than tail-gating;
 

· Projects with rapid turnaround times:   Concrete pumping is faster than other placement methods as concrete pumps are capable of
placing over 200 cubic yards of concrete per hour, emptying an entire ready-mix truck in as little as four minutes (similar time as
tail-gating), as compared to 45 minutes needed to unload a truck using a crane and bucket; and
 

· Large scale projects:   Larger commercial, multi-family and public projects such as tunnels and bridges often use pumping to move
large amounts of concrete in a shorter time compared to tail-gating, and are often constrained in smaller footprints which make it
more difficult to place concrete in the middle of the site using traditional methods.

​ 

 8  



 

 
Common Applications for Concrete Placement Methods

 

 
 
Selecting a Concrete Pumping Provider

 
Customers consider equipment availability, service reliability, technical expertise and safety to be key purchasing criteria when

choosing a concrete pumping provider. Price is a lower level consideration given that the cost of pumping is typically only 1-2% of total
project costs of medium and larger jobs, whereas the value in terms of labor saved, accurate placement, and enhanced safety is relatively
high. Equipment availability is important as contractors want to avoid having to hire several companies if the project requires several pump
types or specialty equipment. For more complex commercial or infrastructure jobs, contractors place a premium on concrete pumpers who
can provide specialized equipment. Furthermore, contractors value technical expertise and a commitment to safety, as these factors
influence the perception of reliability, which is critical to ensuring on-time projects and avoiding worksite incidents. Contractors cannot
afford to hire an inexperienced operator who could potentially risk the job timeline. Concrete pumping companies can therefore
differentiate themselves by offering a wide range of equipment, reliable, high-quality service and a high degree of safety and compliance.
 
Competition
 

The concrete pumping industry is highly fragmented. We believe there are approximately 1,000 industry participants in the United
States, operating an average of seven pumps each, with few competitors having a multi-regional presence and no other competitor having a
national presence.

 
Due to servicing requirements and equipment transportation costs, most competition is at the local level. We estimate that

approximately 65-75% of the U.S. market is served by small, local providers. CPH is the largest multi-regional concrete pumping provider
in the U.S. based on fleet size, serving 22 states as of October 31, 2018. We believe the next largest competitor has operations in four
states. National and regional service providers such as CPH enjoy competitive advantages over smaller, independent providers, which do
not have the financial resources to maintain and support a diverse equipment fleet.

 
We estimate that CPH is more than four times the size of its next largest competitor in the U.S., by fleet size. CPH has the largest

and most diversified fleet in the industry, which increases availability and provides contractors assurance that CPH will have the equipment
they require when they need it. While CPH has 469 boom pumps in the United States as of October 31, 2018, we believe the average local
competitor has a fleet size of 5-10 pumps and regional competitors have an average 50-60 pumps each. Relative to the U.S., the U.K. has a
higher proportion of regional players. CPH is the leader in every city and region of the U.K. and is approximately ten times larger than its
next largest competitor, by fleet size.
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Concrete Pumping Demand Growth in the U.S. and U.K.
 

The attractive price-value proposition of concrete pumping has played a key role in the growing penetration of the concrete
pumping industry. We believe that concrete pumping services typically represent only approximately 1-2% of total project cost for medium
to large construction jobs. Notwithstanding the low cost of concrete pumping, these services are deemed critical due to the highly
perishable life of concrete (typically approximately 90 minutes) and the high cost that concrete can represent of total project costs (as much
as 10-12% of total project cost). We believe that most concrete pumping customers are therefore relatively price inelastic with regard to
finding a reliable method to execute on their concrete placement requirements.

 
We believe that concrete pumping is estimated to represent 34% of total concrete placed in both the U.S. and U.K. This level of

U.S. penetration is up from approximately 20% in 2000, but still meaningfully below estimated penetration levels of Continental Europe
and the Middle East. We believe that the share of concrete pumping will continue to grow over the next decade. Growth in concrete
pumping is expected to grow in the future and to be driven by several factors including commercial construction increasingly occurring in
space constrained, urban areas (meaning less access for concrete trucks), residential developers building houses closer together to meet
growing housing demand, urbanization trends continuing, construction labor costs continuing to increase as demand for skilled labor grows
(which benefits concrete pumping given it is less labor-intensive than traditional concrete placement methods), and an increasing focus on
worksite safety.

 
Concrete Placement by Method

 

 
Demand for concrete pumping is expected to continue to grow in both the U.S. and U.K. markets. Expenditures for concrete

pumping are expected to grow by approximately 7% annually through 2021 in the U.S., and by approximately 2% annually through 2021 in
the U.K., according to our projections. U.S. demand growth for concrete pumping is expected to be driven by positive trends in
commercial, residential and infrastructure construction, as well as increases in penetration of concrete pumping as a percentage of overall
concrete placement. Potential upside to forecasted growth of concrete pumping in the U.S. may result from U.S. tax reform and a potential
infrastructure investment program. Growth of concrete pumping in the U.K. is expected to be supported by potential U.K. infrastructure
investment programs including multiple phases of the $77 billion High-Speed Rail 2 project.
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Pumped Concrete Demand in the U.S. and U.K.

 

 
 

Industry Overview — Concrete Waste Management Services
 

After concrete is used at a construction site, the ready-mix trucks, concrete pump trucks and other equipment must be washed out
to remove the remaining concrete before it hardens. Concrete washout water (or “washwater”) is a slurry that contains toxic metals, is
highly caustic and corrosive and contains elevated pH levels near 12 (compared to water at 7). Washwater can be harmful for wildlife,
inhibit plant growth and contaminate groundwater. If not properly disposed of, washwater can percolate down through the soil, altering soil
chemistry, and run off the construction site to adjoining roadside storm drains that discharge to rivers, lakes, or inlets. The U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) provides regulations for construction storm water management in the U.S. as regulated by the
Clean Water Act and the Safe Drinking Water Act. The EPA ensures compliance with national regulations via on-site compliance
monitoring, including on-site inspections and investigations of permits, off-site compliance monitoring such as data collection, program
coordination and oversight, and support and solutions for overburdened communities. The EPA mandates that construction sites collect and
retain all the concrete washwater and solids in leakproof containers to prevent the caustic material from contaminating ground or surface
water. While EPA regulations serve as a national standard, states are ultimately responsible for enforcement within their borders, and many
states have more stringent regulations than the EPA standard. For example, California, Washington, Oregon and Colorado have strict
regulations requiring washout storage containers to be inspected prior to use, while Arizona, Florida and Texas hold the contractor
responsible for daily inspections of the waste storage vicinity. Regulatory authorities can impose severe fines of up to $250,000 on
contractors that do not comply. Environmental enforcement has increased significantly over the last decade, posing a major challenge for
construction contractors.

 
As regulations and the density of construction projects increase, we believe contractors and builders are increasingly looking for

waste management service providers who can provide turnkey solutions that manage washout collection and disposal. Larger builders and
contractors are typically earlier adopters of such turnkey solutions, increasing awareness for mid-tier and local contractors who see the
solutions working on-site.

 
Schedule of Permit Violations of the Clean Water Act

 

 
Source: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency.
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Options for Concrete Washwater Containment

 
Concrete washout management services allow contractors to outsource the management of concrete waste. In addition to

regulatory considerations, washout management services enable contractors to more effectively allocate their workforce to higher priority
activities on the job site, alleviating the increasing labor costs which have hindered the construction industry. We believe that washout
management services, including Eco-Pan’s offering, currently collect an estimated 10-15% of concrete washout volume generated in the
U.S. Alternative solutions include self-managed washout pits (an estimated 38% of the market), washout roll-off bins (an estimated 31% of
the market), dumpsters, vinyl and hay bale pits, plastic pits, or no solution (e.g. illegal dumping). These alternatives are typically less
mobile, messier, and are often not leak-proof.

 
Methods of Concrete Washout Management

 

 
We believe that CPH’s proprietary Eco-Pan washout pans comprise a unique, disruptive washout management solution. Eco-Pan

is a route-based, full-service, leak-proof system that allows for regulatory-compliant and cost-effective capture and recycling of concrete
washwater. Eco-Pan delivers watertight and sealable metal pans to job sites where contractors use the pans to collect concrete waste, then
Eco-Pan picks up the filled pans and delivers the washwater to authorized recycling facilities. Relative to Eco-Pan, alternatives may result
in a higher risk of overflowing, thereby risking fines for contractors operating the site, require more labor to manage, require a larger
footprint or lack on-site mobility.

 
Selecting a Concrete Washwater Containment Provider
 

We believe that the key factors driving a contractor’s decision in selecting a concrete washwater containment solution include: a
desire for a simple concrete waste management solution, a requirement to meet environmental regulations and avoid penalties, a reasonable
price-value proposition (though price is not the main deciding factor), a small physical footprint, convenient scheduling and a clean
worksite to promote efficiency and safety.
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Key Customer Decision-making Factors — Concrete Washout Management

 

 
We believe Eco-Pan ranks high on all of customers’ key decision-making criteria above, on the basis of Eco-Pan’s full-service,

leak-proof system that allows for regulatory-compliant and cost-effective capture and recycling of concrete washwater. Eco-Pan further
requires a small physical footprint (particularly as compared to traditional alternatives such as washout pits) and offers customers
convenient and frequent delivery and pick-up times. The level of convenience offered to Eco-Pan customers is further supported by the
route-density Eco-Pan is able to achieve as the only national scaled player in the market.

 
Eco-Pan Key Benefits To Customers
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CPH Competitive Strengths
 
Market Leader in the U.S. and U.K.
 

CPH is the #1 concrete pumping provider in every region it serves, and is more than four times larger than its next competitor in
the U.S. (with approximately 10% market share) and approximately ten times larger than its next competitor in the U.K (with approximately
34% market share). Most of CPH’s competitors only serve local areas and lack breadth of equipment. Few regional competitors serve more
than two states or markets, whereas CPH’s large diverse fleet and national reach support differentiated, high-quality service.

 
CPH Market Share in the U.S. and U.K. — Concrete Pumping

 

 
 

Note: Market position based on LTM revenue as of October 31, 2018. Analysis is pro forma for the financial impact of the April 2018
O’Brien acquisition (approximately $14 million of revenue on an LTM basis as of April 2018, all of which were earned providing concrete
pumping services in the U.S.). U.K. (Camfaud) LTM revenue assumes constant currency adjustment based on a GBP to USD exchange rate
of 1.370.
 
Compelling Customer Value Proposition

 
Customers tend to choose CPH because of its differentiated capabilities that ensure equipment and operator availability, reliable

and high-quality service, and strict safety and environmental compliance. CPH strives to provide contractors with the most effective
pumping equipment for their particular needs, operated by highly-trained operators that can be quickly dispatched to the job-site. Concrete
pumps provide a critical service to CPH’s customers, as CPH’s equipment must arrive at the construction site before the ready-mix
concrete trucks to prevent worksite delays and rejection of wet batches of concrete. Any service delays can interrupt construction, resulting
in incremental costs for CPH’s customers related to stalled labor, equipment and materials, all of which typically greatly exceed the cost of
concrete pumping. CPH’s regional structure, combined with its analytical tools, provide visibility to the utilization and profitability of its
fleet nationwide, allowing CPH to respond efficiently to local customer needs and market trends as they develop. Additionally, CPH’s
rigorous maintenance and repair program performed by CPH’s on-staff mechanics results in reduced equipment downtime and a high-level
of equipment reliability for CPH’s customers. CPH is dedicated to its comprehensive recruitment, training, safety and retention programs,
and CPH strives to be the employer of choice for talented employees in the concrete pumping industry. CPH also offers its customers a
unique, full-service, leak-proof system that allows for regulatory-compliant and cost-effective capture and recycling of concrete washwater.
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Customer Value Proposition

 

 
Considerable Benefits of Scale
 

CPH maintains the largest pumping equipment fleet with 620 boom pumps across 80 branches in the U.S. and 28 branches in the U.K.,
as of October 31, 2018. CPH’s large and diversified fleet (which includes specialty equipment such as placing booms and telebelts of
different sizes) increases availability, providing contractors assurance that CPH will have the equipment they require when they need it.
The average local competitor has a fleet size of 5-10 pumps and regional competitors have an average of 50-60 pumps. Each local market
typically has only one to three scale players. Because CPH faces limited competition with regards to the size and type of fleet and operators
necessary for pumping jobs, and even less competition capable of performing multiple large jobs simultaneously, CPH is often able to price
its services at higher hourly and yardage rates while delivering substantial value and flexibility to its customers. Furthermore, CPH’s scale
allows it to efficiently move equipment around the country to areas with the highest local demand, which helps maximize equipment
utilization rates and pricing. Finally, CPH’s scale allows for favorable pricing terms with equipment suppliers. Due to the significant
investment and time required to develop a large-scale fleet, technical expertise, customer base and broad operating footprint, we believe that
none of our competitors or potential market entrants currently has the capability to replicate CPH’s service and fleet offering in the near
term.

 
Platform with Significant Diversity
 

CPH’s broad geographic footprint, multiple service offerings, and exposure to three different end-markets provides significant
operational diversity. This diversity is a key source of resiliency against changing market conditions.
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Diverse Platform

 

 
 

Note: Revenue excludes contribution from the April 2018 O’Brien acquisition (approximately $14 million of revenue in FY 2017, all of
which were earned providing concrete pumping services in the U.S.). CPH has an October fiscal year end.
(1) Analysis is pro forma adjusted for a full year contribution of CPH’s U.K. segment (Camfaud), which was acquired in November 2016,
and assumes a constant currency adjustment based on a GBP to USD exchange rate of 1.370.
​(2) U.S. revenue breakdown based on concrete pumping operations only.
(3) Project count based on U.S. and U.K. concrete pumping operations only. Figures do not sum to 100% due to rounding.
 
Service Oriented Business Model with Strong Cash Flow Characteristics

 
CPH is a construction services business that provides specialized equipment with highly-trained operators. We believe our

customers are much more focused on quality and timeliness of service than on price, and tend not to be as price sensitive as the cost of
CPH’s services is generally not significant relative to the cost of the overall concrete placement of a construction project. Additionally,
CPH’s equipment, on average, has a useful life of 10 to 25 years, which is significantly longer than the useful lives of most general
construction equipment. In periods during which CPH’s fleet is less active, CPH incurs less labor, service and fuel costs, all of which are
driven by the aggregate number of hours that CPH bills its customers. We estimate that 70% of CPH’s costs are variable, which we believe
allows CPH to better adapt to fluctuations in economic cycles. Furthermore, CPH is able to generate significant cash through the sale of its
aged assets in the global secondary market for pumping equipment. Through CPH’s proprietary analytical tools, CPH is able to deploy its
fleet to meet specific client demands and maximize efficiency, which has contributed to CPH’s improved utilization of its fleet. We believe
that CPH’s substantial asset base and high degree of operational flexibility allow it to generate positive operating cash flow throughout the
business cycle. Since CPH does not take ownership of concrete or require any significant inventory, CPH has very limited working capital
requirements, which further enhances its ability to generate positive operating cash flow throughout the economic cycle.
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Loyal and Diverse Customer Base

 
CPH develops and maintains deep relationships with customers, many of whom have been using CPH’s services for decades. We

believe that CPH’s commitment to provide its customers with consistent, high-quality service has resulted in a broad and diverse customer
base, including national and regional contractors and local leaders in their respective geographies. CPH executes a high-volume of small and
mid-size jobs across all end-markets that provide substantial and stable revenue with no customer concentration. CPH serves a base of more
than 8,000 customers (often with several projects per customer) and has an approximate 95% customer retention rate based on the top 500
customers, as of October 31, 2018. The top 10 customers represent less than 10% of revenues and have an average tenure of more than 20
years. We believe the loyalty of CPH’s customers is the result of its high-quality, professional services and the attractive value proposition
that it offers.

 
Eco-Pan Provides Waste Management Solution to Largely Unmet Market Needs
 

Eco-Pan is a rapidly growing, turn-key solution that ensures contractors remain in compliance with environmental regulations.
Eco-Pan has grown rapidly as a result of increased enforcement of environmental regulations. Eco-Pan significantly reduces the likelihood
of environmental incidents that can result in costly fines, while also being competitively priced to alternative solutions and reducing labor
requirements for contractors. We believe that Eco-Pan is highly complementary to Brundage-Bone, as customers’ decision makers for
purchasing concrete pumping services also typically handle the disposal of waste concrete. Currently, Eco-Pan operates in 12 of the 22
major markets that Brundage-Bone serves, providing additional growth opportunities from rolling out Eco-Pan in the other Brundage-Bone
geographies. We also believe that cross-selling of Eco-Pan services to Brundage-Bone’s customers is a substantial revenue growth
opportunity for the combined company. The combination of the two businesses also presents the opportunity for cost-saving synergies, as
in some cases the Brundage-Bone and Eco-Pan fleets can be co-located at the same facilities, serviced by a common set of mechanics,
administered by the same office staff and marketed by the same salespeople, while increasing “route densities” for pan pick-ups and
deliveries. Furthermore, CPH intends to explore expanding Eco-Pan into the U.K., which represents an additional growth opportunity.

 
Eco-Pan’s Competitive Advantages Include Route Density, a Well-Recognized Brand, Existing Customer Relationships, Strong Product
Attributes and A Focus On Compliance
 

Eco-Pan has several key competitive advantages that are expected to support its continued growth and protect its leading market
position:

 
· Scale and route density: Eco-Pan is the only national player of scale in the concrete washout management sector. Given Eco-Pan

has more customers per region compared to competitors, it enjoys the benefits of greater route density.
 

· Brand recognition: Eco-Pan has established strong brand recognition in the markets it serves, with limited competition from smaller,
primarily local providers.
 

· Existing customer relationships: Eco-Pan is synergistic with the CPH concrete pumping customer base, as it is able to leverage the
same footprint and sell a bundled service that spans a greater portion of the construction project’s lifecycle.
 

· Intellectual property: CPH has developed proprietary IP and know-how surrounding spill-free and leak-proof pans. Eco-Pan’s
washout pans offer advantages over those of alternatives, with lids to prevent rainwater from over-flowing the pans and to prevent
spills during transit.
 

· Regulatory compliance: Eco-Pan is a proven solution that complies with all federal, state and local regulations. It is also LEED
accredited, ensuring all concrete waste is disposed of at approved recycling facilities.

​ 
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Successful Track Record of Executing and Integrating Acquisitions

 
CPH has a strong track-record of identifying, executing and integrating acquisitions. Since 1983, CPH has executed over 45

acquisitions, which has allowed CPH to expand its end-market, service offerings and geographic reach. CPH derives acquisition synergies
through increasing utilization of acquired pumps, achieving higher revenue per hour due to CPH’s greater pump availability and service
levels, leveraging proprietary job costing tools, reducing purchasing and overhead costs, and capitalizing on cross selling opportunities with
Eco-Pan. Additionally, as the only national provider of concrete pumping, CPH is often the only bidder or exit opportunity for local firms
and is able to acquire companies at attractive valuations of pre-synergy LTM Adjusted EBITDA multiples of 4.5x or less, and 3.5x or less
on a post-synergy basis.
 
Proven and Experienced Management Team
 

We are led by a highly tenured and experienced management team with significant industry experience. Our management team
demonstrated its ability to source, acquire and integrate attractive acquisitions:
 

· Bruce Young (CEO) has led CPH in his current role for the past 10 years; Mr. Young’s experience in concrete pumping dates back
to 1980.
 

· Iain Humphries (CFO) joined CPH in 2016; Mr. Humphries has over 20 years of experience in international finance and
management leadership.

 
· Tony Faud (Managing Director, U.K.) manages all of CPH’s U.K. operations and has over 30 years of concrete pumping

experience.
 
CPH’s Business Strategy
 
Leverage Eco-Pan Across CPH’s Operating Footprint

 
CPH’s concrete pumping and Eco-Pan businesses provide highly complementary services to a similar customer base, as the

decision maker responsible for purchasing concrete pumping services is generally also responsible for the disposal of concrete waste.
According to our management’s market assessment, managed solutions for washwater (including Eco-Pan) comprise approximately 15% of
the total U.S. market of approximately $850 million. We estimate Eco-Pan’s current penetration at 3 – 4%, leaving significant potential for
further penetration and cross-selling across CPH’s concrete pumping customer base. Eco-Pan is currently only rolled out in 11 U.S. states
as of October 31, 2018 (all of which overlap with Brundage-Bone except for Washington D.C.). Furthermore, CPH intends to expand the
Eco-Pan service in the U.K.
 
Continue to Pursue Accretive Acquisitions
 

CPH has a successful track record as a consolidator in the sector, having executed more than 45 accretive acquisitions since 1983.
Concrete pumping represents a highly fragmented market. As the leading national provider, CPH is often contacted by its regional
competitors, which are often led by founders seeking succession and/or exit strategies. CPH has been able to purchase the assets of former
competitors at typical LTM Adjusted EBITDA valuations of approximately 4.5x or less on a pre-synergy basis and 3.5x or less on a post-
synergy basis. CPH derives acquisition synergies from increasing equipment utilization, optimizing pricing, leveraging data analytics tools,
generating purchasing synergies, rationalizing excess overhead costs and cross-selling Eco-Pan. CPH has a robust M&A pipeline that it
will continue to pursue.

 
Expand into New Markets and Adjacent Services
 

With the 2016 acquisition of Camfaud as a template for successfully entering a new geographic market, CPH plans to explore
leveraging acquisitions to expand internationally into Australia, Canada, Continental Europe and the Middle East. Additionally, with Eco-
Pan as a template for successfully entering a new service offering, CPH is exploring expanding into adjacent services to cross-sell across its
existing customer base, including tower crane rental.

 

 18  



 

 
Prioritize Larger, More Complex Projects
 

With CPH’s extensive equipment fleet and technical expertise, CPH will continue to pursue many of the largest, most complex
commercial and infrastructure projects, such as high-rise buildings, tunnels, highway overpasses, water treatment facilities, wind farms and
other industrial developments. Larger jobs require, on average, larger boom pumps, multiple pumping units and deployment of such
equipment for longer periods of time. Because CPH faces limited competition that has the type of fleet and operators necessary for these
jobs, and even less competition capable of performing multiple large jobs simultaneously, CPH is often able to price its services for this
work at higher hourly and yardage rates while delivering substantial value to its customers. We believe CPH’s competitive advantages will
allow it to continue to capture more of this work as commercial and infrastructure construction spending continues to rebound. At the same
time, given its geographic breadth and leadership position in multiple markets across the U.S. and the U.K., CPH plans to continue to
maintain a high degree of customer and project diversity.
 

Unique Capabilities to Service Any Type of Project
 

 
 

Source: FMI’s Construction Outlook.
Note: Single-Family Residential includes spend on improvements. Commercial includes Multi-Family Residential

(1) US revenue breakdown based on concrete pumping operations only.
​ 
Improve Margins by Optimizing Fleet Mix

 
CPH intends to maintain its disciplined policy of remaining current on fleet repair and maintenance costs in order to maximize

uptime, reliability and service levels for its customers. Going forward, CPH’s capital expenditures strategy will focus on balancing the mix
of small versus large boom pumps, growing and enhancing the fleet size at a pace in line with revenue growth, and maintaining an
appropriate fleet age. Through the financial downturn, CPH aggressively sold older pumps and were able to keep its best-maintained,
highest-valued equipment.

 
Maintain Disciplined Pricing Policies and Cost Controls

 
CPH intends to continue rigorous cost controls to continue to optimize pricing and streamline fixed costs. CPH’s proprietary job-

costing analytical tools have allowed it to better understand profitability by customer and optimally price jobs based on the underlying cost
structure of various jobs. While the majority of CPH’s jobs are based on purchase orders, some of its larger customers’ jobs are under six to
twelve-month pricing agreements. As these arrangements continue to come up for renewal, CPH intends to continue to use its proprietary
analytical tools to re-price work competitively to take advantage of improvements in market dynamics and underlying economic conditions
as CPH continues to implement its diligent approach to cost management. CPH owns all of its equipment and has no outstanding operating
leases. CPH intends to continuously look for further areas of pricing and cost improvement. CPH plans to further grow by rolling out its
proprietary job-costing analytical tools in its U.K. business.
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Continue to Lead Industry in Recruiting, Training and Safety
 

The success of CPH’s strategies ultimately depends on people, and CPH strives to be the employer of choice for highly motivated
and skilled equipment operators. CPH will continue to emphasize its comprehensive training program and superior workplace safety record
as providing a distinct advantage over competitors. We believe that CPH is the only multi-state concrete pumping company with a
comprehensive in-house training program, dedicated safety directors and designated safety trainers in each branch. CPH will continue to
provide its robust safety and risk management program, including in-house and field safety training for all of its employees and safety
seminars, as well as site visits for all operators. CPH has experienced continuous improvement on its Total Recordable Incident Rate
(“TRIR”) and Experience Modification Rate (“EMR”) statistics, which were 2.62 and 0.97 as of October 31, 2018, respectively. For the
last two years, CPH’s TRIR has been continually improving as CPH has implemented safety initiatives to help ensure employees are safe
on job sites. Brundage-Bone’s TRIR rating is substantially better than the U.S. industry average. CPH’s skilled employees and safety record
are repeatedly cited as an important criterion for contractors that select CPH as a vendor. CPH will continue to focus on maintaining the
ability of its trained operators to deliver safe, timely, premium quality concrete pumping services to its customers.
 
Geographic Footprint and Facilities
 

Headquartered in Denver, Colorado, CPH operates from a base of approximately 80 locations in 22 states in the U.S. and 28
locations in the U.K. as of October 31, 2018. CPH owns 18 locations in the United States. CPH leases primary branch facilities pursuant to
the terms of the Master Lease described under “Certain Relationships and Related Person Transactions” and also leases satellite properties
from which pumps are dispatched. Brundage-Bone leases 54 locations, Eco-Pan leases 8 locations and Camfaud leases 28 locations. Certain
facilities are shared between Brundage-Bone and Eco-Pan and certain locations operate at construction sites without a formal lease.

 
Facilities

 

 
 
As of October 31, 2018.
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Equipment

 
We believe that we own the most comprehensive fleet of concrete placement equipment in North America. With the industry’s

largest, most technically advanced fleet, and a staff of highly trained and experienced operators, CPH is well-equipped to execute on the
largest and most complex projects in both the U.S. and the U.K. Concrete pumps typically come in size ranges between 17 and 65 meters.
CPH owns 100% of its fleet with an average fleet age of approximately nine years old as of October 31, 2018. We believe that most pieces
of equipment can be extended out to useful lives of twenty years. CPH’s scale and robust in-house equipment servicing through highly-
skilled mechanics ensure clients have consistent access to a breadth of specialized equipment. Further, CPH has a track record of keeping
its fleet up-to-date through both investments in its fleet as well as through acquisitions of competitors, which are often structured as asset
purchases that can offset growth capital expenditures, resulting in a higher return on assets than buying new units. We believe CPH’s scale
and breadth of capabilities create a significant barrier to entry, as most competitors are not as well capitalized and are unable to replicate
this offering. As of October 31, 2018, CPH’s concrete pumping equipment fleet is illustrated below.

 
Concrete Pumping Equipment Fleet

 

 
 
 

Note: Stationary pumps includes other equipment.
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Note: Fleet profile as of October 31, 2018. Includes the impact of April 2018 O’Brien acquisition.
 
Customers
 

CPH has built a large, diverse, and loyal customer base across the U.S. and the U.K. During the fiscal year ended October 31,
2018, CPH served a base of more than 8,000 customers (often with several projects per customer) and had an approximate 95% customer
retention rate from prior year based on its top 500 customers. CPH’s top 10 customers represented less than 10% of revenues and had an
average tenure of more than 20 years. CPH’s customer composition varies from year to year and is largely dependent on geographic
location and general economic and construction market trends within its operating regions. CPH actively monitors regional trends and
targets customers in fast-growing markets through its extensive geographic footprint and knowledge of each local construction market in
each region.

 
CPH’s customers consist of contractors or concrete contractors that span across the commercial, infrastructure and residential end

markets. CPH also sells replacement parts to smaller competitors that lack the capital and scale to independently maintain a sufficiently
stocked replacement parts inventory. The contractual arrangements with customers are typically on a project-to-project purchase order
basis.

 
Suppliers

 
CPH primarily purchases pumping equipment, replacement parts, and fuel for its day-to-day operations. CPH sources its concrete

pumping equipment primarily from two suppliers, but there are a number of other suppliers and CPH is not dependent upon any single
supplier. We believe that CPH is the industry’s largest consumer of concrete pumping supplies and, as such, has significant purchasing
leverage. For example, CPH typically purchases fuel in bulk at favorable prices and utilizes onsite fuel storage facilities.

 
CPH’s key suppliers include the two leading concrete pump manufacturers, Schwing and Putzmeister. We believe that CPH

remains a valued customer for key industry suppliers, ensuring CPH’s ability to purchase equipment, parts and supplies on favorable terms,
relative to competitors. We believe the market for supplying equipment used in CPH’s business is increasingly competitive.
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Employees
 

As of October 31, 2018, CPH had over 1,100 employees across the U.S. and the U.K., over 800 of whom are highly-skilled
equipment operators and mechanics. CPH employees are highly experienced, with an average tenure for pump operators of over five years.
Additionally, CPH has regional managers who, on average, have approximately 30 years of experience in the concrete pumping industry.
CPH maintains a “gold standard” training program ensuring all operators can meet the requirements of any project. Operators are trained in
concrete pumping as well as in basic mechanical repair, while shop managers are trained in inspection and maintenance of all critical truck
systems.

 
Approximately 100 employees in CPH’s workforce are unionized across California, Oregon and Washington. These individuals

are represented by the International Union of Operating Engineers (“IUOE”) under three separate collective bargaining agreements. CPH
has historically maintained favorable relations with the IUOE, under which its operators are organized, and has not experienced any
significant disputes, disagreements, strikes or work stoppages.
 
Safety

 
To our management’s knowledge, CPH is the only concrete pumping company in the U.S. and the U.K. with a comprehensive,

active safety program, an in-house safety department including dedicated safety directors at the corporate level, and a designated safety
trainer at each branch. CPH is consistently recognized by key vendors and industry organizations (i.e., Association for General Contractors
of America) for its commitment to safety. As part of CPH’s comprehensive safety management program, CPH actively tracks key safety
performance indicators at each branch location to monitor safety performance, and takes corrective action when needed. Over the last two
years, CPH’s TRIR has continually improved in the U.S. and U.K., with safety ratings that are significantly better than industry standards.
 
Legal Proceedings
 

CPH is a defendant in certain legal matters arising in the ordinary course of business. Based on available information, we are
unable to estimate the costs, if any, to be incurred upon disposition of these matters, and therefore no provision for loss has been made.
However, we believe the outcome of these matters is not likely to have a material effect on CPH’s future financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.
 
Environmental Matters

 
CPH is subject to various federal, state and local and environmental laws and regulations, including those governing the discharge

of pollutants into the air or water, the management, storage and disposal of, or exposure to, hazardous substances and wastes, the
responsibility to investigate and clean up contamination, and occupational health and safety. Fines and penalties may be imposed for non-
compliance with applicable environmental, health and safety requirements and the failure to have or to comply with the terms and
conditions of required permits. We are not aware of any material instances of non-compliance with respect to environmental regulations.
 
Risk Factors
 
Risks Related to the Company’s Business and Operations
 
The Company’s business is cyclical in nature and a slowdown in the economic recovery or a decrease in general economic activity could
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s revenues and operating results.

 
Substantially all of the Company’s customer base comes from the commercial, infrastructure and residential construction markets.

A worsening of economic conditions or a decrease in available capital for investments could cause weakness in the Company’s end
markets, cause declines in construction and industrial activity, and adversely affect the Company’s revenue and operating results.

 

 23  



 

 
The following factors, among others, may cause weakness in the Company’s end markets, either temporarily or long-term:
 

• the depth and duration of an economic downturn and lack of availability of credit;
• uncertainty regarding global, regional or sovereign economic conditions;
• reductions in corporate spending for plants and facilities or government spending for infrastructure projects;
• the cyclical nature of the Company’s customers’ businesses, particularly those operating in the commercial, infrastructure and

residential construction sectors;
• an increase in the cost of construction materials;
• a decrease in investment in certain of the Company’s key geographic markets;
• an increase in interest rates;
• an overcapacity in the businesses that drive the need for construction;
• adverse weather conditions, which may temporarily affect a particular region or regions;
• reduced construction activity in the Company’s end markets;
• terrorism or hostilities involving the United States or the United Kingdom; change in structural construction designs of buildings

(e.g., wood versus concrete); and
• oversupply of equipment or new entrants into the market causing pricing pressure.
 

A downturn in any of the Company’s end markets in one or more of the Company’s geographic markets caused by these or other
factors could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial conditions, results of operations and cash flows.
 
The Company’s business is seasonal and subject to adverse weather.

 
Since the Company’s business is primarily conducted outdoors, erratic weather patterns, seasonal changes and other weather

related conditions affect the Company’s business. Adverse weather conditions, including hurricanes and tropical storms, cold weather,
snow, and heavy or sustained rainfall, reduce construction activity, restrict the demand for the Company’s products and services, and
impede the Company’s ability to deliver and pump concrete efficiently or at all. In addition, severe drought conditions can restrict available
water supplies and restrict production. Consequently, these events could adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition,
results of operations, liquidity and cash flows.
 
The Company’s revenue and operating results have varied historically from period to period and any unexpected periods of decline could
result in an overall decline in the Company’s available cash flows.

 
The Company’s revenue and operating results have varied historically from period to period and may continue to do so. The

Company has identified below certain of the factors that may cause the Company’s revenue and operating results to vary:
 

• seasonal weather patterns in the construction industry on which the Company relies, with activity tending to be lowest in the winter
and spring;

• the timing of expenditure for maintaining existing equipment, new equipment and the disposal of used equipment;
• changes in demand for the Company’s services or the prices it charges due to changes in economic conditions, competition or

other factors;
• changes in the interest rates applicable to the Company’s variable rate debt, and the overall level of the Company’s debt;
• fluctuations in fuel costs;
• general economic conditions in the markets where the Company operates;
• the cyclical nature of the Company’s customers’ businesses;
• price changes in response to competitive factors;
• other cost fluctuations, such as costs for employee-related compensation and benefits;
• labor shortages, work stoppages or other labor difficulties and labor issues in trades on which the Company’s business may be

dependent in particular regions;
• potential enactment of new legislation affecting the Company’s operations or labor relations;
• timing of acquisitions and new branch openings and related costs;
• possible unrecorded liabilities of acquired companies and difficulties associated with integrating acquired companies into the

Company’s existing operations;
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• changes in the exchange rate between the United States dollar and Great Britain pound sterling;
• potential increased demand from the Company’s customers to develop and provide new technological services in the Company’s

business to meet changing customer preferences;
• the Company’s ability to control costs and maintain quality;
• the Company’s effectiveness in integrating new locations and acquisitions; and
• possible write-offs or exceptional charges due to changes in applicable accounting standards, reorganizations or restructurings,

obsolete or damaged equipment or the refinancing of the Company’s existing debt.
 
The Company’s business is highly competitive and competition may increase, which could have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s business.

 
The concrete pumping industry is highly competitive and fragmented. Many of the markets in which the Company operates are

served by several competitors, ranging from larger regional companies to small, independent businesses with a limited fleet and geographic
scope of operations. Some of the Company’s principal competitors may have more flexible capital structures or may have greater name
recognition in one or more of the Company’s geographic markets than the Company does and may be better able to withstand adverse
market conditions within the industry. The Company generally competes on the basis of, among other things, quality and breadth of
service, expertise, reliability, price and the size, quality and availability of its fleet of pumping equipment, which is significantly affected by
the level of the Company’s capital expenditures. If the Company is required to reduce or delay capital expenditures for any reason,
including due to restrictions contained in, or debt service payments required by, its credit facilities or otherwise, the ability to replace the
Company’s fleet or the age of the Company’s fleet may put it at a disadvantage to its competitors and adversely impact the Company’s
ability to generate revenue. In addition, the Company’s industry may be subject to competitive price decreases in the future, particularly
during cyclical downturns in the Company’s end markets, which can adversely affect revenue, profitability and cash flow. The Company
may encounter increased competition from existing competitors or new market entrants in the future, which could have a material adverse
effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
 
The Company is dependent on its relationships with key suppliers to obtain equipment for the Company’s business.

 
The Company depends on a small group of key manufacturers of concrete pumping equipment, and has historically relied

primarily on three companies, the largest two of which experienced ownership changes in 2012. The Company cannot predict the impact
on its suppliers of changes in the economic environment and other developments in their respective businesses, and the Company cannot
provide any assurance that its vendors will provide their historically high level of service support and quality. Any deterioration in such
service support or quality could result in additional maintenance costs, operational issues, or both. Insolvency, financial difficulties,
strategic changes or other factors may result in the Company’s suppliers not being able to fulfill the terms of their agreements with it,
whether satisfactorily or at all. Further, such factors may render suppliers unwilling to extend contracts that provide favorable terms to the
Company, or may force them to seek to renegotiate existing contracts with the Company. The Company believes the market for supplying
equipment used in the Company’s business is increasingly competitive; however, termination of the Company’s relationship with any of
the Company’s key suppliers, or interruption of the Company’s access to concrete pumping equipment, pipe or other supplies, could have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows in the event that the Company
is unable to obtain adequate and reliable equipment or supplies from other sources in a timely manner or at all.
 
If the Company’s average fleet age increases, the Company’s offerings may not be as attractive to potential customers and the Company’s
operating costs may increase, impacting the Company’s results of operations.

 
As the Company’s equipment ages, the cost of maintaining such equipment, if not replaced within a certain period of time or

amount of use, will likely increase. The Company estimates that its fleet assets generally will have a useful life of up to 25 years depending
on the size of the machine, hours in service, yardage pumped, and, in certain instances, other circumstances unique to an asset. The
Company manages its fleet of equipment according to the wear and tear that a specific type of equipment is expected to experience over its
useful life. As of October 31, 2018, the average age of the Company’s equipment in the United States and the United Kingdom was
approximately 10 years and 8 years, respectively, and it is the Company’s strategy to maintain average fleet age at approximately 10 years.
If the average age of the Company’s equipment increases, whether as a result of the Company’s inability to access sufficient capital to
maintain or replace equipment in a timely manner or otherwise, the Company’s investment in the maintenance, parts and repair for
individual pieces of equipment may exceed the book value or replacement value of that equipment. The Company cannot assure you that
costs of maintenance will not materially increase in the future. Any material increase in such costs could have a material adverse effect on
the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations. Additionally, as the Company’s equipment ages, it may become less
attractive to potential customers, thus decreasing the Company’s ability to effectively compete for new business.
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The costs of new equipment the Company uses in its fleet may increase, requiring it to spend more for replacement equipment or preventing
it from procuring equipment on a timely basis.

 
The cost of new equipment for use in the Company’s concrete pumping fleet could increase due to increased material costs to the

Company’s suppliers or other factors beyond the Company’s control. Such increases could materially adversely impact the Company’s
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows in future periods. Furthermore, changes in technology or customer demand could
cause certain of the Company’s existing equipment to become obsolete and require it to purchase new equipment at increased costs.
 
The Company sells used equipment on a regular basis. The Company’s fleet is subject to residual value risk upon disposition, and may not
sell at the prices or in the quantities it expects.

 
The Company continuously evaluates its fleet of equipment as it seeks to optimize its vehicle size and capabilities for its end

markets in multiple locations. The Company therefore seeks to sell used equipment on a regular basis. The market value of any given piece
of equipment could be less than its depreciated value at the time it is sold. The market value of used equipment depends on several factors,
including:

 
• the market price for comparable new equipment;
• wear and tear on the equipment relative to its age and the effectiveness of preventive maintenance;
• the time of year that it is sold;
• the supply of similar used equipment on the market;
• the existence and capacities of different sales outlets;
• the age of the equipment, and the amount of usage of such equipment relative to its age, at the time it is sold;
• worldwide and domestic demand for used equipment;
• the effect of advances and changes in technology in new equipment models;
• changing perception of residual value of used equipment by the Company’s suppliers; and
• general economic conditions.
 

The Company includes in income from operations the difference between the sales price and the depreciated value of an item of
equipment sold. Changes in the Company’s assumptions regarding depreciation could change the Company’s depreciation expense, as well
as the gain or loss realized upon disposal of equipment. Sales of the Company’s used concrete pumping equipment at prices that fall
significantly below the Company’s expectations or in lesser quantities than the Company anticipates could have a negative impact on the
Company’s financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
 
The Company is exposed to liability claims on a continuing basis, which may exceed the level of the Company’s insurance or not be
covered at all, and this could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s operating performance.

 
The Company’s business exposes it to claims for personal injury, death or property damage resulting from the use of the

equipment it operates, rents, sells, services or repairs and from injuries caused in motor vehicle or other accidents in which the Company’s
personnel are involved. The Company’s business also exposes it to worker compensation claims and other employment-related claims. The
Company carries comprehensive insurance, subject to deductibles, at levels it believes are sufficient to cover existing and future claims.
Future claims may exceed the level of the Company’s insurance, and the Company’s insurance may not continue to be available on
economically reasonable terms, or at all. Certain types of claims, such as claims for punitive damages, are not covered by the Company’s
insurance. In addition, the Company is self-insured for the deductibles on its policies and has established reserves for incurred but not
reported claims. If actual claims exceed the Company’s reserves, the Company’s results of operation would be adversely affected. Whether
or not the Company is covered by insurance, certain claims may generate negative publicity, which may lead to lower revenues, as well as
additional similar claims being filed.
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The Company’s business is subject to significant operating risks and hazards that could result in personal injury or damage or destruction
to property, which could result in losses or liabilities to the Company.

 
Construction sites are potentially dangerous workplaces and often put the Company’s employees and others in close proximity

with mechanized equipment and moving vehicles. The Company’s equipment has been involved in workplace incidents and incidents
involving mobile operators of the Company’s equipment in transit in the past and may be involved in such incidents in the future.

 
The Company’s safety record is an important consideration for the Company and for its customers. If serious accidents or

fatalities occur, regardless of whether the Company were at fault, or the Company’s safety record were to deteriorate, the Company may be
ineligible to bid on certain work, be exposed to possible litigation, and existing service arrangements could be terminated, which could have
a material adverse impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations, cash flows and liquidity. Adverse experience with
hazards and claims could have a negative effect on the Company’s reputation with the Company’s existing or potential new customers and
the Company’s prospects for future work.

 
In the commercial concrete infrastructure market, the Company’s workers are subject to the usual hazards associated with

providing construction and related services on construction sites, including environmental hazards, industrial accidents, hurricanes, adverse
weather conditions and flooding. Operating hazards can cause personal injury or death, damage to or destruction of property, plant and
equipment, environmental damage, performance delays, monetary losses or legal liability.

 
Potential acquisitions and expansions into new markets may result in significant transaction expense and expose the Company to risks
associated with entering new markets and integrating new or acquired operations.

 
The Company may encounter risks associated with entering new markets in which it has limited or no experience. New operations

require significant capital expenditures and may initially have a negative impact on the Company’s short-term cash flow, net income and
results of operations. New start-up locations may not become profitable when projected or ever. In addition, the Company’s industry is
highly fragmented and the Company expects to consider acquisition opportunities from time to time when it believes they would enhance
the Company’s business and financial performance.

 
Acquisitions may impose significant strains on the Company’s management, operating systems and financial resources, and could

experience unanticipated integration issues. The pursuit and integration of acquisitions may require substantial attention from the
Company’s senior management, which will limit the amount of time they have available to devote to the Company’s existing operations.
The Company’s ability to realize the expected benefits from any future acquisitions depends in large part on the Company’s ability to
integrate and consolidate the new operations with the Company’s existing operations in a timely and effective manner. Future acquisitions
also could result in the incurrence of substantial amounts of indebtedness and contingent liabilities (including environmental, employee
benefits and safety and health liabilities), accumulation of goodwill that may become impaired, and an increase in amortization expenses
related to intangible assets. Any significant diversion of management’s attention from the Company’s existing operations, the loss of key
employees or customers of any acquired business, any major difficulties encountered in the opening of start-up locations or the integration
of acquired operations or any associated increases in indebtedness, liabilities or expenses could have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s business, financial condition or results of operations.
 
The Company may not realize the anticipated synergies and cost savings from acquisitions.

 
The Company has completed a number of acquisitions in recent years that it believes present revenue and cost-saving synergy

opportunities. However, the integration of recent or future acquisitions may not result in the realization of the full benefits of the revenue
and cost synergies that the Company expected at the time or currently expects within the anticipated time frame or at all. Moreover, the
Company may incur substantial expenses or unforeseen liabilities in connection with the integration of acquired businesses. While the
Company anticipates that certain expenses will be incurred, such expenses are difficult to estimate accurately and may exceed the
Company’s estimates. Accordingly, the expected benefits may be offset by costs or delays incurred in integrating the businesses. Failure of
recent or future acquisitions to meet the Company’s expectations and be integrated successfully could have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s financial condition and results of operations.
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The Company has operations throughout the United States and the United Kingdom, which subjects it to multiple federal, state, and local
laws and regulations. Moreover, the Company operates at times as a government contractor or subcontractor which subjects it to
additional laws, regulations, and contract provisions. Changes in law, regulations, government contract provisions, or other legal
requirements, or the Company’s material failure to comply with any of them, can increase the Company’s costs and have other negative
impacts on the Company’s business.

 
As of October 31, 2018, the Company’s 80 locations in the United States, including locations operated by Brundage-Bone and

Eco-Pan, were situated across approximately 22 states and the Company’s 28 locations in the U.K. are in England, Scotland and Wales.
Each of the Company’s sites exposes it to a host of different local laws and regulations. These requirements address multiple aspects of the
Company’s operations, such as worker safety, consumer rights, privacy, employee benefits, antitrust, emissions regulations and may also
impact other areas of the Company’s business, such as pricing. In addition, government contracts and subcontracts are subject to a wide
range of requirements not applicable in the purely commercial context, such as extensive auditing and disclosure requirements; anti-money
laundering, antibribery and anti-gratuity rules; political campaign contribution and lobbying limitations; and small and/or disadvantaged
business preferences. Even when a government contractor has reasonable policies and practices in place to address these risks and
requirements, it is still possible for problems to arise. Moreover, government contracts or subcontracts are generally riskier than
commercial contracts, because, when problems arise, the adverse consequences can be severe, including civil false claims (which can
involve penalties and treble damages), suspension and debarment, and even criminal prosecution. Moreover, the requirements of laws,
regulations, and government contract provisions are often different in different jurisdictions. Changes in these requirements, or any material
failure by the Company to comply with them, can increase the Company’s costs, negatively affect the Company’s reputation, reduce the
Company’s business, require significant management time and attention and generally otherwise impact the Company’s operations in
adverse ways.
 
The Company is subject to numerous environmental and safety regulations. If the Company is required to incur compliance or remediation
costs that are not currently anticipated, the Company’s liquidity and operating results could be materially and adversely affected.

 
The Company’s facilities and operations are subject to comprehensive and frequently changing federal, state and local laws and

regulations relating to environmental protection and health and safety. These laws and regulations govern, among other things, occupational
safety, employee relations, the discharge of substances into the air, water and land, the handling, storage, transport, use and disposal of
hazardous materials and wastes and the cleanup of properties affected by pollutants. The Company has in the past and may in the future fail
to comply with applicable environmental and safety regulations. If the Company violates environmental or safety laws or regulations, the
Company may be required to implement corrective actions and could be subject to civil or criminal fines or penalties or other sanctions.
The Company cannot assure you that it will not have to make significant capital or operating expenditures in the future in order to comply
with applicable laws and regulations or that it will comply with applicable environmental laws at all times. Such violations or liability could
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

 
Environmental laws also impose obligations and liability for the investigation and cleanup of properties affected by hazardous

substance or fuel spills or releases. These liabilities are often joint and several, and may be imposed on the parties generating or disposing
of such substances or on the owner or operator of affected property, often without regard to whether the owner or operator knew of, or was
responsible for, the presence of hazardous substances. The Company may also have liability for past contamination as successors-in-
interest for companies which were acquired or where there was a merger. Accordingly, the Company may become liable, either
contractually or by operation of law, for investigation, remediation, monitoring and other costs even if the contaminated property is not
presently owned or operated by the Company, or if the contamination was caused by third parties during or prior to the Company’s
ownership or operation of the property. Contamination and exposure to hazardous substances can also result in claims for damages,
including personal injury, property damage, and natural resources damage claims.
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Most of the Company’s properties currently have above or below ground storage tanks for fuel and other petroleum products and

oil-water separators (or equivalent wastewater collection/treatment systems). Given the nature of the Company’s operations (which involve
the use of diesel and other petroleum products, solvents and other hazardous substances) for fueling and maintaining the Company’s
equipment and vehicles, and the historical operations at some of the Company’s properties, the Company may incur material costs
associated with soil or groundwater contamination. Future events, such as changes in existing laws or policies or their enforcement, or the
discovery of currently unknown contamination, may give rise to remediation liabilities or other claims or costs that may be material.
 
The Company’s business depends on favorable relations with the Company’s employees, and any deterioration of these relations, labor
shortages or increases in labor costs could adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations and the
Company’s collective bargaining agreements and the Company’s relationship with the Company’s union-represented employees could
disrupt the Company’s ability to serve the Company’s customers, lead to higher labor costs or the payment of withdrawal liability in
connection with multiemployer plans.

 
As of October 31, 2018, approximately 12% of the Company’s employees in the United States (but none of the Company’s

employees in the United Kingdom) were represented by unions or covered by collective bargaining agreements. The states in which the
Company’s employees are represented by unions or covered by collective bargaining agreements are California, Washington and Oregon.
There can be no assurance that the Company’s non-unionized employees will not become members of a union or become covered by a
collective bargaining agreement, including through an acquisition of a business whose employees are subject to such an agreement. Any
significant deterioration in employee relations, shortages of labor or increases in labor costs at any of the Company’s locations could have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition or results of operations. A slowdown or work stoppage that lasts for
a significant period of time could cause lost revenues and increased costs and could adversely affect the Company’s ability to meet the
Company’s customers’ needs.

 
Furthermore, the Company’s labor costs could increase as a result of the settlement of actual or threatened labor disputes. In

addition, the Company’s collective bargaining agreement with the Company’s union in California and Oregon expire in 2019 and 2020,
respectively and will need to be renegotiated. The Company’s collective bargaining agreement with the Company’s union in Washington
expires in 2037. The Company cannot assure you that renegotiation of these agreements will be successful or will not result in adverse
economic terms or work stoppages or slowdowns.

 
Under the Company’s collective bargaining agreements, the Company is, and has previously been, obligated to contribute to

several multiemployer pension plans on behalf of the Company’s unionized employees. A multiemployer pension plan is a defined benefit
pension plan that provides pension benefits to the union-represented workers of various generally unrelated companies. Under the
Employment Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”), an employer that has an obligation to contribute to an underfunded
multiemployer plan, as well as any other entities that are treated as a single employer with such employer under applicable tax and ERISA
rules, may become jointly and severally liable, generally upon complete or partial withdrawal from a multiemployer plan, for its
proportionate share of the plan’s unfunded benefit obligations. These liabilities are known as “withdrawal liabilities.” Certain of the
multiemployer plans to which the Company is obligated to contribute have been in the past and currently remain significantly underfunded.
Moreover, due to the level of underfunding, at least one of these multiemployer plans has been and continues to be in “critical status,”
meaning, among other things, that the trustees of the plan are required to adopt a rehabilitation plan and the Company is required to pay a
surcharge on top of the Company’s regular contributions to the plan.
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The Company currently has no intention of withdrawing, in either a complete or partial withdrawal, from any of the

multiemployer plans to which it currently contributes and the Company has not been assessed any withdrawal liability in the past when it
has ceased participating in certain multiemployer plans to which it previously contributed. In addition, the Company believes that the
“construction industry” multiemployer plan exception may apply if the Company did withdraw from any of the Company’s current
multiemployer plans. The “construction industry” exception generally delays the imposition of withdrawal liability in connection with an
employer’s withdrawal from a “construction industry” multiemployer plan unless and until (among other things) that employer continues or
resumes covered operations in the relevant geographic region without continuing or resuming (as applicable) contributions to the
multiemployer plan. If this exception applies, withdrawal liability may be delayed or even inapplicable if the Company ceases participation
in any multiemployer plan(s). However, there can be no assurance that the Company will not withdraw from one or more multiemployer
plans in the future, that the “construction industry exception” would apply if the Company did withdraw, or that the Company will not
incur withdrawal liability if it does withdraw. Accordingly, the Company may be required to pay material amounts of withdrawal liability if
one or more of those plans is underfunded at the time of withdrawal and withdrawal liability applies in connection with the Company’s
withdrawal. In addition, the Company may incur material liabilities if any multiemployer plan(s) in which it participates requires it to
increase the Company’s contribution levels to alleviate existing underfunding and/or becomes insolvent, terminates or liquidates.
 
Labor relations matters at construction sites where the Company provides services may result in increases in its operating costs,
disruptions in its business and decreases in its earnings.

 
Labor relations matters at construction sites where the Company provides services may result in work stoppages, which would in

turn affect the Company’s ability to provide services at such locations. If any such work stoppages were to occur at work sites where the
Company provides services, the Company could experience a significant disruption of its operations, which could materially and adversely
affect its business, financial condition, results of operations, liquidity, and cash flows. Also, labor relations matters affecting the Company’s
suppliers could adversely impact the Company’s business from time to time.
 
If the Company determines that its goodwill has become impaired, the Company may incur impairment charges, which would negatively
impact the Company’s operating results.

 
At October 31, 2018, the Company had recorded goodwill of $47.3 million, $6.9 million, $18.4 million and $1.9 million for the

acquisitions of Brundage-Bone, Eco-Pan, Camfaud and O’Brien, respectively. Goodwill represents the excess of cost over the fair value of
net assets acquired in business combinations.

 
The Company will assess potential impairment of its goodwill at least annually. Impairment may result from significant changes

in the manner of use of the acquired assets, negative industry or economic trends or significant underperformance relative to historical or
projected operating results. An impairment of the Company’s goodwill may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of
operations.
 
Turnover of members of the Company’s management, staff and pump operators and the Company’s ability to attract and retain key
personnel may affect the Company’s ability to efficiently manage the Company’s business and execute the Company’s strategy.

 
The Company’s business depends on the quality of, and the Company’s ability to attract and retain, the Company’s senior

management and staff, and competition in the Company’s industry and the business world for top management talent is generally
significant. Although the Company believes it generally has competitive pay packages, it can provide no assurance that the Company’s
efforts to attract and retain senior management staff will be successful. In addition, the loss of services of certain members of the
Company’s senior management could adversely affect the Company’s business until suitable replacements can be found.

 
The Company depends upon the quality of its staff personnel, including sales and customer service personnel who routinely

interact with and fulfill the needs of its customers, and on the Company’s ability to attract and retain and motivate skilled operators and
other associated personnel to operate its equipment in order to provide its concrete pumping services to its customers. There is significant
competition for qualified personnel in a number of the Company’s markets, including Texas, Colorado, Utah, and Idaho where the
Company faces competition from the oil and gas industry for qualified drivers and operators. There is a limited number of persons with the
requisite skills to serve in these positions, and such positions require a significant investment by the Company in initial training of operators
of the Company’s equipment. The Company cannot assure you that the Company will be able to locate, employ, or retain such qualified
personnel on terms acceptable to the Company or at all. The Company’s costs of operations and selling, general and administrative
expenses have increased in certain markets and may increase in the future if the Company is required to increase wages and salaries to
attract qualified personnel, and there is no assurance that the Company can increase its prices to offset any such cost increases. There is also
no assurance the Company can effectively limit staff turnover as competitors or other employers seek to hire the Company’s personnel. A
significant increase in such turnover could negatively affect the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows.
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The Company’s credit facilities may limit the business’ financial and operating flexibility.

 
The Company’s credit facilities include negative covenants restricting its ability to incur additional indebtedness, pay dividends or

make other payments, make loans and investments, sell assets, incur certain liens, enter into transactions with affiliates, and consolidate,
merge or sell assets. These covenants limit the ability of the respective restricted entities to fund future working capital and capital
expenditures, engage in future acquisitions or development activities, or otherwise realize the value of their assets and opportunities fully
because of the need to dedicate a portion of cash flow from operations to payments on debt. In addition, such covenants limit the flexibility
of the respective restricted entities in planning for, or reacting to, changes in the industries in which they operate.
 
The Company’s business could be hurt if it is unable to obtain capital as required, resulting in a decrease in the Company’s revenue and
cash flows.

 
The Company requires capital for, among other purposes, purchasing equipment to replace existing equipment that has reached

the end of its useful life and for growth resulting from expansion into new markets, completing acquisitions and refinancing existing debt.
If the cash that the Company generates from its business, together with cash that the Company may borrow under its credit facilities, is not
sufficient to fund the Company’s capital requirements, the Company will require additional debt or equity financing. If such additional
financing is not available to fund the Company’s capital requirements the Company could suffer a decrease in its revenue and cash flows
that would have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business. Furthermore, the Company’s ability to incur additional debt is and
will be contingent upon, among other things, the covenants contained in its credit facilities. In addition, the Company’s credit facilities
place restrictions on the Company’s and the Company’s restricted subsidiaries’ ability to pay dividends and make other restricted payments
(subject to certain exceptions). The Company cannot be certain that any additional financing that the Company requires will be available
or, if available, will be available on terms that are satisfactory to the Company. If the Company is unable to obtain sufficient additional
capital in the future, the Company’s business could be materially adversely affected.
 
The Company may not be able to generate sufficient cash to service all of its indebtedness and may be forced to take other actions to satisfy
its obligations under applicable debt instruments, which may not be successful.

 
The Company’s ability to make scheduled payments on or to refinance the Company’s indebtedness obligations, including the

Company’s credit facilities, depends on the Company’s financial condition and operating performance, which are subject to prevailing
economic and competitive conditions and certain financial, business and other factors beyond the Company’s control. The Company may
not be able to maintain a level of cash flows from operating activities sufficient to permit it to pay the principal, premium, if any, and
interest on the Company’s indebtedness.

 
If the Company’s cash flows and capital resources are insufficient to fund debt service obligations, the Company may be forced to

reduce or delay investments and capital expenditures, sell assets, seek additional capital or restructure or refinance indebtedness. The
Company’s ability to restructure or refinance the Company’s indebtedness will depend on the condition of the capital markets and the
Company’s financial condition at such time. Any refinancing of indebtedness could be at higher interest rates and may require the
Company to comply with more onerous covenants, which could further restrict business operations. The terms of existing or future debt
instruments may restrict the Company from adopting some of these alternatives. In addition, any failure to make payments of interest and
principal on outstanding indebtedness on a timely basis would likely result in a reduction of the Company’s credit rating, which could harm
the Company’s ability to incur additional indebtedness.
 
If the Company is unable to collect on contracts with customers, its operating results would be adversely affected.

 
The Company has billing arrangements with a majority of its customers that provide for payment on agreed terms after the

Company’s services are provided. If the Company is unable to manage credit risk issues adequately, or if a large number of customers
should have financial difficulties at the same time, the Company’s credit losses could increase significantly above their low historical
levels and the Company’s operating results would be adversely affected. Further, delinquencies and credit losses increased during the last
recession and generally can be expected to increase during economic slowdowns or recessions.
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If the Company is unable to satisfy the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act or the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting is not effective, the reliability of the Company’s financial statements may be questioned and the Company’s stock price
may suffer.

 
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires any company subject to the reporting requirements of the U.S. securities laws to

do a comprehensive evaluation of its and its consolidated subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting. To comply with this statute,
the Company will eventually be required to document and test its internal control procedures, the Company’s management will be required
to assess and issue a report concerning the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, and the Company’s independent auditors
will be required to issue an opinion on its audit of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. The rules governing the
standards that must be met for management to assess the Company’s internal control over financial reporting are complex and require
significant documentation, testing and possible remediation to meet the detailed standards under the rules. During the course of its testing,
the Company’s management may identify material weaknesses or deficiencies which may not be remedied in time to meet the deadline
imposed by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. The Company currently has a material weakness in internal controls over financial reporting as it
relates to a) lack of segregation of duties to effectively perform detailed review of account reconciliations and journal entries; b) lack of
formally documented precision levels relating to management review controls; and c) insufficient restrictions on admin access for
information technology in the U.K. The aforementioned material weaknesses in internal control are primarily driven by a lack of resources
as the Company makes its transition from a private to public entity. If the Company’s management cannot remediate material weakness or
favorably assess the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting or the Company’s auditors identify material weaknesses in
its internal controls, investor confidence in the Company financial results may weaken, and the Company’s stock price may suffer.
 
Disruptions in the Company’s information technology systems due to cyber security threats or other factors could limit the Company’s
ability to effectively monitor and control the Company’s operations and adversely affect the Company’s operating results, and
unauthorized access to customer information on the Company’s systems could adversely affect the Company’s relationships with the
Company’s customers or result in liability.

 
The Company’s information technology systems, including the Company’s enterprise resource planning system, facilitate the

Company’s ability to monitor and control the Company’s assets and operations and adjust to changing market conditions and customer
needs. Any disruptions in these systems or the failure of these systems to operate as expected could, depending on the magnitude of the
problem, adversely affect the Company’s operating results by limiting the Company’s capacity to effectively monitor and control the
Company’s assets and operations and adjust to changing market conditions in a timely manner. Many of the Company’s business records at
most of the Company’s branches are still maintained manually, and loss of those records as a result of facility damage, personnel changes
or otherwise could also cause such disruptions. In addition, because the Company’s systems sometimes contain information about
individuals and businesses, the Company’s failure to appropriately safeguard the security of the data it holds, whether as a result of its own
error or the malfeasance or errors of others, could harm the Company’s reputation or give rise to legal liabilities, leading to lower revenue,
increased costs and other material adverse effects on the Company’s results of operations.

 
The Company has taken steps intended to mitigate these risks, including business continuity planning, disaster recovery planning

and business impact analysis. However, a significant disruption or cyber intrusion could adversely affect the Company’s results of
operations, financial condition and liquidity. Furthermore, instability in the financial markets as a result of terrorism, sustained or
significant cyber attacks, or war could also materially adversely affect the Company’s ability to raise capital.
 
Fluctuations in fuel costs or reduced supplies of fuel could harm the Company’s business.

 
Fuel costs represent a significant portion of the Company’s operating expenses and the Company is dependent upon fuel to

transport and operate its equipment. The Company could be adversely affected by limitations on fuel supplies or increases in fuel prices
that result in higher costs of transporting equipment to and from job sites and higher costs to operate the Company’s concrete pumps and
other equipment. Although the Company is able to pass through the impact of fuel price charges to most of its customers, there is often a
lag before such pass-through arrangements are reflected in the Company’s operating results and there may be a limit to how much of any
fuel price increases the Company can pass onto its customers. Any such limits may adversely affect the Company’s results of operations.
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The Company depends on access to its branch facilities to service its customers and maintain and store its equipment.

 
The Company depends on its primary branch facilities in the U.S. and U.K., respectively, to store, service and maintain its fleet.

These facilities contain most of the specialized equipment the Company requires to service its fleet, in addition to the extensive secure
storage areas needed for a significant number of large vehicles. If any of the Company’s facilities were to sustain significant damage or
become unavailable to the Company for any reason, including natural disasters, the Company’s operations could be disrupted, which could
in turn adversely affect its relationships with its customers and its results of operations and cash flow. Any limitation on the Company’s
access to facilities as a result of any breach of, or dispute under, the Company’s leases could also disrupt and adversely affect the
Company’s operations.
 
The Company’s acquisitions made in the U.K. may divert the Company’s resources from other aspects of the Company’s business and
require it to incur additional debt, and will subject it to additional and different regulations. Failure to manage these economic, financial,
business and regulatory risks may adversely impact the Company’s growth in the U.K. and the Company’s results of operations.

 
The Company’s expansion into markets in the U.K. required, and may continue to require, it to incur additional debt and divert

resources from other aspects of the Company’s business. In addition, the Company may incur difficulties in staffing and managing its U.K.
operations, and face fluctuations in currency exchange rates, exposure to additional regulatory requirements, including certain trade
barriers, changes in political and economic conditions, and exposure to additional and potentially adverse tax regimes. The Company’s
success in the U.K. will depend, in part, on the Company’s ability to anticipate and effectively manage these and other risks. The
Company’s failure to manage these risks may adversely affect the Company’s growth in the U.K. and lead to increased administrative and
other costs.
 
The Company may be adversely affected by recent developments relating to the U.K.’s referendum vote in favor of leaving the European
Union.

 
The U.K. held a referendum on June 23, 2016 in which a majority voted for the U.K.’s withdrawal from the European Union,

which is commonly referred to as Brexit. As a result of this vote, a process of negotiation has begun to determine the terms of Brexit and of
the U.K.’s relationship with the European Union going forward. The effects of the Brexit vote and the perceptions as to the impact of the
withdrawal of the U.K. from the European Union may adversely affect business activity and economic and market conditions in the U.K.,
the Eurozone, and globally and could contribute to instability in global financial and foreign exchange markets, including volatility in the
value of the pound sterling and the euro. In addition, Brexit could lead to additional political, legal and economic instability in the European
Union. Specifically, the Company has not identified any additional risk factors under Brexit than those discussed herein. Additionally, the
Company has not identified any trends or potential changes to critical accounting estimates as a result of Brexit. The Company will
continue to assess risk factors and accounting and reporting considerations Any of these effects of Brexit, and others the Company cannot
anticipate, could adversely affect the value of the Company’s assets in the U.K., as well as the Company’s business, financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows.
 
Due to the material portion of the Company’s business conducted in currency other than U.S. dollars, the Company has significant foreign
currency risk.

 
The Company’s consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance with GAAP, and the Company reports, and will

continue to report, its results in U.S. dollars. Some of the Company’s operations are conducted by subsidiaries in the United Kingdom. The
results of operations and the financial position of these subsidiaries are recorded in the relevant foreign currencies and then translated into
U.S. dollars. Any change in the value of the pound sterling against the U.S. dollar during a given financial reporting period would result in
a foreign currency loss or gain on the translation of U.S. dollar denominated revenues and costs. The exchange rates between the pound
sterling against the U.S. dollar have fluctuated significantly in recent years and may fluctuate significantly in the future. Consequently, the
Company’s reported earnings could fluctuate materially as a result of foreign exchange translation gains or losses and may not be
comparable from period to period.
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The Company faces market risks attributable to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and foreign currency exposure on

the translation into U.S. dollars of the financial results of the Company’s operations in the United Kingdom. Exchange rate fluctuations
could have an adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations. Both favorable and unfavorable foreign currency impacts to the
Company’s foreign currency-denominated operating expenses are mitigated to a certain extent by the natural, opposite impact on the
Company’s foreign currency-denominated revenue.
 
Recently enacted U.S. tax legislation may adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flow.

 
On December 22, 2017, the President of the U.S. signed into law Public Law No. 115-97, commonly referred to as the Tax Cuts

and Jobs Act, following its passage by the United States Congress. The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act made significant changes to U.S. federal
income tax laws, including changing the corporate tax rate to a flat 21% rate, introducing a capital investment deduction in certain
circumstances, placing certain limitations on interest deductions, modifying the rules regarding the usability of certain net operating losses,
and making extensive changes to the U.S. international tax system. The Company is currently in the process of analyzing the effects of this
new legislation on its business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flow pending regulations on previously taxed income.
The impact of these new rules is uncertain and could be adverse.
 
Unanticipated changes in effective tax rates or adverse outcomes resulting from examination of our income or other tax returns could
adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

 
We will be subject to income taxes in the United States, and our domestic tax liabilities will be subject to the allocation of

expenses in differing jurisdictions. Our future effective tax rates could be subject to volatility or adversely affected by a number of factors,
including:

 
• changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets and liabilities;
• expected timing and amount of the release of any tax valuation allowances;
• tax effects of stock-based compensation;
• costs related to intercompany restructurings;
• changes in tax laws, regulations or interpretations thereof; and
• lower than anticipated future earnings in jurisdictions where we have lower statutory tax rates and higher than anticipated future

earnings in jurisdictions where we have higher statutory tax rates.
 

In addition, we may be subject to audits of our income, sales and other transaction taxes by U.S. federal and state authorities.
Outcomes from these audits could have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

 
Risks Related to the Company’s Securities
 
There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to comply with Nasdaq’s continued listing standards.

 
If Nasdaq delists the Company’s securities from trading on its exchange for failure to meet the continued listing standards, the

Company and its security holders could face significant material adverse consequences including:
 

• a limited availability of market quotations for its securities;
• a determination that its common stock is a “penny stock” which will require brokers trading in its common stock to adhere to more

stringent rules, possibly resulting in a reduced level of trading activity in the secondary trading market for its common stock;
• a decreased ability to issue additional securities or obtain additional financing in the future.
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Shares of our common stock have been thinly traded in the past.
 

Although a trading market for our common stock exists, the trading volume has not been significant and there can be no assurance that
an active trading market for our common stock will develop or, if developed, be sustained in the future. As a result of the thin trading
market or “float” for our stock, the market price for our common stock may fluctuate significantly more than the stock market as a whole.
Without a large float, our common stock is less liquid than the stock of companies with broader public ownership and, as a result, the
trading prices of our common stock may be more volatile. In the absence of an active public trading market, an investor may be unable to
liquidate his investment in our common stock. Trading of a relatively small volume of our common stock may have a greater impact on the
trading price for our stock than would be the case if our public float were larger. We cannot predict the prices at which our common stock
will trade in the future.

 
In addition, the price of our securities can vary due to general economic conditions and forecasts, our general business condition

and the release of our financial reports. Additionally, if our securities become delisted from Nasdaq for any reason, and are quoted on the
OTC Markets, the liquidity and price of our securities may be more limited than if we were quoted or listed on Nasdaq or another national
securities exchange. You may be unable to sell your securities unless a market can be established or sustained.
 
If the Business Combination’s benefits do not meet the expectations of investors, stockholders or financial analysts, the market price of the
Company’s securities may decline.

 
If the benefits of the Business Combination do not meet the expectations of investors or securities analysts, the market price of our

securities may decline.
 

If an active market for our securities develops and continues, the trading price of the Company’s securities could be volatile and
subject to wide fluctuations in response to various factors, some of which are beyond our control. Any of the factors listed below could
have a material adverse effect on your investment in our securities and the Company’s securities may trade at prices significantly below the
price you paid for them. In such circumstances, the trading price of our securities may not recover and may experience a further decline.

 
Factors affecting the trading price of the Company’s securities following the Business Combination may include:
 

• actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly financial results or the quarterly financial results of companies perceived to be
similar to us;

• changes in the market’s expectations about our operating results;
• the public’s reaction to our press releases, our other public announcements and our filings with the SEC;
• speculation in the press or investment community;
• success of competitors;
• our operating results failing to meet the expectation of securities analysts or investors in a particular period;
• changes in financial estimates and recommendations by securities analysts concerning company or the market in general;
• operating and stock price performance of other companies that investors deem comparable to the Company;
• our ability to market new and enhanced products on a timely basis;
• changes in laws and regulations affecting our business;
• commencement of, or involvement in, litigation involving the company;
• changes in the company’s capital structure, such as future issuances of securities or the incurrence of additional debt;
• the volume of shares of the Company’s common stock available for public sale;
• any major change in the Company’s Board or management;
• sales of substantial amounts of the Company’s common stock by our directors, officers or significant stockholders or the perception

that such sales could occur; and
• general economic and political conditions such as recessions, interest rates, fuel prices, international currency fluctuations and acts

of war or terrorism.
 

Broad market and industry factors may materially harm the market price of our securities irrespective of our operating
performance. The stock market in general and Nasdaq have experienced price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or
disproportionate to the operating performance of the particular companies affected. The trading prices and valuations of these stocks, and
of our securities, may not be predictable. A loss of investor confidence in the market for the stocks of other companies which investors
perceive to be similar to the Company could depress our stock price regardless of our business, prospects, financial conditions or results of
operations. A decline in the market price of our securities also could adversely affect our ability to issue additional securities and our ability
to obtain additional financing in the future.
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In the past, securities class action litigation has often been initiated against companies following periods of volatility in their stock

price. This type of litigation could result in substantial costs and divert our management’s attention and resources, and could also require us
to make substantial payments to satisfy judgments or to settle litigation.

 
Future sales of the Company’s common stock may cause the market price of its securities to drop significantly, even if its business is doing
well.

 
Pursuant to the Stockholders Agreement:
 

• the Sponsor and Industrea’s independent directors (collectively, the “Initial Stockholders”) have agreed not to transfer the Founder
Shares until the earlier of  (A) one year after the Closing or (B) subsequent to the Closing, (x) if the last sale price of the Company’s
common stock equals or exceeds $12.00 per share (as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, reorganizations, recapitalizations
and the like) for any 20 trading days within any 30-trading day period commencing at least 150 days after the Closing or
(y) following the Closing, the date on which the Company completes a liquidation, merger, capital stock exchange, reorganization
or other similar transaction that results in all of the Company’s stockholders having the right to exchange their shares of the
Company’s common stock for cash, securities or other property;

• the Initial Stockholders have agreed not to transfer the private placement warrants until 30 days after the Closing;
• each CPH Management Holder (as defined therein) has agreed not to transfer any shares of the Company’s common stock acquired

by such CPH Management Holder in connection with the Business Combination for a period commencing on the date of Closing
and ending on the date that is (a) the first anniversary of the Closing with respect to one-third (1/3) of such CPH Management
Holder’s Company securities held as of the date of Closing; (b) the second anniversary of the Closing with respect to one-third (1/3)
of such CPH Management Holder’s Company securities held as of the date of Closing; and (c) the third anniversary of the Closing
with respect to one-third (1/3) of such CPH Management Holder’s Company securities held as of the date of Closing;

• each Non-Management CPH Holder (as defined therein) may not transfer any shares of the Company’s common stock acquired by
such Non-Management CPH Holder in connection with the Business Combination for a period commencing on the date of Closing
and ending on the date that is one hundred and eighty (180) days after the Closing; and

• the Argand Investor may not transfer any shares of the Company's common stock acquired by the Argand Investor in exchange for
the Industrea common stock issued to it pursuant to the Argand Subscription Agreement for a period commencing on the date of
Closing and ending on (a) if the number of shares issued to BBCP Investors, LLC ("Peninsula") pursuant to the terms of its rollover
agreement entered into in connection with the Business Combination does not exceed the Peninsula Threshold (as defined in the
Stockholders Agreement), the date that is one hundred and eighty (180) days after the Closing, or (b) if the number of shares issued
to Peninsula pursuant to the terms of its rollover agreement entered into in connection with the Business Combination exceeds the
Peninsula Threshold, the date that is one year after the Closing.

 
In addition, certain CPH stockholders and the Initial Stockholders are entitled to registration rights, subject to certain limitations,

with respect to the Company’s common stock they received in the Business Combination pursuant to the Stockholders Agreement entered
into in connection with the consummation of the Business Combination. The Stockholders Agreement provides that the Company will, not
later than 90 days after the Closing, file a registration statement covering the Founder Shares, the private placement warrants (including any
common stock issued or issuable upon exercise of any such private placement warrants) and the shares of the Company’s common stock
issued to the CPH stockholders at the Closing. In addition, these stockholders will have certain demand and “piggyback” registration rights
following the consummation of the Business Combination. the Company will bear certain expenses incurred in connection with the
exercise of such rights. The presence of these additional securities trading in the public market may have an adverse effect on the market
price of the Company’s common stock.
 
Our quarterly operating results may fluctuate significantly and could fall below the expectations of securities analysts and investors due to
seasonality and other factors, some of which are beyond our control, resulting in a decline in our stock price.

 
Our quarterly operating results may fluctuate significantly because of several factors, including:
 

• labor availability and costs for hourly and management personnel;
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• profitability of our products, especially in new markets and due to seasonal fluctuations;
• changes in interest rates;
• impairment of long-lived assets;
• macroeconomic conditions, both nationally and locally;
• negative publicity relating to products we serve;
• changes in consumer preferences and competitive conditions;
• expansion to new markets; and
• fluctuations in commodity prices.

 
If securities or industry analysts do not publish or cease publishing research or reports about us, our business, or our market, or if they
change their recommendations regarding our common stock adversely, then the price and trading volume of the Company’s common stock
could decline.

 
The trading market for the Company’s common stock will be influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities

analysts may publish about us, our business, our market, or our competitors. Securities and industry analysts do not currently, and may
never, publish research on the Company. If no securities or industry analysts commence coverage of the Company, the Company’s stock
price and trading volume would likely be negatively impacted. If any of the analysts who may cover the Company change their
recommendation regarding our stock adversely, or provide more favorable relative recommendations about our competitors, the price of
the Company’s common stock would likely decline. If any analyst who may cover the Company were to cease coverage of the Company or
fail to regularly publish reports on it, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which could cause the Company’s stock price or
trading volume to decline.
 
Changes in laws or, regulations or rules, or a failure to comply with any laws, regulations or rules, may adversely affect our business,
investments and results of operations.
 

We are subject to laws, regulations and rules enacted by national, regional and local governments and Nasdaq. In particular, we are
required to comply with certain SEC, Nasdaq and other legal or regulatory requirements. Compliance with, and monitoring of, applicable
laws, regulations and rules may be difficult, time consuming and costly. Those laws, regulations or rules and their interpretation and
application may also change from time to time and those changes could have a material adverse effect on our business, investments and
results of operations. In addition, a failure to comply with applicable laws, regulations or rules, as interpreted and applied, could have a
material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

 
We have not registered the shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of the warrants under the Securities Act or any state securities
laws at this time, and such registration may not be in place when an investor desires to exercise warrants, thus precluding such investor
from being able to exercise its warrants except on a cashless basis and potentially causing such warrants to expire worthless.

 
We have not registered the shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of the warrants under the Securities Act or any state

securities laws at this time. Under the terms of the warrant agreement, we have agreed to file a registration statement under the Securities
Act covering such shares and maintain a current prospectus relating to the common stock issuable upon exercise of the warrants, until the
expiration of the warrants in accordance with the provisions of the warrant agreement. We cannot assure you that we will be able to do so
if, for example, any facts or events arise which represent a fundamental change in the information set forth in such registration statement or
prospectus, the financial statements contained or incorporated by reference therein are not current or correct or the SEC issues a stop order.
If the shares issuable upon exercise of the warrants are not registered under the Securities Act, we will be required to permit holders to
exercise their warrants on a cashless basis. However, no warrant will be exercisable for cash or on a cashless basis, and we will not be
obligated to issue any shares to holders seeking to exercise their warrants, unless the issuance of the shares upon such exercise is registered
or qualified under the securities laws of the state of the exercising holder or an exemption is available. Notwithstanding the above, if the
Company’s common stock is at the time of any exercise of a warrant not listed on a national securities exchange such that it satisfies the
definition of a “covered security” under Section 18(b)(1) of the Securities Act, we may, at our option, require holders of warrants who
exercise their warrants to do so a “cashless basis” in accordance with Section 3(a)(9) of the Securities Act and, in the event we so elect, we
will not be required to file or maintain in effect a registration statement, but we will use our best efforts to register or qualify the shares
under applicable blue sky laws to the extent an exemption is not available. In no event will we be required to net cash settle any warrant, or
issue securities or other compensation in exchange for the warrants in the event that we are unable to register or qualify the shares
underlying the warrants under applicable state securities laws. If the issuance of the shares upon exercise of the warrants is not so registered
or qualified or exempt from registration or qualification, the holder of such warrant will not be entitled to exercise such warrant and such
warrant may have no value and expire worthless. If and when the warrants become redeemable by us, we may exercise our redemption
right even if we are unable to register or qualify the underlying shares of common stock for sale under all applicable state securities laws.
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We may amend the terms of the warrants in a manner that may be adverse to holders with the approval by the holders of at least 65% of the
then-outstanding warrants. As a result, the exercise price of our warrants could be increased, the exercise period could be shortened and
the number of shares of common stock purchasable upon exercise of a warrant could be decreased without a warrant holder’s approval.

 
Our warrants were issued in registered form under a warrant agreement between Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as

warrant agent, and us. The warrant agreement provides that the terms of the warrants may be amended without the consent of any holder to
cure any ambiguity or correct any defective provision, but requires the approval by the holders of at least 65% of the then-outstanding
public warrants to make any change that adversely affects the interests of the registered holders. Accordingly, we may amend the terms of
the warrants in a manner adverse to a holder if holders of at least 65% of the then-outstanding public warrants approve of such amendment.
Although our ability to amend the terms of the warrants with the consent of at least 65% of the then-outstanding public warrants is
unlimited, examples of such amendments could be amendments to, among other things, increase the exercise price of the warrants, shorten
the exercise period or decrease the number of shares of common stock purchasable upon exercise of a warrant.
 
We may redeem unexpired warrants prior to their exercise at a time that is disadvantageous to warrant holders, thereby making their
warrants worthless.

 
We have the ability to redeem outstanding warrants at any time after they become exercisable and prior to their expiration, at a

price of  $0.01 per warrant, provided that the last reported sales price of our common stock equals or exceeds $18.00 per share (as adjusted
for stock splits, stock dividends, reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like) for any 20 trading days within a 30 trading-day period
ending on the third trading day prior to the date we send the notice of redemption to the warrant holders. If and when the warrants become
redeemable by us, we may exercise our redemption right even if we are unable to register or qualify the underlying securities for sale under
all applicable state securities laws. Redemption of the outstanding warrants could force the warrant holders (i) to exercise their warrants
and pay the exercise price therefor at a time when it may be disadvantageous for them to do so, (ii) to sell their warrants at the then-current
market price when they might otherwise wish to hold their warrants or (iii) to accept the nominal redemption price which, at the time the
outstanding warrants are called for redemption, is likely to be substantially less than the market value of their warrants. None of the private
placement warrants will be redeemable by us so long as they are held by our Initial Stockholders or their permitted transferees.
 
The warrants are exercisable for common stock, which would increase the number of shares eligible for future resale in the public market
and result in dilution to the Company’s stockholders.

 
Industrea issued 23,000,000 public warrants as part of its IPO, and prior to our IPO, Industrea issued 11,100,000 private placement

warrants to the Sponsor. Each warrant is exercisable for one share of common stock at $11.50 per share. In connection with the Business
Combination, the Company assumed Industrea’s warrants, and such warrants are exercisable for shares of the Company’s common stock.
To the extent such warrants are exercised, additional shares of common stock will be issued, which will result in dilution to the holders of
common stock and increase the number of shares eligible for resale in the public market. Sales of substantial numbers of such shares in the
public market could adversely affect the market price of the Company’s common stock.
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We are a holding company with no business operations of our own and we depend on cash flow from CPH to meet our obligations.

 
The Company is a holding company with no business operations of its own or material assets other than the stock of its

subsidiaries. All of its operations are conducted by its subsidiary, CPH. As a holding company, the Company requires dividends and other
payments from its subsidiaries to meet cash requirements. The terms of any credit facility may restrict the Company’s subsidiaries from
paying dividends and otherwise transferring cash or other assets to it. If there is an insolvency, liquidation or other reorganization of any of
the Company’s subsidiaries, the Company’s stockholders likely will have no right to proceed against their assets. Creditors of those
subsidiaries will be entitled to payment in full from the sale or other disposal of the assets of those subsidiaries before the Company, as an
equityholder, would be entitled to receive any distribution from that sale or disposal. If CPH is unable to pay dividends or make other
payments to the Company when needed, we will be unable to satisfy our obligations.
 
Anti-takeover provisions contained in the Company’s amended and restated certificate of incorporation (the “Charter”) and amended and
restated bylaws (the “Bylaws”), as well as provisions of Delaware law, could impair a takeover attempt.

 
The Charter contains provisions that may discourage unsolicited takeover proposals that stockholders may consider to be in their

best interests. We are also subject to anti-takeover provisions under Delaware law, which could delay or prevent a change of control.
Together, these provisions may make more difficult the removal of management and may discourage transactions that otherwise could
involve payment of a premium over prevailing market prices for our securities. These provisions include:

 
• a staggered board of directors providing for three classes of directors, which limits the ability of a stockholder or group to gain

control of the Company’s Board;
• no cumulative voting in the election of directors, which limits the ability of minority stockholders to elect director candidates;
• the right of the Company’s Board to elect a director to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of the Company’s Board or the

resignation, death or removal of a director in certain circumstances, which prevents stockholders from being able to fill vacancies
on the Company’s Board;

• a prohibition on stockholder action by written consent, which forces stockholder action to be taken at an annual or special meeting
of our stockholders;

• a prohibition on stockholders calling a special meeting and the requirement that a meeting of stockholders may only be called by
members of the Company’s Board, which may delay the ability of our stockholders to force consideration of a proposal or to take
action, including the removal of directors; and

• advance notice procedures that stockholders must comply with in order to nominate candidates to the Company’s Board or to
propose matters to be acted upon at a meeting of stockholders, which may discourage or deter a potential acquirer from conducting
a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquirer’s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of the Company.

 
The Charter designates the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware as the sole and exclusive forum for certain types of actions and
proceedings that may be initiated by the Company’s stockholders, which could limit the Company’s stockholders’ ability to obtain a
favorable judicial forum for disputes with the Company or its directors, officers or employees.

 
The Charter provides that, unless the Company consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery

of the State of Delaware will be the sole and exclusive forum for any stockholder (including a beneficial owner) to bring (i) any derivative
action or proceeding brought on behalf of the Company, (ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any director,
officer or other employee of the Company to the Company or its stockholders, (iii) any action asserting a claim against the Company, its
directors, officers or employees arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL, the Charter or the Bylaws, or (iv) any action asserting a
claim against the Company, its directors, officers or employees governed by the internal affairs doctrine, except for, as to each of 
(i) through (iv) above, any claim (A) as to which the Court of Chancery determines that there is an indispensable party not subject to the
jurisdiction of the Court of Chancery (and the indispensable party does not consent to the personal jurisdiction of the Court of Chancery
within ten days following such determination), (B) which is vested in the exclusive jurisdiction of a court or forum other than the Court of
Chancery, or (C) arising under the Securities Act or for which the Court of Chancery does not have subject matter jurisdiction including,
without limitation, any claim arising under the Exchange Act, as to which the federal district court for the District of Delaware shall be the
sole and exclusive forum.
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Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of the Company’s capital stock will be deemed to

have notice of, and consented to, the provisions of the Charter described in the preceding paragraph. However, stockholders will not be
deemed to have waived the Company’s compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder. This choice of
forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with the Company
or its directors, officers or other employees, which may discourage such lawsuits against the Company and such persons. Alternatively, a
court may determine that the choice of forum provision is unenforceable. If a court were to find these provisions of the Charter inapplicable
to, or unenforceable in respect of, one or more of the specified types of actions or proceedings, the Company may incur additional costs
associated with resolving such matters in other jurisdictions, which could adversely affect its business, financial condition or results of
operations.
 
The JOBS Act permits “emerging growth companies” like us to take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements
applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies.

 
We qualify as an “emerging growth company” as defined in Section 2(a)(19) of the Securities Act, as modified by the Jumpstart

Our Business Startups Act of 2012, which we refer to as the “JOBS Act.” As such, we take advantage of certain exemptions from various
reporting requirements applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies for as long as we continue to be an
emerging growth company, including (i) the exemption from the auditor attestation requirements with respect to internal control over
financial reporting under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, (ii) the exemptions from say-on-pay, say-on-frequency and say-on-golden
parachute voting requirements and (iii) reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy
statements. As a result, our stockholders may not have access to certain information they deem important. We will remain an emerging
growth company until the earliest of  (i) the last day of the fiscal year (a) following August 1, 2022, the fifth anniversary of our IPO, (b) in
which we have total annual gross revenue of at least $1.07 billion or (c) in which we are deemed to be a large accelerated filer, which
means the market value of our common stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the last business day of our prior
second fiscal quarter, and (ii) the date on which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt during the prior three-year
period. Because CPH had revenues during the fiscal year ended October 31, 2018 of approximately $243.2 million, if we expand our
business or increase our revenues, we may cease to be an emerging growth company prior to August 1, 2022.

 
In addition, Section 107 of the JOBS Act also provides that an emerging growth company can take advantage of the exemption

from complying with new or revised accounting standards provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act as long as we are an
emerging growth company. An emerging growth company can therefore delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those
standards would otherwise apply to private companies. The JOBS Act provides that a company can elect to opt out of the extended
transition period and comply with the requirements that apply to non-emerging growth companies, but any such election to opt out is
irrevocable. We have elected not to opt out of such extended transition period, which means that when a standard is issued or revised and it
has different application dates for public or private companies, we, as an emerging growth company, can adopt the new or revised standard
at the time private companies adopt the new or revised standard. This may make comparison of our financial statements with another
public company which is neither an emerging growth company nor an emerging growth company which has opted out of using the extended
transition period difficult or impossible because of the potential differences in accounting standards used.

 
We cannot predict if investors will find our securities less attractive because we will rely on these exemptions. If some investors

find our securities less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for securities and our stock price may be more
volatile.
 
The U.S. federal tax treatment of the outstanding warrants, which were exercisable for one share of Class A common stock prior to the
Industrea Merger and became exercisable for one share of Company common stock following the Industrea Merger, is unclear and, as a
result, the U.S. federal income tax consequences to holders of such warrants are also unclear.
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There is a substantial risk that the outstanding warrants, which were exercisable for one share of Class A common stock prior to

the Industrea Merger and became exercisable for one share of the Company’s common stock following the Industrea Merger, will be
treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes as having been “exchanged” by the holders of such warrants for new warrants. Because the
terms of the warrants were not otherwise changed pursuant to the Industrea Merger and because the terms of the warrants, when originally
issued, contemplated, among other things, the warrants becoming exercisable into shares of another corporation under circumstances
similar to the Industrea Merger, the warrants becoming exercisable into shares of the Company’s common stock should not be treated for
U.S. federal income tax purposes as giving rise to an exchange of the warrants for new warrants. Although we intend to take this position,
no assurance can be given, however, that the IRS would not assert, or that a court would not sustain a contrary position, and if the warrants
were to be treated as having been exchanged for new warrants and such exchange were governed only by Section 351 of the Code and not
by Section 368 of the Code, a holder of common stock holding such warrants would be required to recognize gain, but not loss, as a result
of the exchange equal to the lesser of  (i) such stockholder’s “realized gain” from the exchange (generally the excess of the sum of the fair
market value of the Company’s common stock received and new warrants treated as having been received over such stockholder’s
aggregate tax basis in the common stock exchanged and warrants treated as having been exchanged), or (ii) the fair market value of the
new warrants treated as having been received. Please see the section entitled “The Business Combination Proposal  —  Material United
States Federal Income Tax Considerations” in the proxy statement/prospectus, which is incorporated herein by reference.

 
Selected Financial Data
 

The selected financial data of Industrea is set forth in the proxy statement/prospectus in the section entitled “Selected Historical
Financial Information of Industrea,” which is incorporated herein by reference.
 
Selected Consolidated Historical Financial Information of CPH

 
The selected historical consolidated balance sheet data as of October 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 and the selected historical

consolidated statements of operations and cash flows data for each of the years ended October 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 have been derived
from CPH’s audited consolidated financial statements that are included elsewhere in this Amendment. CPH’s consolidated financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”).

 
This information should be read in conjunction with “Risk Factors,” “CPH Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial

Condition and Results of Operations” and CPH’s consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in this
Amendment. The selected historical consolidated financial information in this section is not intended to replace CPH’s historical
consolidated financial statements and the related notes thereto included elsewhere in this Amendment. CPH’s historical results are not
necessarily indicative of future results.
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  Year Ended October 31,  
in thousands  2018   2017   2016  
          
Statement of operations information:             
Revenue  $ 243,223  $ 211,211  $ 172,426 
Cost of sales   136,877   121,451   97,242 
Gross profit   106,346   89,759   75,184 
Operating expenses             

General and administrative   58,789   52,865   40,591 
Transaction costs   7,590   4,490   3,691 

Operating income   39,967   32,405   30,902 
Other (expense) income             

Interest expense, net   (21,425)   (22,748)   (19,516)
Loss on extinguishment   -   (5,161)   (644)
Other income (expense)   55   174   (54)
Income before income tax   18,597   4,670   10,687 
Income tax benefit (expense)   9,784   (3,757)   (4,454)

Net income  $ 28,381  $ 913  $ 6,234 
             
Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest   -   -   (36)
Net Income attributable to Concrete Pumping Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries  $ 28,381  $ 913  $ 6,270 
             
Less preferred shares dividends   (1,428)   (1,812)   (1,695)
Less undistributed earnings allocated to preferred shares   (6,365)   -   (1,109)
             
Undistributed income (loss) available to common shareholders  $ 20,588  $ (899)  $ 3,466 
             
Net income (loss) per share-basic  $ 2.72  $ (0.12)  $ 0.46 
Net income (loss) per share-diluted  $ 2.47  $ (0.12)  $ 0.42 
             
Weighted average number of shares outstanding             

Basic   7,576   7,576   7,576 
Diluted   8,326   7,576   8,279 
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  As of October 31,  
  2018   2017   2016  
(in thousands)          
Balance sheet data:             
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 8,621  $ 6,925  $ 3,249 
Total current assets   56,495   46,705   32,298 
Property and equipment, net   201,915   175,542   138,686 
Total assets   370,144   338,847   254,929 
Total current liabilities   94,950   96,302   31,583 
Total long term liabilities   173,470   156,985   142,254 
Total stockholders’ equity   46,021   19,156   21,915 
Total working capital   (38,455)   (49,597)   715 
 
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information
 

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information of the Company is included as Exhibit 99.4 and incorporated
herein by reference. 
 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Operations
 

The Industrea management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is set forth in the
proxy/statement prospectus in the section entitled “Industrea Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations,” which is incorporated herein by reference.
 
CPH’s Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Operations
 

You should read the following management’s discussion and analysis together with “Selected Consolidated Historical Financial
Information of CPH” and CPH’s audited financial statements and the related notes for the years ended October 31, 2018 and 2017 and
the related notes included elsewhere in this report. This discussion contains forward-looking statements about CPH’s business, operations
and industry that involve risks and uncertainties, such as statements regarding CPH’s plans, objectives, expectations and intentions.
CPH’s future results and financial condition may differ materially from those currently anticipated by CPH because of the factors
described in the sections entitled “Risk Factors” and “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.”
 
Overview
 
U.S. Concrete Pumping — Brundage-Bone (“Brundage-Bone”)
 

Founded in 1983 with just one location in Denver, Colorado, CPH provides concrete pumping services in the U.S. with a fleet of
584 equipment units from a highly diversified footprint of 80 locations across 22 states (as of October 31, 2018) and operates under the
brand Brundage-Bone. Brundage-Bone provides operated concrete pumping services, for which Brundage-Bone bills customers on a
negotiated time and volume basis based on the duration of the job and yards of concrete pumped. Additional charges (such as a fuel
surcharge and travel costs) are frequently added based on the local market competitive environment and specific project requirements.
Typically, Brundage-Bone sends a single operator with each concrete pump. Brundage-Bone does not take ownership of the concrete and
thus has minimal inventory or product liability risk. Brundage-Bone typically does not engage in fixed-bid work or have surety bonding
requirements. Brundage-Bone operates a daily fee-based revenue model regardless of project completion.

 
CPH believes that Brundage-Bone is the leading provider of concrete pumping services in the U.S. based on fleet size and the only

competitor with a multi-regional footprint in a highly fragmented industry. Brundage-Bone’s large fleet of specialized pumping equipment
and highly-trained operators position Brundage-Bone to deliver concrete placement solutions that CPH believes facilitate substantial labor
cost savings to its customers, shorten concrete placement times, enhance worksite safety and improve construction quality. CPH has
actively positioned the Brundage-Bone business towards commercial and infrastructure construction projects, while continuing to pursue
profitable residential opportunities.
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Late in fiscal year 2015 and in the first month of fiscal year 2016, CPH completed the asset purchase acquisition of five concrete

pumping companies at approximately the value of the respective assets. Three of the acquisitions with a combined purchase price totaling
approximately $7.3 million, positioned CPH in the South Carolina markets of Charleston and Greenville, in Knoxville, Tennessee, and in
Birmingham, Alabama. The fourth acquisition was completed at a value of $1.1 million and solidified CPH’s existing presence in the
Dallas/Tyler area of Texas. The fifth acquisition was very small, and solidified CPH’s presence in the Amarillo/Lubbock region of Texas.

 
On April 20, 2018, Brundage-Bone entered into an asset purchase agreement to acquire substantially all assets of Richard O’Brien

Companies, Inc., O’Brien Concrete Pumping-Arizona, Inc., O’Brien Concrete Pumping-Colorado, Inc. and O’Brien Concrete Pumping,
LLC (collectively, “O’Brien” or “the O’Brien Companies”) for a purchase price of $21.0 million. The O’Brien acquisition solidified
Brundage-Bone’s presence in the Colorado and Phoenix, Arizona markets and is a compelling addition to the business.
 
U.K. Concrete Pumping — Camfaud (“Camfaud”)

 
On November 17, 2016, CPH formed Oxford Pumping Holdings Ltd. (“Oxford”) to complete the stock acquisitions of two

concrete pumping companies in the U.K.: Camfaud Concrete Pumps Limited and Premier Concrete Pumping Limited, which each also
owned 50% of the stock of South Coast Concrete Pumping Limited (together, the “Oxford Acquisitions”). Oxford was a wholly owned
subsidiary of Brundage-Bone Concrete Pumping, Inc., which in turn is wholly owned by Concrete Pumping Intermediate Holdings, LLC.
Following an internal restructuring, Oxford Pumping Holdings Ltd. changed its name to Camfaud Group Limited on April 3, 2018. CPH
operates its business in the U.K. under the “Camfaud” brand name. Camfaud operates both a fixed and a mobile fleet. The fixed fleet
business entails either (1) Utilizing static line pumps with an accompanied operator, or (2) renting out the equipment without an operator.
Mobile equipment is charged to customers under a minimum hire rate (typically five to eight hours). The business model is similar to
pumping in the U.S. In the U.K., CPH, under the “Camfaud” brand name, provides concrete pumping services with a fleet of 361
equipment units from 28 locations as of October 31, 2018. On July 3, 2017, Camfaud completed the stock acquisition of Reilly Concrete
Pumping Ltd. (“Reilly”), a concrete pumping company based in the U.K. The Reilly acquisition provides Camfaud with a more
comprehensive footprint across the U.K., allowing the company to provide its diverse customer base with a truly national service offering
on major infrastructure and commercial projects. Reilly’s mobile pump fleet totaled 45 pumps as of October 31, 2018.

 
The aggregate purchase price for Camfaud (formerly known as Oxford) was approximately $56.0 million excluding transaction

fees and expenses, which was paid through the issuance of an additional $40.0 million of Senior Secured Notes, $6.0 million of seller notes
with an annual paid-in-kind interest rate of 5.0%, and the remainder drawn on a new £22.5 million credit facility (“U.K. Credit Facility”)
secured by the working capital assets of Oxford and its subsidiaries. Wells Fargo Capital Finance U.K. Ltd was the lender on the U.K.
Credit Facility. Terms of the Oxford Acquisitions included additional contingent consideration based on Oxford and its subsidiaries
generating a minimum level average EBITDA over a three-year period following the acquisition date. The maximum contingent
consideration payout of £2.5 million was based on the Oxford Acquisitions generating at least £11.3 million of annual average EBITDA
for the three years following the closing. The fair value of the contingent consideration was £1.1 million as of October 31, 2018.

 
On July 3, 2017, Camfaud completed the stock acquisition of Reilly Concrete Pumping Ltd (“Reilly”). The aggregate purchase

price was approximately $13.2 million excluding transaction fees and expenses, which was paid through the issuance of a £1.5 million GBP
seller note with an annual paid-in-kind interest rate of 5.0% and the remainder drawn on the U.K. Credit Facility.
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Concrete Waste Management Services — Eco-Pan (“Eco-Pan”)
 

Eco-Pan’s services help its customers to comply with environmental regulations, avoid fines and reduce compliance costs. Eco-
Pan currently operates solely in the United States. In August 2014, CPH acquired Eco-Pan. Eco-Pan is a route-based solution that operates
60 trucks and more than 5,200 custom metal pans servicing construction sites from 13 locations in the U.S. as of October 31, 2018. Eco-
Pan charges a round-trip delivery fee and weekly or monthly rental rate for its pans, which provides a turn-key solution to the customer
compared to the alternative of bagging the waste concrete, pouring it into an on-site lined pit, or disposing of it into trash dumpsters and
arranging for a pick-up. Eco-Pan delivers watertight pans to job sites to collect concrete washwater, and picks up the pans to deliver to
recycling centers, passing disposal fees onto the customer. To the extent that pans are held at the job site for an extended number of days or
irregular waste is found in the pan, Eco-Pan charges incremental fees. Eco-Pan’s trucks are designed to allow for the pick-up and re-
delivery of multiple pans, leading to significant incremental efficiencies as “route densities” increase. CPH believes that Eco-Pan is highly
complementary to Brundage-Bone, as customers’ decision makers for purchasing concrete pumping services also typically handle the
disposal of waste concrete. Currently, Eco-Pan operates in twelve of the 22 major markets that Brundage-Bone serves, providing additional
growth opportunities from rolling out Eco-Pan in the other Brundage-Bone geographies. CPH also believe that cross selling of Eco-Pan
services to Brundage-Bone’s customers is a substantial revenue growth opportunity for the combined company. The combination of the
two businesses also presents the opportunity for cost-saving synergies, as in some cases the Brundage-Bone and Eco-Pan fleets can be co-
located at the same facilities, serviced by a common set of mechanics, administered by the same office staff and marketed by the same
salespeople, while increasing “route densities” for pan pick-ups and deliveries.
 
Reportable Segment Performance
 

CPH reports its financial performance based on the following segments: US Concrete Pumping — Brundage Bone, UK Concrete
Pumping — Camfaud and Concrete Waste Management Services — Eco-Pan. The segment financials included in this MD&A are
presented on a basis consistent with CPH’s internal management reporting. Any differences between CPH’s internal management reporting
and its consolidated financial results are related to certain corporate-level and other activity that are not allocated to the various segments in
the evaluation of financial performance. These are reflected as Corporate in the subsequent reportable segment financial performance
discussion.
 
Results of Operations
 
Revenue
 

CPH generates revenue from Brundage-Bone, Camfaud, and Eco-Pan businesses each of which are described below:
 
U.S. Concrete Pumping — Brundage-Bone: Revenue consists primarily of fees charged to customers for concrete pumping

services and parts Brundage-Bone sells to other concrete pumping companies. Brundage-Bone charges customers a rate based on the hours
the equipment is deployed on jobs, yards of concrete pumped and surcharges (such as for fuel) when appropriate. As Brundage-Bone never
takes ownership of the concrete, Brundage-Bone is not responsible for billing the customers for the material that Brundage-Bone pumps on
jobsites. The customer sources this separately. Brundage-Bone bills solely for services when rendered and is not subject to percentage of
completion accounting for any of its revenues. Brundage-Bone has experienced minimal bad debt expense, averaging less than 1% of
revenue on an annual basis.
 

U.K. Concrete Pumping — Camfaud: Revenue consists primarily of fees charged to customers for concrete pumping services.
Camfaud’s mobile concrete pumping business is very similar to that of Brundage-Bone. Camfaud’s static concrete pumping business either
entails Camfaud providing pumping service utilizing static line pumps with an accompanied operator, or renting out the static pumping
equipment without an operator.
 

Mobile equipment is charged to customers under a minimum hire rate. This is typically based on a minimum hire period of
between 5 hours and 8 hours. An additional charge to the customer is made in accordance with agreed fees when the customer exceeds the
minimum hire period. Static equipment is charged to customers based on a minimum weekly (or fortnightly) hire. The static equipment is
typically charged to customers over a minimum period of one week due to the small size of the equipment provided.
 

As Camfaud never takes ownership of the concrete, Camfaud is not responsible for billing the customers for the material that
Camfaud pumps on jobsites. The customer sources this separately. Camfaud invoices solely for services when rendered and is not subject
to percentage of completion accounting for any of its revenues. Camfaud has experienced minimal bad debt expense, averaging less than
1% of revenue on an annual basis.
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Concrete Waste Management Services — Eco-Pan: Revenue primarily consists of fees charged to customers for the delivery of

pans and containers to jobsites and the disposal of the concrete waste material. Eco-Pan charges customers a delivery fee and a service fee
for the use of Eco-Pan’s proprietary pans and containers, disposal fees for the disposal of the concrete waste material, and a fuel surcharge.
Eco-Pan bills for services when rendered. Eco-Pan also charges additional fees for material placed in the pans and containers that does not
conform to Eco-Pan’s requirements, pans that are damaged by the customer, and for pans and containers that are kept by customers beyond
the agreed initial rental period.
 
Cost of Operations
 
U.S. Concrete Pumping — Brundage-Bone
 

Brundage-Bone’s cost of operations consists primarily of wages and benefits for concrete pump operators and mechanics, parts,
repair and maintenance, fuel, insurance and depreciation.
 

Wages and benefits: approximately 45% to 48% of Brundage-Bone’s total cost of operations represents hourly wages paid to pump
operators and maintenance personnel, incentive bonuses, plus union fees and payroll taxes that are costs of operations driven by both hours
billed to customers and the hourly wage rate paid to Brundage-Bone’s employees.

 
Parts, repairs and maintenance: approximately 17% to 19% of Brundage-Bone’s total cost of operations represents the costs for

outside repair and maintenance on equipment, and parts and supplies that are used in repairing and maintaining Brundage-Bone’s fleet.
These items are driven by fleet size and the age and the utilization levels of Brundage-Bone’s rolling stock equipment.
 

Fuel costs: approximately 9% of Brundage-Bone’s total cost of operations reflects fuel costs incurred through the round-trip transit
to jobsites and from powering, the pumping of concrete through specialized equipment. The impact of fuel price changes on Brundage-
Bone’s operating performance is mitigated to the extent Brundage-Bone is able to pass through fuel charges to customers pursuant to
agreed arrangements, although the changes in amounts paid by customers tend to lag behind increasing fuel price changes. Brundage-Bone
maintains these pass-through arrangements on a substantial majority of its jobs.
 

Insurance costs: approximately 6% of Brundage-Bone’s total cost of operations includes property, casualty, liability, and worker’s
compensation and health insurance premiums. These expenses are variable within Brundage-Bone’s cost of operations and scale with
revenues, fleet count and aggregate employment levels. Brundage-Bone is self-insured up to an agreed deductible on some policies, and has
established reserves for estimated claims incurred but not reported.
 

Depreciation: approximately 13% to 18% of Brundage-Bone’s total cost of operations reflects the depreciation on the rolling stock
fleet. Other costs of operations include licenses and permit costs, freight, equipment movement and other costs of operations that are driven
by employment and fleet utilization levels.
 
U.K. Concrete Pumping — Camfaud
 

Camfaud’s cost of operations consists primarily of wages and benefits for concrete pump operators and mechanics, parts, repair
and maintenance, fuel, insurance and depreciation.
 

Wages and benefits: approximately 52% to 53% of Camfaud’s total costs of operations represents hourly wages paid to pump
operators and maintenance personnel, plus payroll taxes and pension contributions. Operators are paid an hourly rate based on a contractual
minimum 40-hour week. Operators are incentivized to supplement their hourly rate through discretionary performance bonuses, which are
awarded by securing targets such as safety, attendance and maintenance of pump equipment. CPH believes this structure encourages good
team morale and low employee turnover.
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Parts, repairs and maintenance: approximately 14% to 17% of Camfaud’s total cost of operations represents the costs for outside

repair and maintenance on Camfaud’s equipment, and consumable parts and supplies that are used in repairing and maintaining Camfaud’s
fleet.
 

Fuel: approximately 8% to 10% of Camfaud’s total operations is driven by the deployment levels of Camfaud’s fleet, as well as
the cost per gallon of diesel fuel. Camfaud incurs fuel costs through the round-trip transit to jobsites and from powering the pumping of
concrete through specialized equipment. Camfaud fuels most trucks at Camfaud’s depot locations, which are secured by formal (and
informal) rental agreements in areas throughout the U.K. The impact of increasing fuel price changes on Camfaud’s operating performance
is mitigated to the extent Camfaud is able to pass through fuel charges to customers pursuant to agreed arrangements, although the changes
in amounts paid by customers tend to lag behind increasing fuel price changes. Camfaud maintains these pass-through arrangements on a
substantial majority of its jobs.
 

Insurance costs: approximately 3% of Camfaud’s total cost of operations includes property, casualty, liability, and worker’s
compensation and health insurance premiums. These expenses are variable within Camfaud’s cost of operations and scale with revenues,
fleet count and aggregate employment levels. Camfaud is self-insured up to an agreed deductible on certain policies.
 

Depreciation: approximately 13% to 18% of Camfaud’s total cost of operations reflects the depreciation on the rolling stock fleet.
Other costs of operations include licenses and permit costs, freight, equipment movement and other costs of operations that are driven by
employment and fleet utilization levels.
 
Concrete Waste Management Services — Eco-Pan
 

Eco-Pan’s cost of operations consists primarily of wages for truck operators, parts, repair and maintenance, fuel, insurance,
disposal fees, and depreciation.
 

Wages and benefits: approximately 41% to 43% of Eco-Pan’s total cost of operations represents hourly wages, incentive bonuses,
payroll taxes, benefits, and health insurance for truck operators and maintenance personnel.
 

Parts, repairs and maintenance: approximately 14% to 16% of Eco-Pan’s total cost of operations represents the costs for parts,
supplies, outside repairs and maintenance used to maintain Eco-Pan’s fleet of trucks.
 

Fuel cost: approximately 9% to 11% of Eco-Pan’s total cost of operations represent fuel used in Eco-Pan’s trucks. Eco-Pan incurs
fuel costs through round-trip travel to deliver and pick-up pans and containers. Eco-Pan’s trucks return to Eco-Pan’s home yard every
evening. Eco-Pan charges fuel surcharges to customers, thereby mitigating the impact of rising fuel prices. Eco-Pan’s trucks fuel at off-site
commercial fueling stations.
 

Depreciation: approximately 8% to 11% of Eco-Pan’s total cost of operations reflects the depreciation of Eco-Pan’s fleet of trucks
used of deliver and pick-up pans and containers.
 

Disposal fees: approximately 10% of Eco-Pan’s total cost of operations represents costs incurred when Eco-Pan disposes of the
material in pans and containers at approved disposal sites. Eco-Pan passes these fees through pricing to Eco-Pan’s customers.
 

Insurance costs: approximately 9% to 10% of Eco-Pan’s total cost of operations includes commercial insurance and health
insurance expenses. Eco-Pan’s health insurance plan is under the same structure as Brundage-Bone’s plan. Other costs of operations
include miscellaneous taxes, license, and permit costs.
 
General and Administrative:
 

CPH’s general and administrative costs include fixed costs related primarily to salaries and benefits for corporate personnel,
branch management and administrative staff, expenses related to auto leases, depreciation and amortization costs on non-pumping assets,
pickup trucks and office equipment, and other fixed costs related to operations including but not limited to rent and other fixed overhead
expenses. These expenses also include accounting, legal and other professional service fees, facility costs, and bad debt expenses. CPH
expects to continue to invest in corporate infrastructure and incur further expenses related to being a public company, including increased
accounting and legal costs, investor relations costs, increased insurance premiums and other compliance costs associated with Section 404
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. As a result, CPH anticipates that general and administrative expenses will increase in future periods.
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Provision for Income Taxes
 

Provision for income taxes consists primarily of federal and state income taxes in the United States and income taxes in foreign
jurisdictions in which CPH conducts business.
 
EBITDA
 

CPH’s consolidated and segment EBITDA is calculated as Net income before subtracting Income tax expense (benefit),
Depreciation and amortization, and Interest expense (income). Please refer to Note 17 Segment Reporting in the financial statements for the
components of the aforementioned items by segment. Consolidated EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure and should not be
considered in isolation or as a substitute for performance measures calculated under GAAP (See “Non-GAAP Measures (Consolidated
EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA)” below).
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Comparison of the Years Ended October 31, 2018 and October 31, 2017
 
Revenue  Year Ended October 31,   2017 to 2018  
  2018   2017   $ Change   % Change  
Statement of operations information:             
U.S. Concrete Pumping - Brundage-Bone  $ 164,305,836  $ 151,194,931  $ 13,110,905   8.7%
U.K. Concrete Pumping - Camfaud   50,448,085   36,433,763   14,014,322   38.5%
Concrete Waste Management Services - Eco-Pan   28,469,346   23,581,905   4,887,441   20.7%
Revenue  $ 243,223,267  $ 211,210,599  $ 32,012,668   15.2%
 
U.S. Concrete Pumping — Brundage-Bone
 

Brundage-Bone revenue totaled approximately $164.3 million for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2018 compared to $151.2
million in the 2017 comparative period, representing an increase of 8.7%. The increase in revenue in 2018 was largely due to positive
construction momentum in the first half of the year primarily in the West and Central regions in the U.S. Several markets in the West
Region had more favorable winter conditions in the 2018 period as compared to the 2017 comparative period.
 

West region revenue increased due to contributions from operations in Washington and Oregon which increased by 29.6% or $3.6
million and 9.9% or $1.2 million, respectively, during the year ended October 31, 2018 as compared to the 2017 comparative period
primarily due to a 29.1% or $3.6 million and 5.8% or $1.2 million increase in billed hours, respectively, due to favorable weather
conditions. These higher levels of operational activity in the West region were partially offset by 17.6% lower billed hour volume in
California and a $1.1 million revenue decrease due to lower levels of pumping activity. The California revenue decrease is attributable to
heavy snow and rainfall during the year ended October 31, 2018 as compared to the 2017 comparative period slowing down overall
construction activity.
 

Central region revenue increased by 20.2% or $6.0 million during the year ended October 31, 2018 as compared to the 2017
comparative period. The Central region was positively impacted by healthy growth in the energy sector primarily in West Texas. West
Texas revenue increased by 28.8% or $1.4 million during the year ended October 31, 2018 as compared to the comparable 2017 period.
Further, revenue increased by $5.2 million or 27.6% in Colorado. The increase in revenue is due primarily to the O’Brien acquisition
whereby CPH acquired additional presence in the Colorado market with the aforementioned acquisition which translated to a revenue
increase for the year ended October 31, 2018 as compared to the 2017 period. The revenue increases in West Texas were partially offset by
a revenue decrease of 8.5% or $0.5 million in Wichita, Kansas due to harsh weather conditions during the year ended October 31, 2018 as
compared to the 2017 comparative period.
 

The Mountain and Southeast regions were consistent with revenue increases of 10.1% or $2.5 million and 10.1% or $2.7 million,
respectively.
 

The South region experienced a decrease in revenue attributable to the Houston branch where revenue decreased by 22.0% or $1.7
million during the year ended October 31, 2018 as compared to the 2017 comparative period. The decrease in Houston was due to the
overall impact of Hurricane Harvey whereby it took several months of disaster clean up and repairs to take place before the Houston
economy was able to fully recover.
 

Parts revenue totaled $3.1 million for the years ended October 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
 
U.K. Concrete Pumping — Camfaud
 

Camfaud revenue totaled approximately $50.4 million in the year ended October31, 2018 compared to $36.4 million in the
comparable 2017 period representing an increase of 38.5% This increase was primarily driven by incremental revenue from the Reilly
acquisition and the inclusion of financial operating results for a full year of operations as opposed to the comparable prior period which had
15 fewer operating days. These two factors were responsible for contributions of $8.4 million to the Camfaud revenue total.
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The remaining $5.6 million of growth is attributed to an increasing market share in the United Kingdom. Camfaud revenue is

consistently split with approximately 80% of total revenues generated from the mobile pumping business and 20% generated from the static
pumping business.
 
Concrete Waste Management Services — Eco-Pan
 

Eco-Pan revenue totaled $28.5 million for the year ended October 31, 2018 compared to $23.6 million in the 2017 comparative
period, representing an increase of 20.7% or $4.9 million. Eco-Pan continues to experience strong growth in the adoption of its route-based
environmental disposal service, as market demand for a premier concrete washout recycling solution continues to grow. The growth in Eco-
Pan demand is driven by two primary factors: 1) Construction industry general contractors and other customers realizing that Eco-Pan is a
cost effective and environmentally compliant alternative compared to legacy industry solutions and 2) significantly higher enforcement,
fines and penalties levied by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and state authorities for violations of the Clean Water Act. As a
result, Eco-Pan has been able to secure more market share and drive a substantial volume of growth.
 

Eco-Pan’s largest markets are generally in the Western region of the U.S. Revenue increased in Utah by 33.3% or $0.9 million
during the year ended October 31, 2018 as compared to the comparable 2017 period. Revenue in Washington increased by 18.9% or $1.0
million during the year ended October 31, 2018 as compared to the comparable 2017 period. Revenue in California increased by 14.7% or
$0.7 million during the year ended October 31, 2018 as compared to the 2017 comparative period. Revenue in Idaho increased 45.7% or
$0.2 million. Revenue in Colorado increased by 4.4% or $0.2 million during the year ended October 31, 2018 as compared to the 2017
comparative period. Revenue in Texas increased by 52.2% or $0.9 million. The remaining increase in revenue was attributable to the
various other markets in which Eco-Pan conducts business. Only a single Eco-Pan market (Oklahoma) experienced a substantial decrease in
revenue of greater than 5% during the year ended October 31, 2018 as compared to the comparable 2017 period. Revenue in Oklahoma
decreased 14.0% which was an immaterial decrease on a per dollar basis.
 
Cost of Operations  Year Ended October 31,   2017 to 2018  
  2018   2017   $ Change   % Change  
Statement of operations information:             
U.S. Concrete Pumping - Brundage-Bone  $ 96,609,167  $ 90,821,087  $ 5,788,080   6.4%
U.K. Concrete Pumping - Camfaud   29,382,548   22,257,111   7,125,437   32.0%
Concrete Waste Management Services - Eco-Pan   10,885,165   8,373,301   2,511,864   30.0%
Cost of Operations  $ 136,876,880  $ 121,451,499  $ 15,425,381   12.7%
 
U.S. Concrete Pumping — Brundage-Bone
 

Brundage-Bone’s costs of operations were $96.6 million for the year ended October 31, 2018 compared to $90.8 million for 2017
the comparative period, representing an increase of $5.8 million, or 6.4%. Costs of operations included depreciation expense of $12.0
million (or 12.4% of total cost of operations), and $15.0 million (or 16.5% of total cost of operations), for the years ended October 31, 2018
and October 31, 2017, respectively. The $3.0 million decrease in depreciation expenses was a result of several assets becoming fully
depreciated before or during the year ended October 31, 2018. Total cost of operations as a percentage of revenue decreased from 60.1%
for the year ended October 31, 2017 to 58.8% in the comparable period in fiscal 2018.
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Wages, payroll taxes, union fees and benefits, totaling $45.9 million, represented 27.9% of revenue for the year ended October 31,

2018, compared with $40.9 million or 27.0% of revenue for the comparable period in fiscal 2017. Fuel costs increased by $2.0 million or
4.4% of revenue to 5.3% of revenue for the year ended October 31, 2018. Parts repair and maintenance costs, totaling $17.0 million,
represented 10.4% of revenue for the year ended October 31, 2018, compared to $16.8 million or 11.1% of revenue in the comparable
period in fiscal 2017. Commercial and health insurance costs were 3.5% and 3.4% of revenue in the years ended October 31, 2018 and
2017, respectively.

 
U.K. Concrete Pumping — Camfaud
 

Camfaud’s cost of operations consists primarily of wages and benefits for concrete pump operators and mechanics, parts, repair
and maintenance, fuel, insurance and depreciation. Camfaud’s cost of operations was $29.4 million for the year ended October 31, 2018,
compared to $22.3 million for the comparable period in fiscal 2017, representing an increase of $7.1 million, or 32.0%. This difference was
primarily driven by the inclusion of the entire acquired component businesses of Camfaud and Reilly within the year ended October 31,
2018 versus the comparable period in the prior year.
 

Wages and benefits represented approximately $15.8 million or 31.2% of revenue for the year ended October 31, 2018, compared
to $11.5 million or 31.6% of revenue for the year ended October 31, 2017. Parts, repairs and maintenance represented approximately 8.5%
and 10.1% of revenue for the years ended October 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, and represents the costs for outside repairs and
maintenance, and consumable parts and supplies that are used in repairing and maintaining Camfaud’s fleet. Parts, repairs and maintenance
costs for year ended of October 31, 2018 were $4.3 million compared to $3.7 million for the year ended October 31, 2017. For the years
ended October 31, 2018 and 2017, fuel represented approximately $2.9 million or 5.7% of revenue and $2.0 million or 5.6%, respectively.
Fuel is an expense that is driven by the deployment levels of Camfaud’s fleet, as well as the cost per gallon of diesel fuel. Depreciation
approximated $3.6 million and $2.8 million or 7.1% and 7.8% of revenue for the years ended October 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, and
represents the depreciation of the rolling stock fleet.
 
Concrete Waste Management Services — Eco-Pan
 

Eco-Pan’s cost of operations was $10.9 million for the year ended October 31, 2018, compared to $8.4 million for the same
period in fiscal 2017, representing an increase of $2.5 million, or 30.0%. The increase in cost of operations is consistent with the higher
volume of sales for the period. Depreciation expense on Eco-Pan’s fleet of service trucks for the year ended October 31, 2018 totaled $0.9
million as compared to $0.8 million in the same period in fiscal 2017.
 

Wages, payroll taxes, union fees and benefits, totaling $4.7 million, represented 16.3% of revenue for the year ended October 31,
2018, compared with $3.6 million or 15.4% of revenue for the comparable period in fiscal 2017. Fuel costs increased by $0.4 million or
0.8% of revenue for the year ended October 31, 2018 as compared to $0.8 million for the prior period. Parts repair and maintenance costs,
totaling $1.5 million, represented 5.3% of revenue for the year ended October 31, 2018, compared to $1.3 million or 5.6% of revenue in the
comparable period in fiscal 2017. Disposal fees were approximately $1.0 million, or approximately 3.6% of revenue, which was consistent
in the comparative reporting periods of both 2018 and 2017.
 
Gross Profit  Year Ended October 31,   2017 to 2018  
  2018   2017   $ Change   % Change  
Statement of operations information:                 
U.S. Concrete Pumping - Brundage-Bone  $ 67,696,669  $ 60,373,844  $ 7,322,825   12.1%
U.K. Concrete Pumping - Camfaud   21,065,537   14,176,652   6,888,885   48.6%
Concrete Waste Management Services - Eco-Pan   17,584,181   15,208,604   2,375,577   15.6%
Gross Profit  $ 106,346,387  $ 89,759,100  $ 16,587,287   18.5%
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U.S. Concrete Pumping — Brundage-Bone
 

Brundage-Bone’s gross profit increased by $7.3 million representing a 12.1% increase in gross profit margin to 41.2% of revenue
for the year ended October 31, 2018 compared to 39.9% for the comparative period in fiscal 2017, consistent with the changes in revenue
and cost of operations as noted above. The improvement in profitability was due primarily to lower depreciation expense and higher
utilization rates in the 2018 period in comparison to the comparable 2017 period.
 
U.K. Concrete Pumping — Camfaud
 

Camfaud’s gross profit increased by $6.9 million or 48.6% to 41.8% of revenue for the year ended October 31, 2018 compared to
38.9% for the comparative period in fiscal 2017, consistent with the changes in revenue and cost of operations as noted above. The primary
driver of this movement was the dollar increase in wages and benefits, fuel costs, fleet repairs and depreciation expense as noted above.
 
Concrete Waste Management Services — Eco-Pan
 

Eco-Pan’s gross profit increased by $2.4 million or 15.6% to 61.8% of revenue for the year ended October 31, 2018 compared to
64.5% of revenue in the comparative period in fiscal 2017, consistent with the changes in revenue and cost of operations as noted above.
The decline in margin period over period was due to higher percentage increases in wages for the year ended October 31, 2018 versus the
comparable period in 2017.
 
General and Administrative Expenses  Year Ended October 31,   2017 to 2018  
  2018   2017   $ Change   % Change  
Statement of operations information:                 
U.S. Concrete Pumping - Brundage-Bone  $ 40,201,822  $ 36,707,978  $ 3,493,844   9.5%
U.K. Concrete Pumping - Camfaud   13,371,452   9,799,143   3,572,309   36.5%
Concrete Waste Management Services - Eco-Pan   7,334,117   7,635,512   (301,395)   -3.9%
Corporate   (2,118,375)   (1,277,723)   (840,652)   65.8%
General and Administrative Expenses  $ 58,789,016  $ 52,864,910  $ 5,924,106   11.2%
 
Transaction Costs  Year Ended October 31,   2017 to 2018  
  2018   2017   $ Change   % Change  
Statement of operations information:                 
U.S. Concrete Pumping - Brundage-Bone  $ 7,589,825  $ 4,489,517  $ 3,100,308   69.1%
U.K. Concrete Pumping - Camfaud   -   -   -   - 
Concrete Waste Management Services - Eco-Pan   -   -   -   - 
Transaction Costs  $ 7,589,825  $ 4,489,517  $ 3,100,308   69.1%
 
U.S. Concrete Pumping — Brundage-Bone
 

General and administrative expenses were $40.2 million for the year ended October 31, 2018 compared to $36.7 million for the
comparative period ended in fiscal 2017, representing an increase of $3.5 million. General and administrative expenses included
depreciation and amortization expense of $3.2 million and $3.3 million for the years ended October 31, 2018, and October 31, 2017,
respectively. Depreciation expense was flat from period to period. Amortization expense was flat for the year ended October 31, 2018 as
compared to the comparative period ended in fiscal 2017 due to new amortization expense attributable to the O’Brien acquisition that offset
expected decreases in amortization expense due to continued amortization of existing intangibles. Included in general and administrative
expenses were $2.5 million and $1.6 million of property rent paid to a related company and $4.3 million and $0.7 million of management
fees paid to Brundage-Bone’s primary shareholder for the years ended October 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Wages and benefits
increased by $0.7 million or 4.2% to 11.1% of revenue for the year ended October 31, 2018. This increase was primarily due to increases in
bonus compensation offset by decreases in stock option compensation. Increases in management fees for the year ended October 31, 2018
were partially offset by decreases in other general and administrative expenses during the same period including decreases on automotive
expenses, increases on gains for the sale of assets, use taxes and other miscellaneous expenses.
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Transaction costs totaled $7.6 million in the year ended October 31, 2018, and primarily related to the cost associated with the

potential acquisition of CPH by the Company and the O’Brien asset purchase completed on April 20, 2018. These costs compared to $4.5
million in the comparative period in fiscal 2017 that related to the Camfaud acquisition. Transaction costs represented expenses for legal,
accounting, and other professionals that were engaged in the completion of the purchase and sale of CPH.
 
U.K. Concrete Pumping — Camfaud
 

Camfaud’s general and administrative costs for the year ended October 31, 2018 of $13.4 million were 36.5% higher than in the
comparative period in fiscal 2017, largely due to the impact of fair value adjustments on the earn-out liability associated with the Camfaud
acquisition and the Reilly acquisitions and increased amortization expense. The earn-out liability contributed approximately $0.5 million of
expense for the period ended October 31, 2018 as compared to the comparable period in fiscal 2017. General and administrative costs
included fixed costs related primarily to wages and benefits for administrative personnel and other fixed costs related to Camfaud’s
operations.
 
Concrete Waste Management Services — Eco-Pan
 

Eco-Pan’s general and administrative expenses were $7.3 million for the year ended October 31, 2018, compared to $7.6 million
for the comparative period in fiscal 2017, representing a decrease of 3.9% or $0.3 million. General and administrative expenses included
depreciation and amortization expense of approximately $1.2 million and $1.5 million for the years ended October 31, 2018 and October
31, 2017, respectively. Wages and benefits in general and administrative expenses increased by approximately $0.1 million in the year
ended October 31, 2018, as Eco-Pan invested in additional sales personnel.
 
Corporate
 

General and administrative expenses were ($2.1) million for the year ended October 31, 2018, compared to ($1.3) million for the
comparative period in fiscal 2017, representing a change of 66% or $0.8 million. These amounts relate to the elimination of intercompany
rent expense. There was a $0.8 million increase in intercompany rental expense. This increase was due to a rental rate increase that went
into effect in September 2017 that has been reflected in the year ended October 31, 2018.

 
Income from operations  Year Ended October 31,   2017 to 2018  
  2018   2017   $ Change   % Change  
Statement of operations information:                 
U.S. Concrete Pumping - Brundage-Bone  $ 19,905,022  $ 19,176,349  $ 728,673   3.8%
U.K. Concrete Pumping - Camfaud   7,694,085   4,377,509   3,316,576   75.8%
Concrete Waste Management Services - Eco-Pan   10,250,064   7,573,091   2,676,973   35.3%
Corporate   2,118,375   1,277,723   840,652   65.8%
Income from operations  $ 39,967,546  $ 32,404,673  $ 7,562,873   23.3%
 
U.S. Concrete Pumping — Brundage-Bone
 

As a result of the factors discussed above, income from operations was $19.9 million for the year ended October 31, 2018,
compared to $19.2 million for the comparative period in fiscal 2017, representing an increase of $0.7 million, or approximately 3.8%. The
2018 period included higher transaction costs as previously described due to the acquisition of CPH by the Company and the O’Brien asset
purchase. This accounted for approximately $3.1 million of the charge against income from operations of the year ended October 31, 2018
as compared to the comparable period in fiscal 2017. The additional charge against income as described above was due to increases
management fees paid and higher wages and benefits expense. Improvement in income from operations was due to the effect of increased
gains on the sale of property, plant and equipment of $1.4 million for the year ended October 31, 2018.
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The remaining increase in operating income was related to higher utilization and improved profitability as described in previous

sections.
 
U.K. Concrete Pumping — Camfaud
 

Income from operations increased by approximately 75.8% to $7.7 million in the year ended October 31, 2018 compared to $4.4
million in the comparative period in fiscal 2017. Operating margin increased to 15.3% compared with 12.0% in the comparable period in
fiscal 2017. The increase was due to increased revenue as a result of the Reilly acquisition while maintaining the same expense levels for
general and administrative costs in the year ended October 31, 2018.
 
Concrete Waste Management Services — Eco-Pan
 

Income from operations increased by approximately 35.3% to $10.3 million in the year ended October 31, 2018, compared to $7.6
million in the comparative period in fiscal 2017. Operating margin increased to 36.0%, compared with 32.1% in the comparable period in
fiscal 2017. The increase was due to higher volume of sales consistent gross profit margin and the ability to maintain stable general and
administrative costs, which contributed to the increased overall margin contribution.
 
Corporate
 

See discussion above regarding the elimination of intercompany rent expense.
 

Other (Expense) / Income  Year Ended October 31,   2017 to 2018  
  2018   2017   $ Change   % Change  
Statement of operations information:                 
U.S. Concrete Pumping - Brundage-Bone  $ (17,192,284)  $ (24,238,203)  $ 7,045,919   -29.1%
U.K. Concrete Pumping - Camfaud   (4,172,959)   (3,521,397)   (651,562)   18.5%
Concrete Waste Management Services - Eco-Pan   (1,023)   24,864   (25,887)   -104.1%
Corporate   (3,558)   -   -   - 
Other (Expense) / Income  $ (21,369,824)  $ (27,734,736)  $ 6,368,470   -23.0%
 

Other (Expense)/Income is comprised of interest expense, loss on debt extinguishment, and miscellaneous other income.
 
U.S. Concrete Pumping — Brundage-Bone
 

Interest expense was $17.2 million for the year ended October 31, 2018 compared to $24.2 million in the comparative period in
fiscal 2017, representing a decrease of $7.0 million. The decrease was due to two factors. The first was a decrease in the Company’s interest
expense due to the modification of its prior debt facilities in September 2017 that provided for lower interest rates for which the benefit was
picked up in fiscal year 2018. The other primary driver of the decrease in Other (Expense)/Income is due to $5.2 million of debt
extinguishment costs for the year ended October 31, 2017 that did not occur during the comparable period in fiscal 2018.
 
U.K. Concrete Pumping — Camfaud
 

Interest expense was $4.2 million for the year ended October 31, 2018 compared to $3.5 million in the comparative period in
fiscal 2017, representing an increase of $0.7 million. Interest expense also included approximately $0.4 million in connection with interest
accrued on Seller loan notes for the Camfaud and Reilly acquisitions accruing at 5% annually for the year ended October 31, 2018. The
increase in interest expense was related to the larger debt balance maintained by Camfaud.
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Concrete Waste Management Services — Eco-Pan
 

Interest expense was minimal for the years ended October 31, 2018 and October 31, 2017.
 
Corporate
 

The Corporate segment’s interest expense was minimal for the years ended October 31, 2018 and October 31, 2017.
 

 
Income Tax (Benefit) Expense  Year Ended October 31,   2017 to 2018  
  2018   2017   $ Change   % Change  
Statement of operations information:                 
U.S. Concrete Pumping - Brundage-Bone  $ (11,472,368)  $ 3,109,635  $ (14,582,003)   -468.9%
U.K. Concrete Pumping - Camfaud   502,974   245,424   257,550   104.9%
Concrete Waste Management Services - Eco-Pan   845,572   2,791,138   (1,945,566)   -69.7%
Corporate   339,702   (2,389,539)   2,729,241   -114.2%
Income Tax (Benefit) Expense  $ (9,784,120)  $ 3,756,658  $ (13,540,778)   -360.4%
 
U.S. Concrete Pumping — Brundage-Bone
 

Brundage-Bone’s estimate of income tax benefit for the year ended October 31, 2018 of $11.5 million increased by $14.6 million
compared to the income tax expense of $3.1 million in the comparable period in fiscal 2017, largely because of changes due to recent U.S.
tax reform. In December 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “2017 Tax Act”) was enacted. The 2017 Tax Act significantly revised the
U.S. corporate income tax regime by, among other things, lowering the U.S. corporate tax rate from 35 percent to 21 percent effective
January 1, 2018. In accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118, which provides SEC staff guidance for the application of ASC
Topic 740, the Company recognized the income tax effects of the 2017 Tax Act in its consolidated financial statements in the period the
2017 Tax Act was signed into law. As such, the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the period ended October 31, 2018 reflect
the income tax effects of the 2017 Tax Act for which the accounting is complete and provisional amounts for those specific income tax
effects for which the accounting is incomplete but a reasonable estimate could be determined.
 
U.K. Concrete Pumping — Camfaud
 

Camfaud’s estimate of income tax expense for the year ended October 31, 2018 of $0.5 million increased by $0.3 million
compared to income tax expense of $0.2 million in the comparable period in fiscal 2017, largely due to an increase in taxable income.
 
Concrete Waste Management Services — Eco-Pan
 

Eco-Pan’s estimate of income tax expense for the year ended October 31, 2018 of $0.8 million decreased by $1.9 million
compared to income tax expense of $2.8 million in the comparative period in fiscal 2017, largely because of changes due to recent U.S. tax
reform.
 
Corporate
 

The Corporate segment’s estimate of income tax expense was minimal for the year ended October 31, 2018. Estimated tax
expense increased from an income tax benefit of $2.4 million for the year ended October 31, 2017 to income tax expense of $0.3 million
for the year ended October 31, 2018.
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EBITDA  Year Ended October 31,   2017 to 2018  
  2018   2017   $ Change   % Change  
Statement of operations information:             
U.S. Concrete Pumping - Brundage-Bone  $ 34,966,513  $ 36,925,969  $ (1,959,456)   -5.3%
U.K. Concrete Pumping - Camfaud   15,753,598   10,827,292   4,926,306   45.5%
Concrete Waste Management Services - Eco-Pan   12,558,725   9,912,446   2,646,279   26.7%
Corporate   2,366,179   (3,093,897)   5,460,076   -176.5%
EBITDA  $ 65,645,015  $ 54,571,810  $ 11,073,205   20.3%
 
(1)       Please see “Non-GAAP Measures (EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA)” below.
 
U.S. Concrete Pumping — Brundage-Bone
 

Brundage-Bone’s EBITDA decreased by 5.3% or $2.0 million for the year ended October 31, 2018 as compared to the
comparable 2017 period. The change in EBITDA was due primarily to revenue and margin growth offset by increases to transaction costs
as compared to the prior fiscal year that eroded gains from revenue and margin growth. Changes in EBITDA were also due to the other
aforementioned factors above.
 
U.K. Concrete Pumping — Camfaud
 

Camfaud’s EBITDA increased by 45.5% or $4.9 million for the year ended October 31, 2018 as compared to the comparable 2017
period primarily due to a full period of earnings for the Camfaud and Reilly acquisitions due to the inclusion of all the acquired component
businesses of Camfaud versus only a partial contribution of such acquired businesses of Camfaud in the comparable fiscal 2017 period.
Further, the increases in EBITDA were due to increases in market share in the UK for the year ended October 31, 2018 as compared to the
comparable fiscal 2017 period.
 
Concrete Waste Management — Eco-Pan
 

Eco-Pan EBITDA increased by 26.7% or $2.6 million for the year ended October 31, 2018 as compared to the comparable 2017
period. The increase in EBITDA was primarily related to the revenue increase of $4.9 million combined with relatively stable gross profit
margin and slight increases in cost of operations and general and administrative costs.

 
Corporate
 

Corporate EBITDA increased by 176.5% or $5.5 million for the year ended October 31, 2018 as compared to the comparable
2017 period. The increase in EBITDA was primarily related to the increase in intercompany rent allocation.
 
Comparison of years ended October 31, 2017 and October 31, 2016
 
Revenue  Year Ended October 31,   2016 to 2017  
  2017   2016   $ Change   % Change  
Statement of operations information:                 
U.S. Concrete Pumping – Brundage-Bone  $ 151,194,931  $ 153,488,134  $ (2,293,203)   -1.5%
U.K. Concrete Pumping – Camfaud   36,433,763   —   36,433,763   — 
Concrete Waste Management Services – Eco-Pan   23,581,905   18,937,413   4,644,492   24.5%
Revenue  $ 211,210,599  $ 172,425,547  $ 38,785,052   22.5%
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U.S. Concrete Pumping — Brundage-Bone
 

Brundage-Bone revenue marginally decreased by 1.5% or $2.3 million to $151.2 million for the fiscal year ended October 31,
2017, compared to $153.5 million in the comparative period in 2016. The decrease was primarily a result of the slower than expected
recovery from severe winter weather influencing Brundage-Bone’s Washington, Idaho, Dallas and Wichita branches, in contrast to the
unseasonably mild winter experienced in the comparative period in fiscal 2016. The effects of the September 2017 hurricanes in Houston
and South Florida had an additional effect of delaying planned construction activity as these regions recovered from the impact of the
storms. The overall negative impact on revenue due to these storms during the year ended October 31, 2017 totaled approximately $4.0
million. Despite the challenges experienced in fiscal year 2017, Brundage-Bone continues to see a sustained level of construction volume in
both residential and commercial construction, with the outlook for infrastructure spending remaining relatively consistent, creating stable
demand for Brundage-Bone’s services. Pricing continues to improve in Brundage-Bone’s markets that have favorable supply and demand
fundamentals. Utah, Oregon, Oklahoma and California were Brundage-Bone’s strongest performing markets for the fiscal year ended
October 31, 2017. Despite Arizona and Austin markets experiencing higher levels of competition, Brundage-Bone is confident of
sustainable growth in these markets given their stable construction activity levels.

 
Revenue in the West region decreased by 1.9% or $0.7 million with Oregon experiencing an increase in revenue of 4.8% or $0.5

million. This increase was offset by decreases in revenue in California and Washington of 4.4% or $0.5 million and 5.5% or $0.7 million,
respectively, due to unseasonably colder weather during the year ended October 31, 2017 as compared to the comparable fiscal 2016
period.

 
Revenue in the South region decreased by 6.8% or $2.3 million with Dallas and Houston markets resulting in a revenue decrease

of 17.6% or $2.2 million and 8.7% or $0.7 million, respectively. The decreases in revenue for Dallas and Houston were related to harsh
winter weather conditions in Dallas and the hurricane impact. These decreases were offset by revenue increases in Austin of 8.9% or $0.5
million due to continued expansion and increased volume of business in this market.

 
Revenue in the Central region decreased by 6.1% or $1.9 million attributable to severe winter weather in Wichita and Colorado

with decreases of 18.5% or $1.4 million and 2.8% or $0.5 million, respectively. As previously mentioned, severe weather impacted the
results for Wichita, while Colorado had slightly more favorable weather conditions during the 2016 comparable period.

 
Revenue in the Southeast region increased by 5.4% overall or $1.4 million. Strong markets such as Charleston and Knoxville

experienced revenue growth of 29.7% or $0.8 million and 55.9% or $1.0 million, respectively. Birmingham was opened during the 2017
fiscal year and contributed an additional $1.6 million in revenue to the Southeast region results. However, these increases in revenue were
substantially offset by hurricane impacts in South Florida, which impacted nearby markets such Atlanta, Georgia and Greenville, South
Carolina which resulted in revenues decreases of 9.7% or $1.1 million and 41.2% or $1.2 million as compared to the comparable fiscal
2016 period.

 
Revenue in the Mountain region increased by 5.4% or $1.3 million. The Utah market experienced sustained growth of 20.5% or

$2.3 million during the year ended October 31, 2017 as compared to the comparable 2016 period. The increase in Utah is attributable to
larger volumes overall. These gains were offset by lower results in Arizona and Idaho with decreases of 14.2% or $0.7 million and 4.7% or
$0.3 million respectively.
 
U.K. Concrete Pumping — Camfaud
 

Camfaud revenue totaled approximately $36.4 million in the fiscal year ended October 31, 2017. The revenue split between
mobile pumping and static pumping was approximately 70% and 30% during both periods. Given the acquisition of Camfaud by CPH
occurred on November 17, 2016, Camfaud’s results were not included in the fiscal year 2016 reporting period.
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Concrete Waste Management Services — Eco-Pan
 

Revenue increased to $23.6 million for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2017 compared to $18.9 million for the fiscal year 2016,
representing an increase of approximately $4.6 million, or 24.5%. The increase was primarily due to increasing demand for Eco-Pan’s
services in Eco-Pan’s primary markets of Washington, Oregon, California, Utah, and Colorado. These regions combined generated an
increase of $3.3 million or 71.4% of Eco-Pan’s overall growth. There was a partial offset to this demand growth due to harsh weather
experienced in early 2017, which limited Eco-Pan pick-ups in certain locations such as California and Washington. After Eco-Pan was
purchased by CPH in 2014, Eco-Pan added additional operations in Oklahoma City, Austin, and Atlanta, which continue to experience
growth contributing an additional $0.9 million of combined revenue during the year ended October 31, 2017 as compared to the
comparable fiscal 2016 period. In May 2017, Eco-Pan opened a new location in Maryland primarily to service the Washington DC and
Baltimore markets. The impact to revenue during the year ended October 31, 2017 were minimal given the relative short time the new
branch had been operating. Additionally, Eco-Pan continues to incrementally increase the prices Eco-Pan charges for services in markets
where supply and demand fundamentals allow.

 
Eco-Pan’s largest markets are generally in the Western region of the U.S. Revenue increased in Utah by 64.4% or $1.1 million

during the year ended October 31, 2017 as compared to the comparable fiscal 2016 period. Revenue in Washington increased by 8.4% or
$0.4 million during the year ended October 31, 2017 as compared to the comparable fiscal 2016 period. Revenue in California increased by
13.6% or $0.6 million during the year ended October 31, 2017 as compared to the comparable fiscal 2016 period. Revenue in Colorado
increased by 15.9% or $0.8 million during the year ended October 31, 2017 as compared to the comparable fiscal 2016 period. The
remaining increase in revenue was attributable to the various other markets in which Eco-Pan operates. No single market experienced a
substantial decrease in revenue of 5% or greater during the year ended October 31, 2017 as compared to the comparable 2016 period.

 
Cost of Operations  Year Ended October 31,   2016 to 2017  
  2017   2016   $ Change   % Change  
Statement of operations information:                 
U.S. Concrete Pumping – Brundage-Bone  $ 90,821,087  $ 90,299,297  $ 521,790   0.6%
U.K. Concrete Pumping – Camfaud   22,257,111   —   22,257,111   — 
Concrete Waste Management Services – Eco-Pan   8,373,301   6,942,476   1,430,825   20.6%
Cost of Operations  $ 121,451,499  $ 97,241,773  $ 24,209,726   24.9%
 
U.S. Concrete Pumping — Brundage-Bone
 

Brundage-Bone’s cost of operations was $90.8 million for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2017 compared to $90.3 million for
the fiscal year 2016, representing an increase of $0.5 million, or 0.6%. Total cost of operations as a percentage of revenue increased from
58.8% in the fiscal year 2016 to 60.1% in the fiscal year 2017 due to the impact of the market recovering from harsh winter weather,
causing marginally lower operator labor utilization for Brundage-Bone. Cost of operations included depreciation expense of $15.0 million
(or 16.5% of total cost of operations), and $15.6 million (or 17.3% of total cost of operations), for the fiscal years ended October 31, 2017
and October 31, 2016, respectively. During periods of lower utilization, Brundage-Bone took opportunities to complete routine and
preventative equipment maintenance in order to ensure maximum fleet uptime during Brundage-Bone’s busiest periods. Wages, payroll
taxes, union fees and benefits, totaling $40.9 million, represented 27.0% of revenue for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2017, compared
to 26.6% of revenue for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2016. Fuel costs increased by $0.6 million or 0.4% of revenue to $6.7 million,
representing 4.4% of revenue in fiscal year 2017. Parts, repair and maintenance costs represented $16.8 million or 11.1% of revenue in
fiscal year 2017 compared to $16.9 million or 11.0% of revenue in fiscal year 2016. Commercial and health insurance marginally increased
from 3.0% of revenue in fiscal year 2016 to 3.4% of revenue in fiscal year 2017.
 

 58  



 

 
U.K. Concrete Pumping — Camfaud

 
Camfaud’s cost of operations consists primarily of wages and benefits for concrete pump operators and mechanics, parts, repair

and maintenance, fuel, insurance and depreciation. Wages and benefits represented approximately $11.5 million or 51.8% of Camfaud’s
total cost of operations, which represents hourly wages paid to pump operators and maintenance personnel, plus payroll taxes and pension
contributions. Parts, repairs and maintenance expense totaling $3.7 million represented approximately 16.6% of Camfaud’s total cost of
operations, and includes the costs for outside repair and maintenance, and consumable parts and supplies used in repairing and maintaining
Camfaud’s fleet. Fuel cost of $2.0 million represented approximately 9.2% of Camfaud’s total cost of operations, and is driven by the
deployment levels of Camfaud’s fleet, as well as the cost per gallon of diesel fuel. Insurance expense of $0.6 million represented
approximately 3.1% of Camfaud’s total cost of operations, and includes property, casualty, liability, worker’s compensation and health
insurance premiums. Depreciation expense of $2.8 million represented approximately 12.8% of Camfaud’s total cost of operations and
reflects depreciation on the rolling stock fleet.

 
Given the acquisition of Camfaud by CPH occurred on November 17, 2016, Camfaud’s results were not included in the fiscal year

2016 reporting period.
 
Concrete Waste Management Services — Eco-Pan

 
Eco-Pan’s cost of operations was $8.4 million for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2017 compared to $6.9 million for the

comparative period in fiscal 2016, representing an increase of $1.4 million, or 20.6%. The increase was primarily driven by and
commensurate with the increase in sales period over period.

 
Depreciation expense of Eco-Pan’s fleet of service trucks, at $0.8 million in the fiscal year 2017, was marginally higher relative to

the comparative period in fiscal 2016. Wages, taxes and benefits totaling $3.6 million represented approximately 15.4% of revenue in fiscal
year 2017 compared to $3.0 million or 15.6% of revenue in fiscal year 2016, as Eco-Pan continued to optimize its shop mechanics and full-
time truck operators. Parts, repairs, and maintenance expense represented $1.3 million or approximately 5.6% of revenue in fiscal year
2017 compared to $1.1 million or 5.8% of revenue in fiscal year 2016. Fuel cost amounting to $0.8 million represented approximately 9.8%
of total cost of operations in fiscal year 2017, which was consistent for both fiscal year 2017 and fiscal year 2016 at 3.5% of revenue in
fiscal year 2017. Disposal fees, which represent approximately 10.8% or $0.9 million of total cost of operations, were approximately 3.8%
of revenue, which was consistent for both fiscal year 2017 and fiscal year 2016.

 
Gross Profit  Year Ended October 31,   2016 to 2017  

 2017   2016   $ Change   % Change  
Statement of operations information:                 
U.S. Concrete Pumping – Brundage-Bone  $ 60,373,844  $ 63,188,837  $ (2,814,993)   -4.5%
U.K. Concrete Pumping – Camfaud   14,176,652   —   14,176,652   — 
Concrete Waste Management Services – Eco-Pan   15,208,604   11,994,937   3,213,667   26.8%
Gross Profit  $ 89,759,100  $ 75,183,774  $ 14,575,326   19.4%
 
U.S. Concrete Pumping — Brundage-Bone

 
Brundage-Bone’s gross profit margin decreased by 1.3% points to 39.9% in fiscal year 2017, compared to 41.2% in fiscal year

2016, consistent with the movement in revenue and cost of operations noted above. The primary cause of the decrease was due to severe
weather events in the South and Southeast markets.
 
U.K. Concrete Pumping — Camfaud

 
Camfaud’s gross profit margin was 38.9% in the fiscal year ended October 31, 2017. Given the acquisition of Camfaud by CPH

occurred on November 17, 2016, Camfaud’s results were not included in the fiscal year 2016 reporting period.
 
Concrete Waste Management Services — Eco-Pan

 
Eco-Pan’s gross profit margin increased by 1.2% points to 64.5% in fiscal year 2017 compared to 63.3% in fiscal year 2016,

consistent with the movement in revenue and cost of operations noted above.
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General and Administrative Expenses  Year Ended October 31,   2016 to 2017  
  2017   2016   $ Change   % Change  
Statement of operations information:                 
U.S. Concrete Pumping – Brundage-Bone  $ 36,707,978  $ 34,482,752  $ 2,225,226   6.5%
U.K. Concrete Pumping – Camfaud   9,799,143   —   9,799,143   — 
Concrete Waste Management Services – Eco-Pan   7,635,512   7,119,400   516,112   7.2%
Corporate   (1,277,723)   (1,011,392)   (266,331)   26.3%
General and Administrative Expenses  $ 52,864,910  $ 40,590,760  $ 12,274,150   30.2%
  
Transaction Costs  Year Ended October 31,   2016 to 2017  
  2017   2016   $ Change   % Change  
Statement of operations information:                 
U.S. Concrete Pumping – Brundage-Bone  $ 4,489,517  $ 3,691,466  $ 798,051   21.6%
U.K. Concrete Pumping – Camfaud   —   —   —   — 
Concrete Waste Management Services – Eco-Pan   —   —   —   — 
Transaction Costs  $ 4,489,517  $ 3,691,466  $ 798,051   21.6%
 
U.S. Concrete Pumping — Brundage-Bone

 
General and administrative expenses, excluding transaction costs, were $36.7 million for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2017,

compared to $34.5 million for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2016, representing an increase of $2.2 million. General and administrative
expenses included depreciation and amortization expense of $3.3 million and $3.7 million for the fiscal years ended October 31, 2017, and
October 31, 2016, respectively. Included in general and administrative expenses were $1.6 million of property rent paid to a related
company and $0.7 million of management fees paid to Brundage-Bone’s parent company for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2017.
Wages and benefits increased by $0.4 million or 0.4% of revenue to $17.6 million or 11.6% of fiscal year 2017 revenue, primarily due to a
$0.5 million one-time severance payment and wage expense growth as Brundage-Bone invested in additional safety and field management
personnel. Other items included severance expenses, senior executive relocation costs, recruiting costs and other items. These costs
amounted to $2.4 million in the fiscal year ended October 31, 2017.

 
Transaction costs totaled $4.5 million for the Oxford acquisitions during the fiscal year ended October 31, 2017, compared to $3.7

million in fiscal year 2016.
 
U.K. Concrete Pumping — Camfaud

 
General and administrative costs included fixed costs related primarily to wages and benefits for administrative personnel and

other fixed costs related to Camfaud’s operations. The lack of activity in fiscal year 2016 was due to the timing of the Camfaud acquisition,
which took place in November 2016. Salaries and benefits in the amount of $3.9 million represented approximately 39.6% of total general
and administrative costs and represent annual salaries, performance bonuses, pension contributions and payroll taxes paid to management
and administrative staff. Costs in the fiscal year ended October 31, 2017 included approximately $0.1 million of other costs in connection
with contracted labor for an interim Financial Director and an interim Financial Controller. Depreciation and amortization of $0.4 million
represented approximately 3.8% of Camfaud’s total general and administrative costs, and includes intangible asset amortization and
depreciation of non-pumping assets, pickup trucks and office equipment.

 
Given the acquisition of Camfaud by CPH occurred on November 17, 2016, Camfaud’s results were not included in the fiscal year

2016 reporting period.
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Concrete Waste Management Services — Eco-Pan

 
Eco-Pan’s general and administration expenses were $7.6 million for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2017, compared to $7.1

million for the fiscal year 2016, representing an increase of $0.5 million. General and administrative expenses included depreciation and
amortization expense of approximately $1.5 million and $2.0 million for the fiscal years ended 2017 and 2016, respectively. This change
was due to the full depreciation or disposal of certain assets included in the results of the fiscal year ended October 31, 2016 and as such,
the depreciation expense related to these assets did not occur in the fiscal year ended October 31, 2017. Wages and benefits expenses
increased by approximately $0.6 million in fiscal year 2017, as Eco-Pan invested in additional personnel to expand the Eco-Pan business
and meet the growing market demand in Eco-Pan’s markets.
 
Corporate

 
General and administration expenses were ($1.2) million for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2017, compared to ($1.0) million

for the fiscal year 2016, representing a decrease of $0.2 million. This amount relates to the elimination of intercompany rent.
  
Income from operations  Year Ended October 31,   2016 to 2017  
  2017   2016   $ Change   % Change  
Statement of operations information:                 
U.S. Concrete Pumping – Brundage-Bone  $ 19,176,349  $ 25,014,619  $ (5,838,270)   -23.3%
U.K. Concrete Pumping – Camfaud   4,377,509   —   4,377,509   — 
Concrete Waste Management Services – Eco-Pan   7,573,091   4,875,537   2,697,554   55.3%
Corporate   1,277,723   1,011,392   266,331   26.3%
Income from operations  $ 32,404,673  $ 30,901,548  $ 1,503,125   4.9%
 
U.S. Concrete Pumping — Brundage-Bone

 
As a result of the factors discussed above, income generated from operations was $19.2 million for the fiscal year ended October

31, 2017 compared to $25.0 million for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2016, representing a decrease of $5.8 million, or approximately
23.3%. Brundage-Bone’s operating margin was 12.7% in fiscal year 2017 compared to 16.3% in fiscal year 2016. The decrease in income
from operations was due primarily to the negative impacts of severe weather events in fiscal 2017 and higher transaction costs related to
the Camfaud acquisitions relative to the comparative fiscal 2016 period.
 
U.K. Concrete Pumping — Camfaud

 
As a result of the factors discussed above, income generated from operations was $4.4 million for the fiscal year ended October

31, 2017, resulting in an operating margin of 12.0%.
 
Given the acquisition of Camfaud by CPH occurred on November 17, 2016, Camfaud’s results were not included in the fiscal year

2016 reporting period.
 
Concrete Waste Management Services — Eco-Pan

 
As a result of the factors discussed above, income generated from operations was $7.6 million for the fiscal year ended October

31, 2017, compared to $4.9 million for the comparative fiscal year ended October 31, 2016, representing an increase of $2.7 million, or
55.3%. Eco-Pan’s operating margin was 32.1% in fiscal year 2017 compared to 25.8% in fiscal year 2016. The increase in income from
continuing operations was primarily a result of maintaining the same level of general administrative expense while substantially increasing
sales volume and maintaining a stable gross profit margin.
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Corporate

 
Income from operations increased by approximately 26.3% to $1.3 million for year ended 2017, compared to $1.0 million in the

comparative period in fiscal 2016.
  
Other (Expense)/Income  Year Ended October 31,   2016 to 2017  
  2017   2016   $ Change   % Change  
Statement of operations information:                 
U.S. Concrete Pumping – Brundage-Bone  $ (24,238,203)  $ (20,223,437)  $ (4,014,766)   19.9%
U.K. Concrete Pumping – Camfaud   (3,521,397)   —   (3,521,397)   — 
Concrete Waste Management Services – Eco-Pan   24,864   9,021   15,843  175.6%
Other (Expense)/Income  $ (27,734,736)  $ (20,214,416)  $ (7,520,320)   37.2%
 
U.S. Concrete Pumping — Brundage-Bone

 
Other (Expense)/Income is comprised of interest expense, loss on debt extinguishment, and miscellaneous other income. Interest

expense was $19.1 million for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2017 compared to $19.5 million in fiscal year 2016, reflecting a minimal
decrease of $0.4 million.

 
Brundage-Bone’s net loss on the extinguishment of debt totaled approximately $5.2 million, which represented the difference

between gains or losses in the carrying amount of notes repurchased, accrued interest, and the write-off of deferred loan fees on $7.6
million of Senior Notes that were repurchased in fiscal year 2016 as well as the loss amount associated with the unamortized portion of
debt issuance costs noted, the unamortized discount expense, and the prepayment penalty associated with the extinguishment of the
unsecured note in 2017.
 
U.K. Concrete Pumping — Camfaud
 

Other (Expense)/Income is comprised of interest expense, loss on debt extinguishment, and miscellaneous other income. Interest
expense was $3.6 million for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2017. Given the acquisition of Camfaud by CPH occurred on November 17,
2016, Camfaud’s results were not included in the fiscal year 2016 reporting period. Gain/ (Loss) on extinguishment of debt was zero.
 
Concrete Waste Management Services — Eco-Pan
 

Other (Expense)/Income is comprised of interest expense, loss on debt extinguishment, and miscellaneous other income. Interest
expense was minimal for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2017 and zero for the comparative period in fiscal year 2016. Gain/ (Loss) on
extinguishment of debt was zero for both reporting periods.
  
Income Tax (Benefit) Provision  Year Ended October 31,   2016 to 2017  
  2017   2016   $ Change   % Change  
Statement of operations information:                 
U.S. Concrete Pumping – Brundage-Bone  $ 3,109,635  $ 4,603,472  $ (1,493,837)   -32.5%
U.K. Concrete Pumping – Camfaud   245,424   —   245,424     
Concrete Waste Management Services – Eco-Pan   2,791,138   703,733   2,087,405   296.6%
Corporate   (2,389,539)   (853,664)   (1,535,875)   179.9%
Income Tax (Benefit) Provision  $ 3,756,658  $ 4,453,541  $ (696,883)   -15.6%
 
U.S. Concrete Pumping — Brundage-Bone
 

Estimated income tax expense for fiscal year 2017 was $3.1 million compared to $4.6 million in fiscal year 2016 due to a decrease
in taxable income.
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U.K. Concrete Pumping — Camfaud
 

Estimated income tax expense for fiscal year 2017 was $0.2 million. Given the acquisition of Camfaud by CPH occurred on
November 17, 2016, Camfaud’s results were not included in the fiscal year 2016 reporting period.
 
Concrete Waste Management Services — Eco-Pan
 

Estimated income tax expense for fiscal year 2017 was $2.8 million compared to $0.7 million in fiscal year 2016 due to an
increase in taxable income.
 
Corporate
 

Estimated income tax benefit for fiscal year 2017 was $2.4 million compared to $0.9 million in fiscal year 2016.
 
EBITDA(1)  Year Ended October 31,   2016 to 2017  
  2017   2016   $ Change   % Change  
Statement of operations information:                 
U.S. Concrete Pumping – Brundage-Bone  $ 36,925,969  $ 43,763,760  $ (6,837,791)   -15.6%
U.K. Concrete Pumping – Camfaud   10,827,292   —   10,827,292     
Concrete Waste Management Services – Eco-Pan   9,912,446   7,560,512   2,351,934   31.1%
Corporate   (3,093,897)   1,188,480   (4,282,377)   -360.3%
EBITDA  $ 54,571,810  $ 52,512,752  $ 2,059,058   3.9%
  
(1)       Please see “Non-GAAP Measures (EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA” below.
 
U.S. Concrete Pumping — Brundage-Bone

 
Brundage-Bone’s EBITDA decreased by $6.8 million or 15.6% during the year ended October 31, 2017 as compared to the

comparable 2016 period. The decrease in EBITDA was attributed to a combination of lower revenues of $2.3 million and gross profit of
$2.8 million and higher transaction costs of $0.8 million (See discussion on transaction costs below). As noted above, the primary cause of
the decrease in revenue was due to severe weather events in the South and Southeast markets.
 
U.K. Concrete Pumping — Camfaud

 
Camfaud’s EBITDA totaled $10.8 million during the fiscal year ended October 31, 2017. There was no comparable information

during the year ended October 31, 2016 as the CPH did not complete the acquisition of Camfaud until November 17, 2016.
 
Concrete Waste Management Services — Eco-Pan
 

Eco-Pan EBITDA increased by 31.1% or $2.4 million during the fiscal year ended October 31, 2017 as compared to the
comparable 2016 period. The increase in operating income was primarily related to the revenue increase of $4.6 million and gross profit
increase of $3.2 million respectively. These increases were offset by an increase in general and administrative costs of $0.5 million.
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Corporate
 

Corporate EBITDA decreased by (360.3%) or ($4.3) million during the during the fiscal year ended October 31, 2017 as
compared to the comparable 2016 period. The decrease in EBITDA was due to the write-off of debt extinguishment costs which was offset
by intercompany rent allocation. Intercompany rent is eliminated in consolidation.
 
Cash Flows
 

The following table summarizes CPH’s cash flow data for the fiscal years of 2018, 2017 and 2016.
 
  Years Ended October 31,  
  2018   2017   2016  
Statement of operations information:          
Net cash provided by operating activities  $ 39,616,657  $ 34,226,394  $ 35,757,440 
Net cash used in investing activities   (49,499,436)   (83,088,761)   (28,973,671)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities   13,012,841   52,763,957   (14,812,802)
 
Operating Activities
 

Cash generated from operating activities is influenced by CPH’s ability to convert what CPH management believes is a relatively
high proportion of revenue into cash, as well as by CPH’s investment in company resources and equipment to support the continued growth
of the business. Cash generated from operating activities typically reflects net income, as adjusted for non-cash expense items such as
depreciation, amortization and stock-based compensation, and changes in CPH’s operating assets and liabilities as CPH’s continues to
expand its business. Generally, CPH management believes that the CPH business requires a relatively low level of working capital
investment due to the low inventory requirement and customers’ tendency to pay CPH on a timely basis for its services as CPH submits
daily invoices for many of its services.
 

CPH’s net cash from operating activities totaled $39.6 million for the year ended October 31, 2018, of which CPH’s net income of
$28.4 million was a source of funds. Depreciation and amortization totaled $27.3 million in the period, with amortization of intangibles
comprising $7.9 million and amortization of deferred financing costs comprising $1.7 million. Deferred income taxes totaled $11.1 million,
gain on sale of equipment totaled $2.6 million for the period and change in fair value of contingent consideration of $0.5 million. Uses of
funds in the period included changes in trade receivables of $7.5 million, changes in inventory of $0.7 million, changes in prepaid and
other assets of $1.4 million, changes in accounts payable of $1.8 million, and changes in tax accounts of $0.4 million. Sources of funds
included changes in accrued expenses of $8.7 million.
 

Net cash from operating activities totaled $34.2 million for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2017, of which CPH’s net income of
$0.9 million represented a source of funds. Depreciation and amortization totaled $29.0 million during the year with amortization of
intangibles comprising $7.8 million and amortization of deferred financing fees comprising $1.9 million. Deferred income taxes of $0.2
million, represented a source of funds while gain on sale of equipment of $0.6 million represented a use of funds in the period. Write-off of
deferred financing and debt discount costs represented a $3.4 million source of funds in the period. Changes in accrued expenses and
accounts payable of $0.6 million, and changes in trade receivables of $0.2 million represented sources of funds. Changes in prepaid and
other assets and inventory totaling $0.7 million and changes in income tax accounts of $1.3 million represented uses of funds in the period.
 

Net cash from operating activities totaled $35.8 million for the twelve months ended October 31, 2016, of which CPH’s net
income of $6.2 million represented a source of funds. Depreciation and amortization totaled $24.1 million during the period, with
amortization of intangible assets comprising $5.7 million and amortization of deferred financing costs comprising $1.8 million. Deferred
taxes represented a $3.8 million source of funds, while gain on repayment of debt of $0.3 million and gain on the sale of property of $0.4
million represented uses of funds in the period. Write-off of deferred financing costs provided a $0.9 million source of funds in the period.
Changes in accrued expenses and accounts payable of $4.2 million represented a source of funds in the period, while changes in trade
receivables of $0.7 million, changes in inventory, prepaids and other assets of $1.5 million and changes in income tax accounts of $1.0
million represented uses of funds in the period.
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Investing Activities
 

CPH’s business requires regular capital expenditures to maintain a large, safely maintained and modern equipment fleet. CPH also
regularly takes advantage of opportunities to acquire other concrete pumping and related businesses, which can expand CPH’s reach into
new or overlapping geographic markets, add modern equipment assets to CPH’s fleet or allow CPH to further expand its service offering to
its customers.
 

CPH invests to maintain a modern fleet of equipment while selling older and under-utilized pieces of equipment. CPH began
making investments in new equipment to replace aging assets starting in 2014, and CPH expects to continue this practice given the strong
performance of the business and improved construction end market fundamentals. CPH estimates that its fleet assets generally have a useful
life of up to 20 years depending on the size of the equipment, hours in service, yardage pumped, and, in certain instances, other
circumstances unique to an asset. CPH manages its fleet of equipment according to the wear and tear that a specific type of equipment is
expected to experience over its useful life. As of October 31, 2018, the average age of CPH’s equipment in the U.S. and the U.K. was
approximately 10 years and 8 years, respectively, and it is CPH’s strategy to maintain an average fleet age of approximately 10 years. CPH
may allocate additional capital for fleet expansion if CPH believes growth opportunities in particular markets cannot be met by CPH’s
existing fleet (including geographic transfers), or if CPH’s analysis indicates that CPH could improve returns on capital with additional
changes in fleet mix. The recent changes in U.S. tax reform present additional opportunities for CPH to strengthen its fleet of equipment.
 

Net cash used in investing activities totaled $49.5 million for the year ended October 31, 2018. The asset purchase acquisition of
O’Brien’s net assets represented a $21.0 million use of funds in the period, as CPH further expanded its business in markets including
Denver, Colorado and Arizona. CPH’s investment in its fleet of equipment totaled approximately $31.7 million and proceeds from the sale
of equipment totaled approximately $3.2 million in the period.
 

Net cash used in investing activities totaled $83.1 million for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2017. The acquisition of net assets
represented a $60.4 million use of funds, primarily related to the Oxford acquisitions completed in November 2016 and July 2017 which
expanded CPH’s operations internationally into the U.K. CPH’s investment in its fleet of equipment totaled approximately $23.7 million
and proceeds from sale of equipment totaled approximately $1.0 million in the period.
 

Net cash used in investing activities totaled $29.0 million for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2016. The acquisition of net assets
represented a $6.7 million use of funds in the period. CPH’s investment in its fleet of equipment totaled approximately $22.6 million in the
period. Of this amount, $8.0 million was paid for fleet assets that were delivered in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2015. Additionally,
proceeds from the sale of equipment represented a $0.2 million source of funds in the period.

 
Financing Activities
 

Net cash provided by financing activities totaled $13.0 million for the year ended October 31, 2018, which included a $15.6
million source of funds raised through a bond offering to finance the O’Brien asset purchase. CPH also made net payments of $2.4 million
on its working capital line of credit and $0.2 million on its capital lease obligations.
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Net cash from financing activities totaled $52.8 million for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2017. This included funds generated

from the issuance of $40.4 million of additional senior secured notes and $61.4 million in proceeds from CPH’s working capital line of
credit. CPH made payments on its senior secured notes totaling $39.1 million, and paid $1.5 million in deferred financing costs and a $1.4
million prepayment penalty in the period. Additionally, CPH repurchased $1.4 million in preferred stock, paid $4.8 in preferred stock
dividends, and repurchased $0.7 million of stock options in the period.
 

Net cash used in financing activities totaled $14.8 million for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2016. CPH made principal
payments on its senior secured notes totaling $18.4 million and received $3.6 million in proceeds on its working capital line of credit in the
period.
 
Non-GAAP Measures (EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA)
 

CPH calculates EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA by taking GAAP net income and adding interest expense, income taxes,
depreciation, amortization, transaction expenses, gain (loss) on sale of assets, other adjustments, management fees and other expenses. CPH
management believes these non-GAAP measures of financial results provide useful information to management and investors regarding
certain financial and business trends related to CPH’s financial condition and results of operations. CPH uses this non-GAAP measure to
compare its performance to prior periods for trend analyses, determine incentive compensation and for budgeting and planning purposes.
These measures are used in quarterly financial reports prepared for CPH’s management and board of directors. CPH believes these non-
GAAP measures provide an additional tool for investors to use in evaluating CPH’s ongoing operating results and trends and in comparing
CPH’s financial measures with competitors who also present similar non-GAAP financial measures. EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA have
limitations and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for performance measures calculated under GAAP. This non-GAAP
measure excludes certain cash expenses that CPH is obligated to make. In addition, other companies in CPH’s industry may calculate
EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA differently than CPH do or may not calculate it at all, which limits the usefulness of EBITDA and
Adjusted EBITDA as comparative measures.

 
  Years Ended October 31,  
  2018   2017   2016   2015  

Statement of operations information:             
Net income (loss)  $ 28,381,842  $ 913,279  $ 6,233,591  $ 3,509,230 
Interest expense, net   21,424,747   22,747,848   19,516,077   20,491,654 
Income tax (benefit) expense   (9,784,120)   3,756,658   4,453,541   2,020,112 
Depreciation and amortization   25,622,546   27,154,025   22,309,543   20,603,453 

EBITDA   65,645,015   54,571,810   52,512,752   46,624,449 
Transaction expenses   7,589,825   4,489,517   3,691,466   1,253,529 
Loss on debt extinguishment   -   5,161,065   643,876   - 
Other (income) expense   (54,923)   (174,177)   54,463   85,831 
Other adjustments   1,188,870   2,565,562   1,205,290   - 
Management fees   4,499,256   1,750,100   1,535,705   1,600,000 

Subtotal adjustments to EBITDA   13,223,027   13,792,067   7,130,800   2,939,360 
Adjusted EBITDA  $ 78,868,042  $ 68,363,877  $ 59,643,552  $ 49,563,809 

 
Transaction expenses represented expenses for legal, accounting, and other professionals that were engaged in the completion of

various acquisitions.
 

Other adjustments included severance expenses, non-cash expenses such as stock-based compensation, senior executive relocation
costs, recruiting costs and other such charges.
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Contractual Obligations
 

The following table summarizes CPH’s contractual obligations and commercial commitments as of October 31, 2018.
 
  Total   Less than 1 year  1-3 years   3-5 years   More than 5 years 
                
Long term debt obligations (1)  $ 252,771,626  $ 16,258,681  $ 41,449,897  $ 195,063,048  $ - 
Capital leases and obligations (2)   737,874   108,081   223,170   232,985   173,638 
Operating lease obligations (3)   5,089,045   1,971,150   2,014,571   900,727   202,597 
Total contractual obligations  $ 258,598,545  $ 18,337,912  $ 43,687,638  $ 196,196,760  $ 376,235 
  
(1) Represents principal and interest payments on CPH’s senior secured notes and unsecured notes on related dates as of October 31, 2018.

For further information, refer to Note 8 to the audited financial statements for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2018 included
elsewhere in this report.

 
(2) Represents payments under two capital leases for land and buildings. For further information, refer to Note 11 to the audited financial

statements for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2018 included elsewhere in this report.
 
(3) Represents payments under operating leases for various facilities, equipment, and vehicles. For further information, refer to Note 12 to

the audited financial statements for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2018 included elsewhere in this report.
  
 Redemption of preferred shares were not included in the above table as probability of redemption is not determinable.
 
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about Market Risk
 

Not applicable.
 
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management
 

The following table sets forth information known to the Company regarding beneficial ownership of Company common stock as
of December 6, 2018 by:

 
 · each person known by the Company to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of outstanding Company common stock;

 
 · each of the Company’s executive officers and directors; and

 
 · all executive officers and directors of the Company as a group.

 
Beneficial ownership is determined according to the rules of the SEC, which generally provide that a person has beneficial

ownership of a security if he, she or it possesses sole or shared voting or investment power over that security, including options and
warrants that are currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days. Common stock issuable upon exercise of options or warrants currently
exercisable or exercisable within 60 days are deemed outstanding solely for purposes of calculating the percentage of class and percentage
of total voting power of the beneficial owner thereof. 
 

The beneficial ownership of common stock of the Company is based on 28,847,707 shares of Company common stock issued and
outstanding as of December 6, 2018.

 
Unless otherwise indicated, the Company believes that each person named in the table below has sole voting and investment

power with respect to all shares of Company common stock beneficially owned by him.
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Directors and Officers(1)  
Number of Shares 
Beneficially Owned   

Percentage of Outstanding 
Common Stock  

Bruce Young(2)   1,196,580   4.0%
Iain Humphries(3)   249,287   * 
David Anthony Faud   220,026   * 
David A.B. Brown(4)   84,250   * 
Tariq Osman(5)   -   - 
Heather L. Faust(5)   -   - 
David G. Hall(4)   84,250   * 
Brian Hodges(4)   84,250   * 
Howard D. Morgan(5)   -   - 
John M. Piecuch   -   - 
Raymond Cheesman   -   - 
Matthew Homme   -   - 
M. Brent Stevens(8)   11,005,275   38.1 
All Executive Officers and Directors as a Group (13 individuals)   12,923,918   42.4%
Greater than 5% Stockholders         
Argand Partners LP(5)   23,010,138   58.0%
Nuveen Alternatives Advisors, LLC(6)   2,450,980   7.8%
Common Investor(7)   1,906,318   6.6%
BBCP Investors, LLC(8)   11,005,275   38.1%
 * Less than 1%.
 
(1) Except as described in the footnotes below and subject to applicable community property laws and similar laws, the Company believes

that each person listed above has sole voting and investment power with respect to such shares. Unless otherwise indicated, the business
address of each of the entities, directors and executives in this table is 6461 Downing Street, Denver, Colorado 80229.

(2) Interests shown consist of 1,196,580 options to purchase 1,196,580 shares of Company common stock.
(3) Interests shown consist of 249,287 options to purchase 249,287 shares of Company common stock.
(4) Interests shown consist of (i) 28,750 shares of Company common stock converted from 28,750 Founder Shares at the Closing and (ii)

55,500 shares of Company common stock underlying private placement warrants.
(5) Interests held by Argand consist of (i) 4,403,325 shares of Company common stock held of record by the Sponsor, which were

converted from Founder Shares at the Closing, (ii) 10,822,500 shares of Company common stock underlying private placement warrants
held of record by the Sponsor, and (iii) an aggregate 7,784,313 shares of Company common stock issued to the Argand Investor, Argand
Partners Institutional Co-Invest Fund, LP, Argand Partners Sea Fund AI, LP, Argand Partners Sea Fund QP, LP and Argand Partners
Team Co-Invest Fund, LP (collectively, the “Argand Funds”) at the Closing pursuant to the Subscription Agreement. The Argand Funds
are managed by Argand Partners, LP. Howard D. Morgan, Heather L. Faust, Tariq Osman, Joseph Del Toro and Charles Burns are the
managers of the Sponsor and share voting and investment discretion with respect to the Company common stock held of record by the
Sponsor. The Sponsor is 100% owned by funds managed by Argand. Argand is also the manager of the Argand Investor. Investment
decisions made by Argand require the unanimous approval of its investment committee, which is comprised of Messrs. Morgan and
Osman and Ms. Faust. The business address of Argand and each of the Argand Funds is 28 West 44th Street, Suite 501, New York, New
York 10036.

(6) Interests shown consist of 2,450,980 shares of Series A Preferred Stock convertible into Company common stock. Nuveen holds shared
voting and dispositive power with respect to 2,450,980 shares of Series A Preferred Stock as investment manager to Teachers Insurance
and Annuity Association of America, TPS Investors Master Fund, LP and Nuveen Junior Capital Opportunities Fund SV (collectively,
the “Nuveen Funds”). However, all shares of Series A Preferred Stock are owned by the Nuveen Funds, and Nuveen disclaims beneficial
ownership of the shares of Series A Preferred Stock reported herein except to the extent of its pecuniary interest therein. The business
address of Nuveen and the Nuveen Funds is 730 Third Avenue, New York, New York 10017.

(7) The address of the business office of the Common Investor is 640 Fifth Avenue, 20th Floor, New York, New York 10019.
(8) BBCP Investors, LLC (“BBCP”) is wholly owned by PGP Investors, LLC (“PGP”). Mr. Stevens is a Manager of PGP, and as such, may

be deemed to beneficially own the shares held by BBCP. Mr. Stevens disclaims beneficial ownership of such securities except to the
extent of his pecuniary interest therein. The address of the business office of BBCP and PGP is 10250 Constellation Boulevard,
Suite 2230, Los Angeles, CA 90067.
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Directors and Officers
 

Biographical information with respect to the Company’s directors and executive officers immediately after the Closing is set forth
in the proxy statement/prospectus in the section entitled “Newco Management After the Business Combination,” which is incorporated
herein by reference.

 
The size of the Board was increased to nine members effective upon the Closing. At the Special Meeting, each of Heather L.

Faust, David G. Hall and Iain Humphries were elected by the Company’s stockholders to serve as Class I directors effective upon the
Closing with terms expiring at the Company’s 2019 annual meeting of stockholders; each of Brian Hodges, John M. Piecuch and Howard
D. Morgan were elected by the Company’s stockholders to serve as Class II directors effective upon the Closing with terms expiring at the
Company’s 2020 annual meeting of stockholders; and David A.B. Brown, Tariq Osman and Bruce Young were elected by the Company’s
stockholders to serve as Class III directors effective upon the Closing with terms expiring at the Company’s 2021 annual meeting of
stockholders.

 
On December 9, 2018, in connection with Peninsula’s designation of each of Raymond Cheesman, Matthew Homme and M. Brent

Stevens to serve on the Board pursuant to the Non-Management Rollover Agreement, the size of the Board was increased from nine to
twelve members, and the Board appointed Mr. Homme to serve as a Class I director with a term expiring at the Company’s 2019 annual
meeting of stockholders, Mr. Cheesman to serve as a Class II director with a term expiring at the Company’s 2020 annual meeting of
stockholders and Mr. Stevens to serve as a Class III director with a term expiring at the Company’s 2021 annual meeting of stockholders.
The Board appointed Mr. Cheesman to serve as a member of the Audit Committee and Compensation Committee and Mr. Homme to serve
as a member of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee.

 
Raymond Cheesman, 59, is a Senior Research Analyst at Anfield Capital, a registered investment advisor that serves as the advisor

to the Anfield Universal Fixed Income Fund, an absolute return bond strategy seeking to deliver positive returns over full market cycles
(“Anfield”). Prior to joining Anfield, Mr. Cheesman spent 17 years at Jefferies & Company where he worked as both an investment banker
and high yield analyst. Mr. Cheesman received his B.B.A. in Finance from George Washington University.

 
Matthew Homme, 39, is a Managing Director at Peninsula Pacific, a private investment fund focused on control investments in the

gaming, consumer and industrial sectors. Prior to joining Peninsula Pacific in 2013, Mr. Homme was a Principal with Aurora Resurgence
where he focused on buyouts and special situations investments for middle-market companies and served on the boards of directors of
multiple portfolio companies in North America and Europe. Previously, Mr. Homme worked in the Investment Banking Department of
Jefferies & Company. Mr. Homme graduated summa cum laude from the Wharton School at the University of Pennsylvania with a B.S. in
Economics and holds an M.B.A. from the Harvard Business School.

 
M. Brent Stevens, 58, is the founder and Manager of Peninsula Pacific, a private investment fund focused on control investments

in the gaming, consumer and industrial sectors. In connection with serving as Manager of Peninsula Pacific Mr. Stevens served as the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Peninsula Gaming, LLC, a company which he founded in 1997 and sold to Boyd Gaming
Corporation in 2012. From 1990 through 2010, Mr. Stevens worked in the investment banking group of Jefferies & Company, holding
various positions, most recently as an Executive Vice President and Head of Capital Markets. He also served as a member of Jefferies’
Executive Committee. Mr. Stevens received his B.A. in Accounting from the University of Southern California and holds an M.B.A. from
the Wharton School at the University of Pennsylvania.
 
Director Independence
 

The listing standards of Nasdaq require that a majority of the Board be independent. An “independent director” is defined
generally as a person other than an officer or employee of a company or its subsidiaries or any other individual having a relationship which
in the opinion of the board of directors of such company, would interfere with the director’s exercise of independent judgment in carrying
out the responsibilities of a director.
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Ms. Faust and Messrs. Hall, Hodges, Piecuch, Morgan, Brown, Osman, Cheesman and Homme, being a majority of the directors

on the Board, have been determined to be independent by the Board pursuant to the rules of Nasdaq.
 
Committees of the Board of Directors
 

Following the Closing, the standing committees of the Board consist of an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), a
compensation committee (the “Compensation Committee”), a corporate governance and nominating committee (the “Corporate
Governance and Nominating Committee”) and an indemnification committee (the “Indemnification Committee”). Each of the committees
reports to Board. The composition, duties and responsibilities of these committees are set forth below.
 
Audit Committee
 

The Audit Committee is responsible for, among other things, (i) appointing, retaining and evaluating the Company’s independent
registered public accounting firm and approving all services to be performed by them; (ii) overseeing the Company’s independent
registered public accounting firm’s qualifications, independence and performance; (ii) overseeing the financial reporting process and
discussing with management and the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm the interim and annual financial statements
that the Company files with the SEC; (iv) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s accounting principles, accounting policies, financial
and accounting controls and compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (v) establishing procedures for the confidential anonymous
submission of concerns regarding questionable accounting, internal controls or auditing matters; and (vi) reviewing and approving related
person transactions.

 
Effective upon the Closing, the Board appointed Messrs. Brown and Piecuch as members of the Audit Committee. On December

9, 2018, the Board appointed Mr. Cheesman as a member of the Audit Committee. All members of the Audit Committee are independent
within the meaning of the federal securities laws and the meaning of the Nasdaq Rules. Each member of the Audit Committee meets the
requirements for financial literacy under the applicable rules and regulations of the SEC and Nasdaq, and the Board has determined that Mr.
Brown is an “audit committee financial expert,” as that term is defined by the applicable rules of the SEC. The Board has approved a
written charter under which the Audit Committee operates. A copy of the charter is available on the Company’s website.
 
Compensation Committee
 

The Compensation Committee is responsible for, among other things, (i) reviewing key employee compensation goals, policies,
plans and programs; (ii) reviewing and approving the compensation of the Company’s directors, chief executive officer and other executive
officers; (iii) reviewing and approving employment agreements and other similar arrangements between the Company and the Company’s
executive officers; and (iv) administering the Company’s stock plans and other incentive compensation plans.

 
Effective upon the Closing, the Board appointed Messrs. Osman, Hodges and Morgan as members of the Compensation

Committee. On December 9, 2018, the Board appointed Mr. Cheesman as a member of the Compensation Committee. The Board has
approved a written charter under which the Compensation Committee operates. A copy of the charter is available on the Company’s
website. 

 
Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee

 
The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee is responsible for, among other things, considering and making

recommendations to the Board on matters relating to the selection and qualification of directors of the Company and candidates nominated
to serve as directors of the Company, as well as other matters relating to the duties of directors of the Company, the operation of the Board
and corporate governance.

 
Effective upon the Closing, the Board appointed Messrs. Brown, Hall and Osman as members of the Corporate Governance and

Nominating Committee. On December 9, 2018, the Board appointed Mr. Homme as a member of the Corporate Governance and
Nominating Committee. The Board has approved a written charter under which the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee
operates. A copy of the charter is available on the Company’s website.
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Indemnification Committee
 

The Indemnification Committee is responsible for evaluating post-Closing indemnification claims under the Merger Agreement.
Effective upon the Closing, the Board appointed Messrs. Brown, Osman and Piecuch as members of the Indemnification Committee.
 
Executive Compensation
 
Industrea
 

A description of the compensation of Industrea’s executive officers and directors before the consummation of the Business
Combination is set forth in the proxy statement/prospectus in the section entitled “Executive Compensation,” which is incorporated herein
by reference. 
 

A description of the Company’s executive compensation following the Closing is set forth in the proxy statement/prospectus in the
section entitled “Newco Management After the Business Combination – Post-Combination Company Executive and Director
Compensation,” which is incorporated herein by reference.

 
At the Special Meeting, the stockholders of the Company approved the Concrete Pumping Holdings, Inc. 2018 Omnibus Incentive

Plan (the “Incentive Plan”). The description of the Incentive Plan set forth in the proxy statement/prospectus section entitled “The Incentive
Plan Proposal” is incorporated herein by reference. A copy of the full text of the Incentive Plan is filed as Exhibit 10.38 to this Current
Report on Form 8-K and is incorporated herein by reference. Following the consummation of the Business Combination, the Company
expects that the Board or the Compensation Committee will make grants of awards under the Incentive Plan to eligible participants.

 
CPH

 
 The following discussion and analysis of compensation arrangements of the Company’s named executive officers for the fiscal

years ended October 31, 2018 and 2017(i.e., pre-business combination) should be read together with the compensation tables and related
disclosures provided below and in conjunction with the Company’s financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this
report. Compensation information included in the following discussion is presented in actual dollar amounts.

 
This section discusses the material components of the executive compensation program for the Company’s executive officers who

are named in the “Summary Compensation Table” below. In fiscal year 2018, the Company’s “named executive officers” or “NEOs” and
their positions were as follows:
 

· Bruce Young, Chief Executive Officer;
· Iain Humphries, Chief Financial Officer;
· David Anthony Faud, Managing Director, U.K.; and
· Steven De Bever, Former Chief Operating Officer

 
During fiscal year 2017, Mr. De Bever served as Chief Operating Officer through August 24, 2018 and a replacement was not

named from the aforementioned date through October 31, 2018.
 
The Company’s NEOs are employed by, and receive cash compensation and employee benefits from, Brundage-Bone. For

purposes of this discussion, references to cash compensation paid and employee benefits provided by the Company include the cash
compensation and employee benefits paid or provided by Brundage-Bone.
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This discussion may contain forward-looking statements that are based on the Company’s current plans, considerations,

expectations and determinations regarding future compensation programs. Actual compensation programs adopted following the
completion of the Business Combination may differ materially from the programs summarized in this discussion.
 
Summary Compensation Table

 
The following table sets forth information concerning the compensation of the Company’s named executive officers for the

Company’s fiscal years ending October 31, 2018 and 2017.
 

Name and
Principal
Position  Year   Salary ($)   

Option Awards 
($)(1)   

Non-Equity 
Incentive 

Plan 
Compensation 

($)(2)   

All Other 
Compensation 

($)(3)   Total ($)  
Bruce Young 
Chief Executive Officer   2018   350,000   —   92,400   26,692   469,092 
   2017   350,000   —   100,000   177,389   627,389 
Iain Humphries 
Chief Financial Officer   2018   265,000   —   63,600   25,758   354,358 
   2017   238,500   706,982   135,000   88,952   1,169,434 
David Anthony Faud
Managing Director, U.K.   2018   201,075   —   —   43,698   244,773 
   2017   191,205   —   —   41,553   232,758 
Stephen De Bever
Former Chief Operating
Officer   2018   238,673   —   —   21,813   260,486 
   2017   237,194   471,322   125,000   22,931   856,447 
 
(1) Amounts reflect the full grant-date fair value of options to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock, calculated in accordance

with ASC Topic 718. For a discussion of the assumptions used to calculate the value of option awards, see Note 14 of the Company’s
consolidated financial statements included in this registration statement.

 
(2) Amounts represent 2017 and 2018 cash bonuses earned by the Company’s named executive officers during fiscal year 2017 and 2018,

respectively.
 
(3) Amounts under the “All Other Compensation” column consist of the following for fiscal year 2017: (i) for Mr. Young, $150,807 in

company reimbursements for the cost of his relocation to the Denver, Colorado area, $2,582 in company matching 401(k) contributions
on his behalf for fiscal year 2017, and $24,000 in company payments of a car allowance, (ii) for Mr. Humphries, $66,952 in company
reimbursements for the cost of his relocation to the Denver, Colorado area and $22,000 in company payments of a car allowance, (iii)
for Mr. Faud, $19,121 in pension contributions, $12,747 in company payments of a car allowance and $9,685 in payments for other
miscellaneous fringe benefits and (iv) for Mr. De Bever, $1,931 in company matching 401(k) contributions on his behalf for fiscal year
2017 and $21,000 in company payments of a car allowance. Amounts under the “All Other Compensation” column consist of the
following for the fiscal year 2018: (i) for Mr. Young, $24,000 in company payments of a car allowance and $2,692 in company
matching 401(k) contributions on his behalf for fiscal year 2018, (ii) for Mr. Humphries, $24,000 in payments of a car allowance and
$1,758 in company matching 401(k) contributions on his behalf for fiscal year 2018, (iii) for Mr. Faud, $20,108 in pension contributions,
$13,405 in company payments of a car allowance and $10,185 in payments for other miscellaneous fringe benefits and (iv) for Mr. De
Bever, $1,813 in company matching 401(k) contributions on his behalf for fiscal year 2018 and $20,000 in company payments of a car
allowance.

 
Narrative to Summary Compensation Table
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Base Salaries

 
The NEOs receive (or received, in the cash of Mr. De Bever) base salaries to compensate them for services rendered to the

Company. The base salary payable to each NEO is intended to provide a fixed component of compensation commensurate with the
executive’s seniority, skill set, experience, role and responsibilities.

 
The actual base salaries paid to the NEOs during 2017 and 2018 are set forth in the Summary Compensation Table above.

 
Annual Bonuses
 

In fiscal year 2017, Messrs. Young, Humphries and De Bever were eligible to earn annual cash bonuses targeted at 55%, 50% and
40%, respectively, of their base salaries.

 
In fiscal year 2018, Messrs. Young, Humphries, De Bever Faud were eligible to earn annual cash bonuses targeted at 55%, 50%,

40% and 0%, respectively, of their respective base salaries.
 
Mr. De Bever did not receive a cash bonus with respect to fiscal year 2018 because his employment with Prior CPH terminated

prior to the applicable payment date.
 

Each NEO was eligible to earn his bonus based on the attainment of company and individual performance metrics established by
the company’s board of directors.

 
Messrs. Young, Humphries and Faud became entitled to receive cash bonuses equal to their respective target bonus amounts based

on the attainment of company and individual performance metrics during fiscal year 2017.
 

The actual annual cash bonuses awarded to each NEO for fiscal years 2017 and 2018 performance are set forth above in the
Summary Compensation Table in the column entitled “Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation.”

 
Equity Compensation
 

CPH has historically granted options to purchase shares of CPH common stock to the named executive officers, under the
Concrete Pumping Holdings, Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (as amended, the “2015 Plan”).

 
During fiscal year 2017, Messrs. Humphries and De Bever were granted options to purchase shares of the CPH’s common stock

under the 2015 Plan (the “2017 Options”). The 2017 Options were intended to qualify as tax-qualified “incentive stock options.” Mr.
Young did not received grants of options during fiscal year 2017, and none of the NEOs received grants of stock options during fiscal year
2018.

 
Each 2017 Option is eligible to vest and become exercisable as follows: (i) ten percent (10%) of the Company’s shares subject to

the 2017 Option will vest and become exercisable on each of the first five anniversaries of the vesting commencement date (November 1,
2016), subject to the applicable NEO’s continued service through the applicable vesting date; and (ii) subject to the applicable NEO’s
continued service through the applicable vesting date, up to ten percent (10%) of the Company’s shares subject to the 2017 Option (the
“performance-based shares”) will vest and become exercisable on each of the first five anniversaries of the vesting commencement date
based on the level at which the Company has attained budgeted EBITDA for the most recent Company fiscal year ending immediately
prior to the vesting commencement date anniversary. If actual EBITDA for a Company fiscal year is less than 100% of budgeted EBITDA
for such year, then any performance-based shares otherwise eligible to vest with respect to such year that do not become vested will be
forfeited on such anniversary. In addition, in the event that a change in control of the Company occurs and the applicable NEO’s
employment continues through such change in control, the executive’s 2017 Option will vest in full (to the extent then-unvested) upon such
change in control.
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For purposes of the 2017 Options, “EBITDA” is defined as, for any Company fiscal year, projected earnings before interest,

taxes, depreciation and amortization, as may be adjusted for extraordinary, unusual and/or non-recurring events, in each case, as
determined in the sole discretion of the Company.

 
Other Elements of Compensation
 
Retirement Plans
 

Brundage-Bone maintains a 401(k) retirement savings plan for its employees, including the NEOs, who satisfy certain eligibility
requirements. The NEOs are eligible to participate in the 401(k) plan on the same terms as other full-time employees. The Internal
Revenue Code allows eligible employees to defer a portion of their compensation, within prescribed limits, on a pre-tax basis through
contributions to the 401(k) plan. The Company believes that providing a vehicle for tax-deferred retirement savings though the 401(k) plan
adds to the overall desirability of its compensation package and further incentivizes employees, including the NEOs, in accordance with its
compensation policies.

 
Employee Benefits and Perquisites

 
All of Brundage-Bone’s full-time employees, including the NEOs, are eligible to participate in health and welfare plans, including

medical, dental and vision benefits, medical and dependent care flexible spending accounts, short-term and long-term disability insurance
and life insurance.

 
As part of their compensation packages, each NEO is (or was, in the case of Mr. De Bever) entitled to company payment of a car

allowance equal to $2,000 per month. The company provided these benefits and perquisites to help ensure that the NEOs would be able to
devote their full business time to the company’s affairs, to project the proper corporate image for the company and to make employment at
the company attractive at a relatively modest cost for shareholders.

 
No Tax Gross-Up Obligations

 
Neither the Company nor Brundage-Bone has any obligation to make tax gross-up or similar payments to or in respect of amounts

that may become payable to any of the NEOs or their other employees, including but not limited to any such gross-up obligations with
respect to any amounts deemed to constitute “excess parachute payments” under Internal Revenue Code Section 280G.

 
Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End

 
The following table summarizes the number of shares of common stock underlying outstanding equity incentive plan awards for

each NEO as of October 31, 2018.
 
  Option Awards        

Name  Grant Date   

Vesting 
Commencement 

Date   

Number of 
Securities 

Underlying 
Unexercised 

Options 
(Exercisable) 

(#)   

Number of 
Securities 

Underlying 
Unexercised 

Options 
(Unexercisable) 

(#)   

Option 
Exercise 

Price 
($)   

Option 
Expiration 

Date  
Bruce Young 
Chief Executive Officer   

February 4,
2015   

November 1,
2014   415,872   184,832(1)  2.48   

February 5,
2025 

Iain Humphries 
Chief Financial Officer   

March 8,
2017   

November 1,
2016   86,540   92,416(1)  17.50   

March 7,
2026 

David Anthony Faud
Managing Director, U.K.
(2)   -   -   -   -   -   - 
Steven De Bever
Former Chief Operating
Officer(3)   -   -   -   -   -   - 
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(1) Represents stock options vesting as follows: (i) ten percent (10%) of the Company shares subject to the option vest and become

exercisable on each of the first five anniversaries of the vesting commencement date (November 1, 2014 or November 1, 2016, as
applicable), subject to the applicable NEO’s continued service through the applicable vesting date; and (ii) subject to the applicable
NEO’s continued service through the applicable vesting date, up to ten percent (10%) of the Company shares subject to the option will
vest and become exercisable on each of the first five anniversaries of the vesting commencement date based on the level at which the
Company has attained budgeted EBITDA for the most recent Company fiscal year ending immediately prior to the vesting
commencement date anniversary. In the event that a change in control of the Company occurs and the applicable NEO’s employment
continues through such change in control, the option will vest in full (to the extent then-unvested) upon such change in control.

(2) Mr. Faud has not been issued any stock options for the duration of his employment agreement with Brundage-Bone beginning on
November 17, 2016.

(3) Mr. De Bever was previously granted an option to purchase CPH common stock, which (to the extent not previously exercised) expired
pursuant to its terms following Mr. De Bever’s termination of employment with Brundage-Bone in August 2018.
 

Executive Compensation Arrangements
 
Executive Employment Agreements
 

Brundage-Bone previously entered into executive employment agreements with Messrs. Young, Humphries, De Bever and Faud,
which became effective as of August 18, 2014, December 1, 2016, May 1, 2017 and November 17, 2016, respectively. The material terms
of the executive employment agreements are described in more detail below.

 
Pursuant to the employment agreements, Mr. Young serves as Chief Executive Officer and President and Mr. Humphries serves as

Chief Financial Officer, Mr. Faud serves as Managing Director, U.K., and Mr. De Bever served, through August 28, 2017, as Chief
Operating Officer. Each employment agreement has (or had, in the case of Mr. De Bever) an initial one-year term, subject to automatic
one-year renewals thereafter, unless either party provides at least ninety days’ prior written notice of non-renewal.

 
The employment agreements provide for Messrs. Young, Humphries and Faud to receive annual base salaries which, as of

October 31, 2018, were equal to $350,000, $265,000, and $201,075 respectively. Mr. De Bever’s employment agreement provided that he
was entitled to receive an annual base salary that was, as of his termination date, $250,000. Each employment agreement provides (or, in
the case of Mr. De Bever, provided) for the applicable NEO’s eligibility to participate in employee benefit plans, programs and
arrangements provided to Brundage-Bone’s similarly-situated executives generally. In addition, the employment agreements provide (or,
provided, in the case of Mr. De Bever) that Messrs. Young, Humphries, and Faud are (or were, as applicable) eligible to receive annual
cash bonuses targeted at 55%, 50%, 40% and 0%, respectively, of their respective annual base salaries, based on the attainment of pre-
established company and individual performance metrics. In addition, each employment agreement provides (or provided in the case of Mr.
De Bever) for company payment of a car allowance equal to $24,000 annually for Messrs. Young, Humphries and De Bever and £10,000
for Mr. Faud.

 
Under their employment agreements, upon a termination of the applicable NEO’s employment without “cause,” due to the

applicable NEO’s resignation for “good reason” (each such term as defined in the applicable employment agreement) or due to Brundage-
Bone’s non-renewal of the employment term, subject to the applicable NEO’s timely execution and non-revocation of a general release of
claims, the NEO will be eligible to receive (1) twelve months of continued payment of base salary, (2) a pro rata portion of the NEO’s
annual bonus for the year of termination, (3) company-subsidized healthcare continuation coverage for up to twelve months following
termination. In addition, upon a termination of the applicable NEO’s employment due to his death or disability, subject to the applicable
NEO’s (or the NEO’s estate’s) timely execution and non-revocation of a general release of claims, the NEO will be eligible to receive a pro
rata portion of his annual bonus for the year of termination.

 
The employment agreements also contain certain confidentiality, nondisclosure and non-disparagement provisions effective during

and after employment, as well as non-competition and non-solicitation restrictions that are effective during the applicable NEO’s
employment with Brundage-Bone and for twelve months thereafter.
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2015 Plan
 

For the fiscal years ended October 31, 2017 and 2018, the Company maintained the 2015 Plan, which became effective on
February 6, 2015. The material terms of the 2015 Plan are described in Concrete Pumping Holdings Acquisition Corp.’s Form S-4/A filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 8, 2018, in the section titled “2015 Plan”, which is incorporated by reference
herein.
 
Certain Relationships and Related Transactions
 

The description of certain relationships and related transactions is included in the proxy statement/prospectus in the section entitled
“Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions,” which is incorporated herein by reference.

 
The information set forth in the sections entitled “Stockholders Agreement” and “Indemnification Agreements” in Item 1.01 of

this Current Report on Form 8-K is incorporated herein by reference.
 
The information regarding the Argand Subscription Agreement set forth in Item 2.01 of this Current Report on Form 8-K is

incorporated herein by reference.
 

Market Price and Dividends on the Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters
 

In connection with the Closing, the Company’s common stock and warrants began trading on Nasdaq under the symbols “BBCP”
and “BBCPW,” respectively, and Industrea’s units, Class A common stock and warrants were delisted from Nasdaq. As of the Closing Date
there were 34 holders of record of Company common stock. The Company’s warrants are scheduled to cease trading on Nasdaq at the
opening of business on January 17, 2019. Following the delisting, the Company anticipates that the warrants will be quoted on the over-
the-counter markets operated by OTC Markets Group under the symbol “BBCPW.” The terms of the warrants are not affected by the
delisting, and the warrants may still be exercised in accordance with their terms to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock. The
continued listing of the Company’s common stock on under the ticker symbol “BBCP” is also not affected by the delisting of the warrants.

 
The Company has not paid any cash dividends on its common stock to date. It is the present intention of the Company to retain

any earnings for use in its business operations and, accordingly, the Company does not anticipate the Board declaring any dividends in the
foreseeable future.
 
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

 
The disclosure set forth above in this Item 2.01 with respect to the issuance of the Company common stock in the CPH Merger

pursuant to the Non-Management Rollover Agreement and the Management Rollover Agreement and the Series A Preferred Stock pursuant
to the Preferred Stock Subscription Agreement is incorporated herein by reference.

 
The Company common stock issued in the CPH Merger pursuant to the Non-Management Rollover Agreement and the

Management Rollover Agreement and the Series A Preferred Stock issued pursuant to the Preferred Stock Subscription Agreement was not
registered under the Securities Act in reliance on the exemption from registration provided by Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act and/or
Regulation D promulgated thereunder.
 
Description of Securities
 

A description of the Company common stock, preferred stock and warrants is included in the proxy statement/prospectus in the
section entitled “Description of Newco Securities,” which is incorporated herein by reference.

 
Indemnification of Directors and Officers
 

The Charter provides that the Company’s officers and directors will be indemnified by the Company to the fullest extent
authorized by Delaware law, as it now exists or may in the future be amended. In addition, the Charter provides that the Company’s
directors will not be personally liable for monetary damages to the Company for breaches of their fiduciary duty as directors, unless they
violated their duty of loyalty to the Company or its stockholders, acted in bad faith, knowingly or intentionally violated the law, authorized
unlawful payments of dividends, unlawful stock purchases or unlawful redemptions, or derived an improper personal benefit from their
actions as directors. The Company has entered into agreements with its officers and directors to provide contractual indemnification in
addition to the indemnification provided for in the Charter. The Bylaws also permit the Company to secure insurance on behalf of any
officer, director or employee for any liability arising out of his or her actions, regardless of whether Delaware law would permit such
indemnification. The Company has purchased a policy of directors’ and officers’ liability insurance that insures its officers and directors
against the cost of defense, settlement or payment of a judgment in some circumstances and insures the Company against its obligations to
indemnify its officers and directors. 
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The information set forth in the section entitled “Indemnification Agreements” in Item 1.01 of this Current Report on Form 8-K is

incorporated herein by reference.
 
Financial Statements, Supplementary Data and Exhibits
 

The information set forth under Item 9.01 of this Current Report on Form 8-K is incorporated herein by reference.
 
Item 9.01. Financial Statements and Exhibits.
 
(a) Financial Statements of Business Acquired.
 

The consolidated financial statements of CPH as of October 31, 2018 and 2017 and for the years ended October 31, 2018, 2017
and 2016 and the related notes and report of independent registered public accounting firm thereto are included as Exhibit 99.3 and
incorporated herein by reference.
 

The consolidated financial statements of Camfaud Concrete as of November 16, 2016 and September 30, 2016 and 2015 and for
the period from October 1, 2016 to November 16, 2016 and for the years ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 and the related notes and
report of independent registered public accounting firm thereto are included in the proxy statement/prospectus and incorporated herein by
reference.

 
The consolidated financial statements of Industrea for the year ended December 31, 2017 and for the period from April 7, 2017

(date of inception) to December 31, 2017 and the related notes thereto and report of independent registered public accounting firm thereon
are set forth in the proxy statement/prospectus beginning on page F-3 and are incorporated herein by reference.

 
The unaudited financial statements of Industrea for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 and for the period from

April 7, 2017 (date of inception) to September 30, 2017 and the related notes thereto are set forth in the proxy statement/prospectus
beginning on page F-18 and are incorporated herein by reference.
 
(b) Pro Forma Financial Information.
 

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information of the Company is included as Exhibit 99.4 and incorporated
herein by reference.

 
(d) Exhibits
 

The following exhibits are being filed herewith:
 
Exhibit No.  Description
2.1  Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of September 7, 2018, by and among the Company, Industrea Acquisition Corp.,

Concrete Pumping Intermediate Acquisition Corp., Concrete Pumping Merger Sub Inc., Industrea Acquisition Merger Sub
Inc., Concrete Pumping Holdings, Inc. and PGP Investors, LLC, as the Holder Representative (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 2.1 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by Industrea Acquisition Corp. on September 7, 2018).

2.2  Amendment No. 1 to Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of October 30, 2018, by and among the Company, Industrea
Acquisition Corp., Concrete Pumping Intermediate Acquisition Corp., Concrete Pumping Merger Sub Inc., Industrea
Acquisition Merger Sub Inc., Concrete Pumping Holdings, Inc., and PGP Investors, LLC, as the Holder Representative
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Company on December 10,
2018).
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2.3  Amendment No. 2 to Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of November 16, 2018, by and among the Company,

Industrea Acquisition Corp., Concrete Pumping Intermediate Acquisition Corp., Concrete Pumping Merger Sub Inc.,
Industrea Acquisition Merger Sub Inc., Concrete Pumping Holdings, Inc., and PGP Investors, LLC, as the Holder
Representative (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.3 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Company on
December 10, 2018).

3.1  Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Current Report on
Form 8-K filed by the Company on December 10, 2018).

3.2  Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the
Company on December 10, 2018).

3.3  Certificate of Designations (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the
Company on December 10, 2018).

4.1  Specimen Common Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by
the Company on December 10, 2018).

4.2  Specimen Warrant Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the
Company on December 10, 2018).

4.3  Warrant Agreement, dated July 26, 2017, between Industrea Acquisition Corp. and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust
Company, as warrant agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by
Industrea Acquisition Corp. on August 1, 2017).

4.4  Assignment and Assumption Agreement, by and among the Company, Industrea Acquisition Corp. and Continental Stock
Transfer & Trust Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the
Company on December 10, 2018).

10.1  Letter Agreement, dated as of July 26, 2017, by and among Industrea Acquisition Corp., its officers, certain directors
CFLL Sponsor Holdings, LLC (f/k/a and Industrea Alexandria LLC) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-38166), filed by Industrea Acquisition Corp. on August 1, 2017).

10.2  Letter Agreement, dated as of July 26, 2017, by and among Industrea Acquisition Corp., its independent directors and
CFLL Sponsor Holdings, LLC (f/k/a Industrea Alexandria LLC) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-38166), filed by Industrea Acquisition Corp. on August 1, 2017).

10.3  Amendment to Letter Agreement, dated as of October 12, 2017, by and among Industrea Acquisition Corp. and its
independent directors, (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-
38166), filed by Industrea Acquisition Corp. on March 29, 2018).

10.4  Promissory Note, dated April 10, 2017, issued to CFLL Sponsor Holdings, LLC (f/k/a Industrea Alexandria LLC)
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-219053), filed by
Industrea Acquisition Corp. on June 29, 2017).

10.5  Investment Management Trust Agreement, dated as of July 26, 2017, by and between Industrea Acquisition Corp. and
Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Current Report on Form 8-
K (File No. 001-38166), filed by Industrea Acquisition Corp. on August 1, 2017).

10.6  Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of July 26, 2017, by and among Industrea Acquisition Corp., CFLL Sponsor
Holdings, LLC (f/k/a Industrea Alexandria LLC) and the Holders signatory thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.4 to the Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-38166), filed by Industrea Acquisition Corp. on August 1, 2017).

10.7  Securities Subscription Agreement, effective as of April 10, 2017, between Industrea Acquisition Corp., and CFLL
Sponsor Holdings, LLC (f/k/a Industrea Alexandria LLC) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-219053), filed by Industrea Acquisition Corp. on June 29, 2017).

10.8  Amended and Restated Private Placement Warrants Purchase Agreement, dated June 28, 2017, between Industrea
Acquisition Corp. and CFLL Sponsor Holdings, LLC (f/k/a Industrea Alexandria LLC) (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.6 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-219053), filed by Industrea Acquisition Corp. on
June 29, 2017).

10.9  Administrative Support Agreement, dated July 26, 2017, by and between Industrea Acquisition Corp. and CFLL Sponsor
Holdings, LLC (f/k/a Industrea Alexandria LLC) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Current Report on Form
8-K (File No. 001-38166), filed by Industrea Acquisition Corp. on August 1, 2017).

10.10  Non-Management Rollover Agreement, dated September 7, 2018, by and among Concrete Pumping Holdings Acquisition
Corp., Industrea Acquisition Corp. and the Rollover Holders party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-38166), filed by Industrea Acquisition Corp. on September 7, 2018).
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10.11  Management Rollover Agreement, dated September 7, 2018, by and among Concrete Pumping Holdings Acquisition

Corp., Industrea Acquisition Corp. and the Rollover Holders party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-38166), filed by Industrea Acquisition Corp. on September 7, 2018).

10.12  U.K. Share Purchase Agreement, dated September 7, 2018, by and among Lux Concrete Holdings II S.á r.l., Concrete
Pumping Holdings Acquisition Corp. and the Vendors party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-38166), filed by Industrea Acquisition Corp. on September 7, 2018).

10.13  Argand Subscription Agreement, dated September 7, 2018, by and among Industrea Acquisition Corp., Concrete Pumping
Holdings Acquisition Corp. and Argand Partners Fund, LP (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-38166), filed by Industrea Acquisition Corp. on September 7, 2018).

10.14  Form of Common Stock Subscription Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Current Report on
Form 8-K (File No. 001-38166), filed by Industrea Acquisition Corp. on September 7, 2018).

10.15  Preferred Stock Subscription Agreement, dated September 7, 2018, by and among the Company, Industrea Acquisition
Corp. and Nuveen Alternatives Advisors, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Current Report on Form
8-K (File No. 001-38166), filed by Industrea Acquisition Corp. on September 7, 2018).

10.16  Commitment Letter, dated September 7, 2018, by and among Concrete Pumping Merger Sub Inc., Credit Suisse Loan
Funding LLC and Credit Suisse AG (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Current Report on Form 8-K (File
No. 001-38166), filed by Industrea Acquisition Corp. on September 7, 2018).

10.17  Amended and Restated Commitment Letter, dated September 26, 2018 by and among Concrete Pumping Merger Sub Inc.,
Credit Suisse Loan Funding LLC, Credit Suisse AG, Jefferies Finance LLC, Stifel Bank & Trust and Stifel Nicolaus &
Company, Incorporated (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed by
Industrea Acquisition Corp. on October 19, 2018).

10.18  Commitment Letter, dated September 7, 2018, by and among Concrete Pumping Merger Sub Inc., and Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-38166),
filed by Industrea Acquisition Corp. on September 7, 2018).

10.19  Expense Reimbursement Letter, dated September 7, 2018, by and among Argand Partners Fund, LP, CFLL Sponsor
Holdings, LLC (f/k/a Industrea Alexandria LLC), Industrea Acquisition Corp., Concrete Pumping Holdings, Inc. and
BBCP Investors, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-
38166), filed by Industrea Acquisition Corp. on September 7, 2018).

10.20  Convertible Promissory Note, dated as of October 9, 2018, issued to CFLL Sponsor Holdings, LLC (f/k/a Industrea
Alexandria LLC) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by Industrea
Acquisition Corp. on October 9, 2018).

10.21  Concrete Pumping Holdings, Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the
Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed by Concrete Pumping Holdings Acquisition Corp. on October 22, 2018).

10.22  First Amendment to Concrete Pumping Holdings, Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.2 of the Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed by Concrete Pumping Holdings Acquisition Corp. on October 22,
2018).

10.23  Form Stock Option Agreement under Concrete Pumping Holdings, Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed by Concrete Pumping Holdings Acquisition
Corp. on October 22, 2018).

10.24  Employment Agreement by and between Brundage-Bone Concrete Pumping, Inc. and Bruce Young, dated July 11, 2014
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed by Concrete Pumping Holdings
Acquisition Corp. on October 22, 2018).

10.25  Employment Agreement by and between Brundage-Bone Concrete Pumping, Inc. and Stephen De Bever, dated August 4,
2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of the Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed by Concrete Pumping
Holdings Acquisition Corp. on October 22, 2018).

10.26  Employment Agreement by and between Brundage-Bone Concrete Pumping, Inc. and Iain Humphries, dated August 4,
2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of the Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed by Concrete Pumping
Holdings Acquisition Corp. on October 22, 2018).

10.27  Employment Agreement by and between Brundage-Bone Concrete Pumping, Inc. and Gary Bernardez, dated May 26,
2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of the Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed by Concrete Pumping
Holdings Acquisition Corp. on October 22, 2018).
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10.28  Employment Agreement by and between Camfaud Concrete Pumps Limited and David Faud, dated November 17, 2016

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of the Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed by Concrete Pumping Holdings
Acquisition Corp. on October 22, 2018).

10.29  Term Loan Agreement, dated as of December 6, 2018, among the Company, Concrete Pumping Intermediate Acquisition
Corp., Brundage-Bone Concrete Pumping Holdings, Inc. (f/k/a Concrete Pumping Merger Sub, Inc.), as borrower, the
financial institutions party thereto, Credit Suisse AG, Cayman Islands Branch, as administrative agent, and Credit Suisse
Loan Funding LLC, Jefferies Finance LLC and Stifel Nicolaus & Company Incorporated LLC, as joint lead arrangers and
joint bookrunners (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Company
on December 10, 2018).

10.30  Credit Agreement, dated as of December 6, 2018, by and among the Company, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association,
as agent, sole lead arranger and sole bookrunner, the lenders party thereto, Wells Fargo Capital Finance (UK) Limited, as
UK security agent, Concrete Pumping Intermediate Acquisition Corp., Brundage-Bone Concrete Pumping Holdings, Inc.
(f/k/a Concrete Pumping Merger Sub, Inc.), Brundage-Bone Concrete Pumping, Inc. and Eco-Pan, Inc., as US Borrowers,
and Camfaud Concrete Pumps Limited and Premier Concrete Pumping Limited, as the UK borrowers (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.30 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Company on December 10, 2018).

10.31  US Guaranty and Security Agreement, dated as of December 6, 2018, by each of the US ABL Borrowers and US ABL
Guarantors in favor of Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 of the
Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Company on December 10, 2018).

10.32  Guarantee and Debenture, dated as of December 6, 2018, by each of the UK ABL Borrowers and UK ABL Guarantors in
favor of Wells Fargo Capital Finance (UK) Limited, as UK security agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 of
the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Company on December 10, 2018).

10.33  Pledge and Security Agreement, dated as of December 6, 2018, by Concrete Merger Sub Inc., as term loan borrower, and
the guarantors in respect of the obligations under Term Loan Agreement, dated as of December 6, 2018, party thereto in
favor of Credit Suisse AG, Cayman Islands Branch, as administrative agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 of
the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Company on December 10, 2018).

10.34  Guaranty Agreement, dated as of December 6, 2018, by the guarantors in respect of the obligations under Term Loan
Agreement, dated as of December 6, 2018, party thereto in favor of Credit Suisse AG, Cayman Islands Branch as
administrative agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.34 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Company
on December 10, 2018).

10.35  Stockholders Agreement, dated December 6, 2018, by and among the Company and the Investors party thereto
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.35 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Company on December 10,
2018).

10.36  Letter Agreement, dated as of December 6, 2018, by and between the Company and Nuveen Alternative Advisors, LLC,
on behalf of one or more funds and accounts (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.36 of the Current Report on Form 8-
K filed by the Company on December 10, 2018).

10.37  Form of Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed
by the Company on December 10, 2018).

10.38  Concrete Pumping Holdings, Inc. 2018 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.38 of the Current
Report on Form 8-K filed by the Company on December 10, 2018).

21.1  Subsidiaries of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 21.1 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the
Company on December 10, 2018).

99.1  Press Release (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Company on
December 10, 2018).

99.2  Investor Presentation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Company
on December 10, 2018).

99.3  Concrete Pumping Holdings, Inc. Consolidated Financial Statements as of October 31, 2018 and 2017 and for the years
ended October 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016.

99.4  Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information of the Company as of and for the year ended October
31, 2018.

 

 80  

http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1751809/000114420418054631/tv502653_ex10-8.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1751809/000114420418054631/tv502653_ex10-8.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1703956/000114420418063665/tv508501_ex10-29.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1703956/000114420418063665/tv508501_ex10-29.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1703956/000114420418063665/tv508501_ex10-30.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1703956/000114420418063665/tv508501_ex10-30.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1703956/000114420418063665/tv508501_ex10-31.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1703956/000114420418063665/tv508501_ex10-31.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1703956/000114420418063665/tv508501_ex10-32.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1703956/000114420418063665/tv508501_ex10-32.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1703956/000114420418063665/tv508501_ex10-33.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1703956/000114420418063665/tv508501_ex10-33.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1703956/000114420418063665/tv508501_ex10-34.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1703956/000114420418063665/tv508501_ex10-34.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1703956/000114420418063665/tv508501_ex10-35.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1703956/000114420418063665/tv508501_ex10-35.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1703956/000114420418063665/tv508501_ex10-36.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1703956/000114420418063665/tv508501_ex10-36.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1703956/000114420418063665/tv508501_ex10-37.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1703956/000114420418063665/tv508501_ex10-37.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1703956/000114420418063665/tv508501_ex10-38.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1703956/000114420418063665/tv508501_ex10-38.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1703956/000114420418063665/tv508501_ex21.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1703956/000114420418063665/tv508501_ex21.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1703956/000114420418063665/tv508501_ex99-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1703956/000114420418063665/tv508501_ex99-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1703956/000114420418063665/tv508501_ex99-2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1703956/000114420418063665/tv508501_ex99-2.htm


 

 
SIGNATURE

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its

behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.
 

 CONCRETE PUMPING HOLDINGS, INC.
   
 By: /s/ Iain Humphries
  Name: Iain Humphries
  Title: Chief Financial Officer and Secretary
   
 Dated: January 29, 2019   

 

 



 
Exhibit 99.3

 
Concrete Pumping Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries
 
Consolidated Financial Report
October 31, 2018 and 2017
 

 



 

 
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
 
Shareholders and Board of Directors
Concrete Pumping Holdings, Inc.
6461 Downing Street
Denver, CO, 80229
 
Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Concrete Pumping Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the “Company”) as
of October 31, 2018, and 2017, the related consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity, and cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended October 31, 2018, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated
financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Company and subsidiaries at October 31, 2018 and 2017, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended October 31, 2018, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
 
Basis for Opinion
 
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on the Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and
the PCAOB.
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB and in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in
the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing
procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts
and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 
/s/ BDO USA, LLP
We have served as the Company's auditor since 2018.
 
Dallas, Texas
January 29, 2019
 

   



 

 
Concrete Pumping Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries
 
Consolidated Balance Sheets
October 31, 2018 and 2017
 
  2018   2017  
Assets         
         
Current assets:         

Cash  $ 8,621,279  $ 6,925,042 
Trade receivables, net   40,117,777   33,101,052 
Inventory   3,809,876   3,009,651 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   3,946,332   3,668,835 

Total current assets   56,495,264   46,704,580 
         
Property, plant and equipment, net   201,915,440   175,542,135 
Intangible assets, net   36,429,018   42,034,188 
Goodwill   74,656,100   73,509,208 
Deferred financing costs   647,922   1,056,516 

Total assets  $ 370,143,744  $ 338,846,627 
         
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity         
         
Current liabilities:         

Revolving loan  $ 62,986,962  $ 65,888,871 
Current portion of capital lease obligations   85,087   193,039 
Accounts payable   5,191,711   7,116,901 
Accrued payroll and payroll expenses   6,705,209   6,902,666 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   18,829,602   14,622,122 
Income taxes payable   1,151,741   1,577,923 

Total current liabilities   94,950,312   96,301,522 
         
Long term debt, net of discount for deferred financing costs   173,470,065   156,984,830 
Contingent consideration   1,458,077   968,783 
Capital lease obligations, less current portion   567,665   652,752 
Deferred income taxes   39,004,853   50,111,326 

Total liabilities   309,450,972   305,019,213 
         
Redeemable preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 2,342,264 shares issued and outstanding as of
October 31, 2018 and 2017 (liquidation preference of $11,239,060 and $9,845,139), respectively   14,671,869   14,671,869 
         
Stockholders’ equity:         

Common stock, $0.001 par value, 15,000,000 shares authorized, 7,576,289 shares issued and
outstanding   7,576   7,576 

Additional paid-in capital   18,724,707   18,444,075 
Accumulated other comprehensive income   584,074   2,381,190 
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit)   26,704,546   (1,677,296)
   46,020,903   19,155,545 

         
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 370,143,744  $ 338,846,627 

 
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
 

   



 

 
Concrete Pumping Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries
 
Consolidated Statements of Income
Years Ended October 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016
 
  2018   2017   2016  
          
Revenue  $ 243,223,267  $ 211,210,599  $ 172,425,547 
             
Cost of operations   136,876,880   121,451,499   97,241,773 

Gross profit  $ 106,346,387   89,759,100   75,183,774 
             
General and administrative expenses   58,789,016   52,864,910   40,590,760 
Transaction costs   7,589,825   4,489,517   3,691,466 

Income from operations   39,967,546   32,404,673   30,901,548 
             
Other (expense) income:             

Interest expense   (21,424,747)   (22,747,848)   (19,516,077)
Loss on extinguishment of debt   -   (5,161,065)   (643,876)
Other income (expense), net   54,923   174,177   (54,463)

   (21,369,824)   (27,734,736)   (20,214,416)
             

Income before income taxes   18,597,722   4,669,937   10,687,132 
             
Income tax (benefit) provision   (9,784,120)   3,756,658   4,453,541 
             

Net income   28,381,842   913,279   6,233,591 
             
Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest   -   -   (36,364)
             

Net income attributable to Concrete Pumping Holdings, Inc. and
Subsidiaries  $ 28,381,842  $ 913,279  $ 6,269,955 

             
Less preferred shares dividends   (1,428,257)   (1,811,837)   (1,695,122)
Less undistributed earnings allocated to preferred shares   (6,365,083)   -   (1,108,807)
             

Undistributed income (loss) available to common shareholders  $ 20,588,502  $ (898,558)  $ 3,466,026 
             
Weighted average common shares outstanding             

Basic   7,576,289   7,576,289   7,576,289 
Diluted   8,325,890   7,576,289   8,279,321 

             
Net income (loss) per common share             

Basic  $ 2.72  $ (0.12)  $ 0.46 

Diluted  $ 2.47  $ (0.12)  $ 0.42 
 
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
 

   



 

 
Concrete Pumping Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries
 
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
Years Ended October 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016
 
  2018   2017   2016  
          
Net income  $ 28,381,842  $ 913,279  $ 6,269,955 
             
Other comprehensive income:             

Foreign currency translation adjustment   (1,797,116)   2,381,190   - 
             

Total comprehensive income  $ 26,584,726  $ 3,294,469  $ 6,269,955 
 
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
 

   



 

 
Concrete Pumping Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries
 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity
Years Ended October 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016
 
           Accumulated        
           Other        
  Common   Additional   Noncontrolling   Comprehensive   Retained Earnings     
  Stock   Paid-In Capital   Interest   Income   (Accumulated Deficit)   Total  
Balance, October 31, 2015  $ 7,576  $ 18,658,951  $ 28,065  $ -  $ (3,130,640)  $ 15,563,952 

Stock-based compensation   -   109,424   -   -   -   109,424 
Net income   -   -   (36,364)   -   6,269,955   6,233,591 
Disolution of noncontrolling
interest   -   -   8,299   -   -   8,299 

Balance, October 31, 2016   7,576   18,768,375   -   -   3,139,315   21,915,266 
Stock-based compensation   -   362,345   -   -   -   362,345 
Repurchase of stock options   -   (686,645)   -   -   -   (686,645)
Purchased for retirement, not re-
issuable   -   -   -   -   (889,825)   (889,825)
Preferred stock dividend   -   -   -   -   (4,840,065)   (4,840,065)
Net income   -   -   -   -   913,279   913,279 
Foreign currency translation
adjustment   -   -   -   2,381,190   -   2,381,190 

Balance, October 31, 2017   7,576   18,444,075   -   2,381,190   (1,677,296)   19,155,545 
Stock-based compensation   -   280,632   -   -   -   280,632 
Net income   -   -   -   -   28,381,842   28,381,842 
Foreign currency translation
adjustment   -   -   -   (1,797,116)   -   (1,797,116)

Balance, October 31, 2018  $ 7,576  $ 18,724,707  $ -  $ 584,074  $ 26,704,546  $ 46,020,903 

 
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
 

   



 

 
Concrete Pumping Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries
 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended October 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016
 
  2018   2017   2016  
Cash flows from operating activities:             

Net income  $ 28,381,842  $ 913,279  $ 6,233,591 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by  operating activities:             

Depreciation   17,718,814   19,338,884   16,635,995 
Deferred income taxes   (11,106,473)   238,696   3,754,628 
Amortization of deferred financing costs   1,689,575   1,863,641   1,751,675 
Accretion of debt discount   -   275,400   330,480 
Amortization of debt premium   (60,465)   (72,527)   - 
Amortization of intangible assets   7,903,732   7,815,141   5,673,548 
Stock-based compensation expense   280,632   362,345   109,424 
Write-off of deferred financing costs included in loss on extinguishment of debt   -   1,972,574   931,838 
Write-off of debt discount costs included in loss on extinguishment of debt   -   1,473,392   - 
Debt prepayment penalty included in loss on extinguishment of debt   -   1,440,000   - 
Loss (gain) on repayments of long-term debt included in loss on extinguishment

of debt   -   303,420   (287,962)
Dissolution of noncontrolling interest   -   -   8,299 
(Gain) on the sale of property, plant and equipment   (2,622,520)   (567,876)   (384,988)
Accretion of contingent consideration   526,817   -   - 

Net changes in operating assets and liabilities (net of acquisitions):
            

Trade receivables, net   (7,469,464)   212,586   (673,660)
Inventory   (706,667)   (461,824)   (473,187)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   (1,407,883)   (232,495)   (1,015,506)
Income taxes payable, net   (381,322)   (1,277,467)   (1,025,689)
Accounts payable   (1,832,398)   2,005,714   74,811 
Accrued payroll, accrued expenses and other current liabilities   8,702,438   (1,376,489)   4,114,143 

Net cash provided by operating activities   39,616,657   34,226,394   35,757,440 
             
Cash flows from investing activities:             

Purchases of property, plant and equipment   (31,738,369)   (23,671,035)   (22,570,712)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment   3,238,933   1,009,523   247,041 
Acquisition of net assets, net of cash acquired   (21,000,000)   (60,427,249)   (6,650,000)

Net cash used in investing activities   (49,499,436)   (83,088,761)   (28,973,671)
             
Cash flows from financing activities:             

Premium proceeds on long term debt   600,000   -   - 
Proceeds on revolving loan   237,194,598   266,604,233   155,447,066 
Payments on revolving loan   (239,587,567)   (205,163,292)   (151,839,827)
Proceeds on long term debt   15,000,000   40,400,000   - 
Principal payments on long term debt   -   (39,104,760)   (18,352,038)
Payment of deferred financing costs   -   (1,454,364)   - 
Debt prepayment penalty   -   (1,440,000)   - 
Payments on capital lease obligations   (194,190)   (151,141)   (68,003)
Preferred stock purchase   -   (1,400,009)   - 
Payment of preferred stock dividends   -   (4,840,065)   - 
Repurchase of stock options   -   (686,645)   - 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities   13,012,841   52,763,957   (14,812,802)

             
Effect of foreign currency exchange rate on cash   (1,443,825)   (225,068)   - 
             

Net increase (decrease) in cash   1,696,237   3,676,522   (8,029,033)
             
Cash:             

Beginning of year   6,925,042   3,248,520   11,277,553 
             

End of year  $ 8,621,279  $ 6,925,042  $ 3,248,520 
 

   



 

 
Concrete Pumping Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries
 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Continued)
Years Ended October 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016
 
  2018   2017   2016  
Supplemental cash flow information:             

Cash paid for interest  $ 22,167,732  $ 22,653,135  $ 17,680,951 
             

Cash paid for income taxes  $ 1,072,947  $ 4,356,081  $ 1,724,602 
             

Equipment purchases included in accrued expenses  $ 355,147  $ 2,172,115  $ 6,015,009 
 
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
 

   



 

 
Note 1. Organization and Description of Business
 
Organization: Concrete Pumping Holdings, Inc. (CPH, the Company or Parent) was incorporated in the state of Delaware on July 14,
2014. Concrete Pumping Intermediate Holdings, LLC (CPIH), a wholly owned subsidiary of CPH, was formed on June 16, 2014, as a
Delaware limited liability company to acquire, through the creation of BB Merger Sub, Inc. (BBMI) and EP Merger Sub, Inc. (EPMI), all
outstanding stock of Brundage-Bone Concrete Pumping, Inc. (BBCPI, BB, or Brundage-Bone) and Eco-Pan, Inc. (Eco-Pan or EP) on
August 18, 2014 (the Merger). BBMI and EPMI were formed on July 23, 2014, as Colorado corporations and wholly owned subsidiaries of
CPIH to merge with and into BBCPI and EP, respectively, with BBCPI and EP being the surviving corporations. BBCPI and EP are wholly
owned subsidiaries of CPIH. Concrete Pumping Property Holdings, LLC (PropCo), a wholly owned subsidiary of CPH, was incorporated in
the state of Delaware on July 14, 2014, to hold certain real property that is leased to BBCPI. CPH, CPIH, BBMI and EPMI commenced
operations on August 18, 2014. The equity sponsor is Peninsula Pacific Strategic Partners, LLC (the Sponsor). Refer to Note 19 below for
details regarding the consummation of the merger with Industrea Acquisition Corporation on December 6, 2018.
 
Nature of business: Brundage-Bone was incorporated in the state of Colorado on October 31, 2011. Brundage-Bone is a concrete
pumping service provider in the United States. Brundage-Bone’s core business is the provision of concrete pumping services to general
contractors and concrete finishing companies. Brundage-Bone is a construction services business that provides specialized equipment with
technically trained operators. Most often equipment returns to a “home base” nightly. Brundage-Bone does not contract to purchase, mix,
or deliver concrete. Brundage-Bone most often contracts for its services on a per hour and per yard poured schedule customized to each
market. In addition, Brundage-Bone actively sells concrete pumps, parts and service; however, the sale of parts are not a significant
component of Brundage-Bone operations. Brundage-Bone has operations in Alabama, Arizona, Arkansas, California, Colorado, Florida,
Georgia, Idaho, Kansas, Missouri, New Mexico, Oklahoma, Oregon, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, Utah, Washington and Wyoming,
with its corporate headquarters in Denver, Colorado. Brundage-Bone has 80 branch locations across 22 states.
 
Eco-Pan was incorporated in the state of Colorado on April 4, 2003. Eco-Pan provides industrial cleanup and containment services,
primarily to customers in the construction industry. Eco-Pan uses containment pans specifically designed to hold waste products from
concrete and other industrial cleanup operations. Eco-Pan has operating locations in Arizona, California, Colorado, Idaho, Maryland,
Oklahoma, Oregon, Texas, Utah, and Washington, with its corporate headquarters in Denver, Colorado.
 
In May 2015, Eco-Pan formed a joint venture, Eco-Pan Midwest, LLC (EPMW), with an initial capital contribution of $76,500, which
represented 51 percent of the outstanding membership interests in EPMW. EPMW was dissolved in 2016. See Note 2 regarding principles
of consolidation related to EPMW.
 
In November 2016, Brundage-Bone entered into two share purchase agreements to acquire two concrete pumping companies based in the
United Kingdom (UK) (collectively, Camfaud): Camfaud Concrete Pumps Limited and Premier Concrete Pumping Limited, which each
also owned 50 percent of the stock of South Coast Concrete Pumping Limited. In connection with the transactions, a new entity, Oxford
Pumping Holdings Ltd. (Oxford), was created as a wholly owned subsidiary of Brundage-Bone to serve as a UK-based holding company.
In July 2017, Camfaud acquired Reilly Concrete Pumping Limited (Reilly), another UK-based concrete pumping company. Refer to Note 3
for discussion of the acquisitions.
 
Camfaud’s core business is the provision of concrete pumping equipment to customers in the commercial, infrastructure and residential
sectors. Camfaud is a construction services business that provides specialized concrete pumping equipment with technically trained
operators. Camfaud provides the equipment operator and the equipment. Camfaud does not contract to purchase, mix or to deliver concrete.
Camfaud most often contracts for its equipment services on a daily, weekly or monthly schedule customized to each market. Camfaud has
28 branch locations throughout the UK, with its corporate headquarters in Epping, Essex.
 

   



 

 
Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
 
Basis of presentation: The Company follows accounting standards established by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) to
ensure consistent reporting of financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows. References to generally accepted accounting
principles (U.S. GAAP) in these footnotes are to the FASB Accounting Standards Codification (ASC or the Codification).
 
Principles of consolidation: These financial statements present the consolidated financial position of the Company and its wholly owned
subsidiaries, Brundage-Bone, Camfaud, Eco-Pan, PropCo, and their respective subsidiaries (collectively, the Company) as of October 31,
2018, 2017, and 2016, and the results of operations and cash flows for the three years then ended. Until its dissolution in 2016, the accounts
of EPMW were also included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. In accordance with ASC 810, Consolidation, the portion
of the Company’s equity attributable to the noncontrolling interest in EPMW was historically reported separately within the stockholders’
equity section of the consolidated balance sheets and the Company’s portion of the net loss attributable to the noncontrolling interest in
EPMW reported separately below net income on the consolidated statements of income. All significant intercompany accounts and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
 
Use of estimates: The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could
differ from those estimates. Significant estimates include accrued sales and use taxes, the liability for incurred but unreported claims under
various partially self-insured polices, allowance for doubtful accounts, goodwill impairment analysis, valuation of share based
compensation and accounting for business combinations. Actual results may differ from those estimates, and such differences may be
material to the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
 
Cash: Cash includes time deposits and certificates of deposit with original maturities of three months or less.
 
Trade receivables: Trade receivables are carried at the original invoice amount less an estimate made for doubtful receivables based on a
review of all outstanding amounts. Generally, the Company does not require collateral for their accounts receivable; however, the
Company may file statutory liens or take other appropriate legal action when necessary on construction projects in which collection
problems arise. A trade receivable is typically considered to be past due if any portion of the receivable balance is outstanding for more
than 30 days. The Company does not charge interest on past-due trade receivables.
 
Management determines the allowance for doubtful accounts by identifying troubled accounts and by using historical experience applied to
an aging of accounts. The allowance for doubtful accounts was $664,332 and $601,760 as of October 31, 2018, and 2017, respectively.
Trade receivables are written off when deemed uncollectible. Recoveries of trade receivables previously written off are recorded when
received.
 
Inventory: Inventory consists primarily of replacement parts for concrete pumping equipment. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost
(first-in, first-out method) or net realizable value. The Company evaluates inventory and records an allowance for obsolete and slow-
moving inventory to account for cost adjustments to market. Based on management’s analysis, no allowance for obsolete and slow-moving
inventory was required as of October 31, 2018 and 2017.
 

   



 

 
Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
 
Fair value measurements: The FASB’s standard on fair value measurements establishes a fair value hierarchy that requires an entity to
maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. A financial instrument’s
categorization within the fair value hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. This
standard establishes three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value:
 
Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
 
Level 2 – Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities.
 
Level 3 – Unobservable inputs to the valuation methodology that are significant to the measurement of fair value of assets or liabilities
 
Deferred financing costs: The Company incurred closing costs of $12,887,000 during the Merger related to obtaining loan financing. In
conjunction with the Senior Note Exchange (see Note 8) that occurred in September 2017, Brundage-Bone incurred $585,634 related to
obtaining financing through additional term notes and $240,250 related to the US Revolver. In connection with the Company’s acquisition
of Camfaud, costs of $625,480 were incurred by Camfaud related to the UK Revolver. Deferred financing costs related to the revolver are
classified as assets and amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the revolver, while deferred financing costs related to the term
debt are shown as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of the liability and amortized over the terms of the related debt instruments
under the effective interest method. Accumulated amortization related to the US Revolver fees as of October 31, 2018 and 2017, was
$1,122,328 and $678,528, respectively. Accumulated amortization related to the UK Revolver fees as of October 31, 2018 and 2017 was
$156,714 and $210,699, respectively. See Note 8 for discussion of the term debt financing fees.
 
Goodwill: The Company accounts for goodwill under ASC 350, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other (ASC 350). The Company’s goodwill
was recorded as a result of the Company’s business combinations. The Company has recorded these business combinations using the
acquisition method of accounting. The Company tests its recorded goodwill for impairment on an annual basis on August 31, or more often
if indicators of potential impairment exist, by determining if the carrying value of each reporting unit exceeds its estimated fair value. The
Company has the option to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether or not it is more than likely that the fair value of the
reporting unit is less than the fair value. If the result of a qualitative test indicates it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting
unit is less than the carrying value, a quantitative test is performed. As further detailed in “Newly adopted accounting pronouncements”
below, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2017-04, and accordingly, goodwill impairment is recognized in the
amount that the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds the fair value of the reporting unit, not to exceed the amount of goodwill
allocated to the reporting unit, based on the results of the Step 1 analysis.
 
A quantitative assessment was performed on the Company’s reporting units as of October 31, 2018. In performing the quantitative test, the
Company compares the estimated fair value of the reporting unit to its carrying value. The estimated fair value exceeded the carrying value
of each of the four reporting units. Future impairment reviews may require write-downs in the Company’s goodwill and could have a
material adverse impact on the Company’s operating results for the periods in which such write-downs occur.
 
Long-lived assets: ASC 360 requires long-lived assets to be evaluated for impairment when indicators of impairment are present. If
indicators are present, assets are grouped to the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of other asset groups
and cash flows are estimated for each asset group over the remaining estimated life of each asset group. If the undiscounted cash flows
estimated to be generated by the asset group is less than the asset’s carrying amount, impairment is recognized in the amount of excess of
the carrying value over the fair value. No indicators of impairment were identified as of October 31, 2018 and 2017.
 

   



 

  
Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
 
Intangible assets with finite lives are being amortized on a straight-line basis, except for customer relationships, over their estimated useful
lives. The customer relationships are being amortized on an accelerated basis over their estimated useful lives.
 
Property, plant and equipment: Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost. Expenditures for additions and betterments are
capitalized. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred; however, maintenance and repairs that improve
or extend the life of existing assets are capitalized. The carrying amount of assets disposed of and the related accumulated depreciation are
eliminated from the accounts in the year of disposal. Gains or losses from property and equipment disposals are recognized in the year of
disposal. Property, plant and equipment is depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:
 
Buildings and improvements 15 to 40 years  
Capital lease assets—buildings 40 years  
Furniture and office equipment 2 to 7 years  
Machinery and equipment 3 to 25 years  
Transportation equipment 3 to 7 years  
 
Capital lease assets are being amortized over the estimated useful life of the asset (see Note 12). Capital lease amortization is included in
depreciation expense for the years ended October 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016.
 
Revenue recognition: The Company generates revenues primarily from concrete pumping services in both the United States and the
United Kingdom. Additionally, revenues are generated from the Company’s waste management business which consists of service fees
charged to customers for the delivery of our pans and containers and the disposal of the concrete waste material.
 
The Company recognizes revenue from these businesses when all of the following criteria are met: (a) persuasive evidence of an
arrangement exists, (b) the service has been performed or delivery has occurred, (c) the price is fixed or determinable, and (d) collectability
is reasonably assured. The Company’s delivery terms for replacement part sales are FOB shipping point.
 
The Company imposes and collects sales taxes concurrent with our revenue-producing transactions with customers and remits those taxes
to the various governmental authorities as prescribed by the taxing jurisdictions in which we operate. We present such taxes in our
consolidated statements of income on a net basis.
 
Stock-based compensation: The Company follows ASC 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation (ASC 718), which requires the
measurement and recognition of compensation expense, based on estimated fair values, for all share-based awards made to employees and
directors. The Company expenses the grant date fair value of the award in the consolidated statements of income over the requisite service
periods on a straight-line basis. The Company accounts for forfeitures as they occur in accordance with the early adoption of ASU No.
2016-09, Compensation—Stock Compensation (ASC 718): Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting.
 
Earnings per share: The Company calculates earnings per share in accordance with ASC 260, Earnings per Share. The two-class method
of computing earnings per share is required for entities that have participating securities. The two-class method is an earnings allocation
formula that determines earnings per share for participating securities according to dividends declared (or accumulated) and participation
rights in undistributed earnings. The Company has two classes of stock: (1) Common Stock and (2) Participating Preferred Stock
(“Preferred Stock”).
 
Basic earnings (loss) per common share is calculated by dividing net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders by the weighted
average number of shares of Common Stock outstanding each period. Diluted earnings (loss) per common share is based on the weighted
average number of shares outstanding during the period plus the common stock equivalents which would arise from the exercise of stock
options outstanding using the treasury stock method and the average market price per share during the period. Common stock equivalents
are not included in the diluted earnings (loss) per share calculation when their effect is antidilutive. 
 

 



 

  
Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
 
An anti-dilutive impact is an increase in earnings per share or a reduction in net loss per share resulting from the conversion, exercise, or
contingent issuance of certain securities.
 
Foreign currency translation: The functional currency of Camfaud is the Great British Pound (GBP). The assets and liabilities of the
foreign subsidiaries are translated into US Dollars using the year-end exchange rates, and the consolidated statements of income are
translated at the average rate for the year. The resulting translation adjustments are recorded as a component of comprehensive income on
the consolidated statements of comprehensive income and accumulated in other comprehensive income. The functional currency of our
other subsidiaries is the United States Dollar.
 
Income taxes: The Company complies with ASC 740, Income Taxes, which requires a liability approach to financial reporting for income
taxes. The Company computes deferred income tax assets and liabilities annually for differences between the financial statements and tax
basis of assets and liabilities that will result in taxable or deductible amounts in the future based on enacted tax laws and rates applicable to
the periods in which the differences are expected to affect taxable income. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce
deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized. Income tax expense includes both the current income taxes payable or refundable
and the change during the period in the deferred tax assets and liabilities.
 
The tax benefit from an uncertain tax position is only recognized in the consolidated balance sheets if the tax position is more likely than
not to be sustained upon an examination. CPIH and PropCo are no longer subject to U.S. federal, state and local income tax examinations
by tax authorities for years before 2014. Interest and penalties related to income taxes are included in the income tax provision, if any.
 
Camfaud files income tax returns in the UK. Camfaud’s national statutes are generally open for one year following the statutory filing
period.
 
Business combinations: The Company applies the principles provided in ASC 805, Business Combinations, when a business is acquired.
Tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recorded at fair value and goodwill is recognized for any differences
between the fair value of consideration transferred and the fair value of net assets acquired. Transaction costs for business combinations
are expensed as incurred in accordance with ASC 805.
 
Concentration of credit risk: Cash balances held at financial institutions may, at times, be in excess of federally insured limits. It is
management’s belief that the Company places their temporary cash balances in high-credit quality financial institutions.
 
The Company’s customer base is dispersed across the United States and United Kingdom. The Company performs ongoing evaluations of
their customers’ financial condition and requires no collateral to support credit sales. For the years ended October 31, 2018 and 2017, no
customer represented 10 percent or more of sales or trade receivables.
 
Seasonality: The Company’s sales are historically seasonal, with lower revenue in the first quarter and higher revenue in the fourth quarter
of each year. Such seasonality also causes the Company’s working capital cash flow requirements to vary from quarter to quarter primarily
depending on the variability of weather patterns with the Company generally having lower sales volume during the winter and spring
months.
 
Vendor concentration: As of October 31, 2018 and 2017 there were three significant vendors that the Company relies upon to purchase
substantially all concrete pumping boom equipment. These vendors provided sales of concrete pumping boom equipment that can be
replaced with alternate vendors should the need arise.
 

   



 

 
Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
 
Newly adopted accounting pronouncements: In May 2017, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued ASU No. 2017-09,
Compensation — Stock Compensation (ASC 718): Scope of Modification Accounting, to provide guidance about which changes to the terms
or conditions of a share-based payment award require an entity to apply modification accounting in ASC 718. The amendments in the ASU
are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, and should be applied prospectively to an award modified on or after the
adoption date. The Company elected to early adopt the amendment as of August 1, 2017, which did not have a material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
 
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-04, Intangibles — Goodwill and Other (ASC 350): Simplifying the Test for Goodwill
Impairment. The ASU simplifies the measurement of goodwill impairment by eliminating the requirement that an entity compute the
implied fair value of goodwill based on the fair values of its assets and liabilities to measure impairment. Instead, goodwill impairment will
be measured as the difference between the fair value of the reporting unit and the carrying value of the reporting unit. The ASU also
clarifies the treatment of the income tax effect of tax-deductible goodwill when measuring goodwill impairment loss. ASU 2017-04 will be
effective for the Company beginning on November 1, 2022. The amendment must be applied prospectively with early adoption permitted.
The Company elected to early adopt the amendment for the year ended October 31, 2017, which did not have a material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
 
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-06, Derivatives and Hedging (ASC 815): Contingent Put and Call Options in Debt
Instruments, which clarify the requirements for assessing whether contingent call (put) options that can accelerate the payment of principal
on debt instruments are clearly and closely related to their debt hosts. An entity performing the assessment under the amendments in this
update is required to assess the embedded call (put) options solely in accordance with the four-step decision sequence. The Company early
adopted the new standard as of November 1, 2016. The adoption of the new accounting rules did not have a material impact on the
Company’s financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
 
Recently issued accounting pronouncements not yet effective: In November 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-17, Income Taxes
(ASC 740): Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes. This ASU simplifies the presentation of deferred income taxes by eliminating
the requirement for entities to separate deferred tax liabilities and assets into current and noncurrent amounts in classified balance sheets.
Instead, it requires deferred tax assets and liabilities be classified as noncurrent in the balance sheet. ASU 2015-17 is effective for financial
statements issued for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017. Early adoption is permitted, and this ASU may be applied either
prospectively to all deferred tax liabilities and assets or retrospectively to all periods presented. The Company adopted the new standard as
of October 31, 2017 on a retrospective basis, therefore all deferred income tax assets and liabilities are presented as noncurrent. The
adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
 
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (ASC 606), requiring an entity to recognize the
amount of revenue to which it expects to be entitled for the transfer of promised goods or services to customers. The updated standard will
replace most existing revenue recognition guidance in U.S. GAAP when it becomes effective and permits the use of either a full
retrospective or retrospective with cumulative effect transition method. In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-14 which defers
the effective date of ASU 2014-09 one year making it effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018. The
Company has not yet selected a transition method and is currently evaluating the effect that the standard will have on the consolidated
financial statements.

   



 

 
Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
 
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-01, Business Combinations (ASC 805): Clarifying the Definition of a Business, which
provides guidance to assist entities with evaluating whether transactions should be accounted for as acquisitions (or disposals) of assets or
businesses. ASU 2017-01 requires entities to use a screen test to determine when an integrated set of assets and activities is not a business
or if the integrated set of assets and activities needs to be further evaluated against the framework. ASU 2017-01 will be effective for the
Company beginning on November 1, 2019. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the pending adoption of the new standard
on the consolidated financial statements.
 
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (ASC 842). The guidance in this ASU supersedes the leasing guidance in
ASC 840, Leases. Under the new guidance, lessees are required to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet for all
leases with terms longer than twelve months. Leases will be classified as either finance or operating, with classification affecting the pattern
of expense recognition in the income statement. The new standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, and
interim periods after December 15, 2020. Initially the modified retrospective transition approach is required for lessees for capital and
operating leases existing at, or entered into after, the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the financial statements,
with certain practical expedients available.
 
In July 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-11, Leases ASC 842: Targeted Improvements, wherein the Board decided to provide another
transition method in addition to the existing transition method by allowing entities to initially apply the new lease standard at the adoption
date (for fiscal year ending October 31, 2021 for the Company) and recognize a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of
retained earnings in the period of adoption consistent with preparers’ requests. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the
pending adoption of the new standard on the consolidated financial statements.
 
Note 3. Business Combinations
 
O’Brien Companies: In April 2018, Brundage-Bone entered into an asset purchase agreement to acquire substantially all assets of Richard
O’Brien Companies, Inc., O’Brien Concrete Pumping-Arizona, Inc., O’Brien Concrete Pumping-Colorado, Inc. and O’Brien Concrete
Pumping, LLC (collectively, the O’Brien Companies) for cash.
 
This acquisition qualifies as a business combination under ASC 805. Accordingly, the Company will record all assets acquired and
liabilities assumed at their acquisition-date fair values, with any excess recognized as goodwill. Goodwill represents expected synergies
from combining operations and the assembled workforce. Goodwill is not amortized for book purposes but is expected to be deductible for
tax purposes. The acquisition was part of the Company’s strategic plan to expand their presence in the Colorado and Arizona markets.
 

   



 

 
Note 3. Business Combinations (Continued)
 
The following table represents the total consideration transferred and its allocation to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their
acquisition-date fair values:
 
Consideration paid:    

Cash  $ 21,000,000 
Total consideration paid  $ 21,000,000 

     
Net assets acquired:     

Inventory  $ 140,000 
Property, plant and equipment   16,163,000 
Intangible assets   2,810,000 

Total net assets acquired   19,113,000 
     

Goodwill  $ 1,887,000 
 
Identifiable intangible assets acquired consist of customer relationships of $2,810,000. The customer relationships were valued using the
multi-period excess earnings method. The Company determined the useful life of the customer relationships to be 15 years.
 
Acquisition-related expenses incurred by the Company amounted to $1,068,653, which have been recognized in the consolidated
statements of income for the year ended October 31, 2018.
 
Reilly: In July 2017, Camfaud entered into a share purchase agreement to acquire all outstanding shares of Reilly, a UK-based concrete
pumping company, in exchange for cash and seller notes.
 
This acquisition qualifies as a business combination under ASC 805. Accordingly, the Company has recorded all assets acquired and
liabilities assumed at their acquisition-date fair values, with any excess recognized as goodwill. Goodwill represents expected synergies
from combining operations and the assembled workforce. Goodwill is not amortized for book purposes nor is it deductible for tax purposes.
The acquisition was part of the Company’s strategic plan to expand the Camfaud footprint in the United Kingdom.
   
The following table represents the total consideration transferred and its allocation to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their
acquisition-date fair values:
 
Consideration paid:    

Cash, net of cash acquired  $ 11,267,729 
Debt issued to sellers   1,941,150 

Total consideration paid  $ 13,208,879 
     
Net assets acquired:     

Trade accounts receivable  $ 1,624,598 
Inventory   178,432 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   223,619 
Property, plant and equipment   9,194,329 
Intangible assets   1,194,454 
Accounts payable   (533,129)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   (971,005)
Deferred tax liabilities   (879,069)

Total net assets acquired   10,032,229 
     

Goodwill  $ 3,176,650 
 

   



 

 
Note 3. Business Combinations (Continued)
 
Identifiable intangible assets acquired consist of customer relationships of $552,581 and a trade name of $641,873. The customer
relationships were valued using the multi-period excess earnings method. The Company determined the useful life of the customer
relationships to be 15 years. The trade name was valued using the relief-from-royalty method. The Company determined the useful life of
the trade name to be 20 years.
 
The Company also entered into loans with the former owners that are discussed in Note 8.
 
Acquisition-related expenses incurred by the Company amounted to $594,039, of which $0 and $594,039 have been recognized in
transaction costs in the consolidated statements of income for the years ended October 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
 
Camfaud: In November 2016, Camfaud acquired two concrete pumping companies based in the UK.
 
This acquisition qualifies as a business combination under ASC 805. Accordingly, the Company has recorded all assets acquired and
liabilities assumed at their acquisition-date fair values, with any excess recognized as goodwill. Goodwill represents expected synergies
from combining operations and the assembled workforce. Goodwill is not amortized for book purposes nor is it deductible for tax purposes.
The acquisition was part of the Company’s strategic plan to broaden their global presence. The acquisition was financed through additional
Senior Secured Notes, a revolving loan and the seller notes.
 
The following table represents the total consideration transferred and its allocation to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their
acquisition-date fair values:
 
Consideration paid:    

Cash, net of cash acquired  $ 49,159,520 
Debt issued to sellers   6,221,000 
Contingent consideration   908,266 

Total consideration paid  $ 56,288,786 
     
Net assets acquired:     

Trade accounts receivable  $ 6,344,614 
Inventory   564,833 
Other current assets   726,679 
Property and equipment   25,641,272 
Intangible assets   18,574,662 
Accounts payable   (1,579,842)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   (3,291,260)
Capital lease obligation   (183,405)
Deferred tax liabilities   (5,369,822)

Total net assets acquired   41,427,731 
     

Goodwill  $ 14,861,055 
 
The contingent consideration is based on average EBITDA over the 3-year period following the acquisition date and has a maximum
payout of approximately $3,100,000. The Company has recorded the contingent consideration initially at fair value based on a probability-
weighted approach, discounted to present value at an annual rate of 7.5 percent. The contingent consideration is presented as deferred
consideration in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and will be adjusted to fair value each reporting period until the
contingency is resolved (see Note 4).
 
Identifiable intangible assets acquired consist of customer relationships of $15,933,225 and trade names of $2,641,437. The customer
relationships were valued using the multi-period excess earnings method.
 

   



 

 
Note 3. Business Combinations (Continued)
 
The Company determined the useful life of the customer relationships to be 15 years. The trade name was valued using the relief-from-
royalty method. The Company determined the useful life of the trade names to be 10 years.
 
The Company also entered into loans with the former owners that are discussed in Note 8.
 
Acquisition-related expenses incurred by the Company amounted to $6,608,456, of which $0, $3,566,407, $3,042,049 have been
recognized in the consolidated statements of income for the years ended October 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, respectively.
 
Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information
 
The following unaudited pro forma financial information presents the combined results of operations for the Company and the O'Brien,
Reilly and Camfaud acquisitions for the fiscal years ended October 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The unaudited pro forma
financial information gives effect to the O'Brien acquisition as if it had occurred on November 1, 2016 and November 1, 2015 for Reilly
and Camfaud. The unaudited pro forma financial information is presented for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of
the results of operations that would have been realized if the O'Brien, Reilly and Camfaud acquisition had been completed on November 1,
2016 for O'Brien and November 1, 2015 for Reilly and Camfaud, nor does it purport to project the results of operations of the combined
company in future periods. The unaudited pro forma financial information does not give effect to any anticipated integration costs related to
the acquired company.
 
The unaudited pro forma financial information is as follows:
 
  2018   2017   2016  
          
Revenue  $ 243,223,267  $ 211,210,599  $ 172,425,547 
Pro forma revenue adjustments by Business Combination:             
O'Brien   6,990,368   13,796,172   - 
Reilly   -   6,068,988   10,234,834 
Camfaud   -   2,288,111   40,295,176 
Total pro forma revenue  $ 250,213,635  $ 233,363,870  $ 222,955,557 
 
  2018   2017   2016  
          
Net income  $ 28,381,842  $ 913,813  $ 6,233,591 
Pro forma net income adjustments by Business Combination:             
O'Brien   (1,012,914)   (1,482,009)   - 
Reilly   -   341,452   1,209,435 
Camfaud   -   (309,078)   9,881,174 
Total pro forma net income  $ 27,368,928  $ (535,822)  $ 17,324,200 
 
Note 4. Fair Value Measurement
 
The carrying amounts of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and current accrued liabilities
approximate their fair value as recorded due to the short-term maturity of these instruments, which approximates fair value. The
Company’s outstanding obligations on its revolving line of credit and UK revolver are deemed to be at fair value as the interest rates on
these debt obligations are variable and consistent with prevailing rates. The Company believes the carrying value of our capital lease
obligations represents fair value.
 
The Company’s long-term debt instruments are recorded at their carrying values in the consolidated balance sheets, which may differ from
their respective fair values. The fair value amount of the long-term debt instruments are derived from observable Level 2 inputs. The fair
value amount of the long-term debt instruments at October 31, 2018 and October 31, 2017 is presented in the table below based on the
prevailing interest rates and trading activity of the notes.
 
  2018   2017  
  Carrying Value  Fair Value  Carrying Value   Fair Value  
Senior secured notes  $ 167,553,000  $ 178,025,063  $ 152,553,000  $ 156,366,825 
Seller notes   8,292,050   8,292,050   8,626,150   8,626,150 
Capital lease obligations   652,752   652,752   845,791   845,791 
 
In connection with the acquisition of Camfaud, shareholders were eligible to receive earn-out payments of up to $3,100,000 if certain
EBITDA targets were met (see Note 3).
 
As a result, the Company estimated the fair value of the contingent earn-out liability based on its probability assessment of Camfaud
EBITDA achievements during the 3-year earn-out period. In developing these estimates, the Company considered its revenue and EBITDA
projections, its historical results, and general macro-economic environment and industry trends. This fair value measurement was based on
significant revenue and EBITDA inputs not observed in the market, which represents a Level 3 measurement. Level 3 instruments are
valued based on unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and reflect the Company’s own assumptions in



measuring fair value.
 
In accordance with the FASB’s standard on business combinations, the Company reviewed the contingent earn-out liability on a quarterly
basis in order to determine its fair value. Changes in the fair value of the liability are recorded within operating expenses in the period in
which the change was made. The change in the fair value of the contingent earn-out was not material from the date of acquisition to the
year ending October 31, 2018.
 

   



 

 
Note 4. Fair Value Measurement (Continued)
 
The following table represents a reconciliation of the change in the fair value measurement of the contingent earn-out liability for the years
ended October 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively the change in fair values for the periods presented are not material:
 
  2018   2017  
Beginning balance  $ 968,783  $ - 
Fair value of contingent earnout liability initially recorded

in connection with Camfaud acquisition   -   908,266 
Change in fair value of contingent earnout liability

included in operating expenses   526,817   - 
Change fair value due to foreign currency   (37,523)   60,517 
Ending balance  $ 1,458,077  $ 968,783 
 
The Company’s non-financial assets, which primarily consist of property and equipment, goodwill and other intangible assets, are not
required to be carried at fair value on a recurring basis and are reported at carrying value. However, on a periodic basis or whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying value may not be fully recoverable (and at least annually for goodwill), non-
financial instruments are assessed for impairment and, if applicable, written down to and recorded at fair value. No adjustments were made
to the carrying value of any such assets due to lack of recoverability or impairment for the fiscal years ended October 31, 2018 or 2017.
 
Note 5. Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets
 
The significant components of prepaid expenses and other current assets as of October 31, 2018 and 2017, are as follows:
 
  2018   2017  
       
Prepaid insurance  $ 348,226  $ 996,391 
Prepaid licenses and deposits   236,407   144,470 
Prepaid rent   326,254   204,320 
Prepaid sponsor fees   666,666   666,666 
Other prepaids   2,368,779   1,656,988 
Total prepaid expenses and other current assets  $ 3,946,332  $ 3,668,835 
 

   



 

 
Note 6. Property, Plant and Equipment
 
The significant components of property, plant and equipment as of October 31, 2018 and 2017, are as follows:
 
  2018   2017  
       
Land, buildings and improvements  $ 22,244,120  $ 21,986,324 
Capital leases—land and buildings   909,250   909,250 
Machinery and equipment   237,093,975   199,185,640 
Transportation equipment   3,297,160   2,961,147 
Furniture and office equipment   1,485,535   888,504 
   265,030,040   225,930,865 
Less accumulated depreciation   (63,114,600)   (50,388,730)

Property, plant and equipment, net  $ 201,915,440  $ 175,542,135 
 
Depreciation expense for the years ended October 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, was $17,718,814, $19,338,884 and $16,635,995, respectively,
of which $17,033,781, $18,691,578, $16,311,540 respectively, was included in cost of operations and $685,033, $647,306 and $324,455
respectively, was included in general and administrative expenses.
 
Note 7. Goodwill and Intangible Assets
 
The Company recognized goodwill and certain intangible assets in connection with Business Combinations (see Note 3). Goodwill is not
amortized for book purposes. The following table details the changes in goodwill as of October 31, 2018 and 2017:
 
Balance, November 1, 2016  $ 54,400,319 

Goodwill acquired in 2017 acquisitions   18,037,705 
Change in foreign currency rates   1,071,184 

Balance, October 31, 2017   73,509,208 
Goodwill acquired in 2018 acquisitions   1,887,000 
Change in foreign currency rates   (740,108)

Balance, October 31, 2018  $ 74,656,100 
 
Intangible assets are amortized over their useful lives on a straight-line basis, except for the customer relationships and the Camfaud trade
names. The customer relationships and the Camfaud trade names are amortized on an accelerated basis using the free cash flow method.
The following table summarizes the Company’s intangible assets as of October 31, 2018 and 2017:
 
     2018   2017  
     Gross      Net   Gross      Net  
  Useful   Carrying   Accumulated  Carrying   Carrying   Accumulated  Carrying  
  Life   Value   Amortization  Amount   Value   Amortization  Amount  
                      
Customer relationship   15   $ 47,641,338  $(23,092,905)  $24,548,433  $45,521,514  $(16,770,766)  $28,750,748 

Trade name   15-20    15,412,058   (3,540,083)   11,871,975   15,546,675   (2,401,152)   13,145,523 
Noncompete agreements   3    495,000   (486,390)   8,610   485,000   (347,083)   137,917 
      $ 63,548,396  $(27,119,378)  $36,429,018  $61,553,189  $(19,519,001)  $42,034,188 
 

   



 

 
Note 7. Goodwill and Intangible Assets (Continued)
 
Amortization expense recognized by the Company related to intangible assets was $7,903,732, $7,815,141 and $5,673,548 for the years
ended October 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Amortization expense as it relates to the amortization of intangible assets resides
within general and administrative expense on the statement of operations. The estimated aggregate amortization expense for intangible
assets over the next five fiscal years ending October 31 and thereafter is as follows:
 
Years ending October 31:    

2019  $ 6,692,793 
2020   5,528,556 
2021   3,949,940 
2022   3,373,733 
2023   2,358,266 
Thereafter   14,525,730 

  $36,429,018 
 
Note 8. Long-Term Debt and Revolving Lines of Credit
 
Revolving line of credit: In connection with the Merger, on August 18, 2014, the Company entered into a revolving loan agreement (the
Revolver) with a maximum borrowing capacity of $30,000,000, which was increased to $35,000,000 in November 2015. The Revolver
bears interest at the LIBOR rate plus an applicable margin. The applicable margin resets quarterly and is (a) 2.25 percent, (b) 2.50 percent
or (c) 2.75 percent if the quarterly average excess availability is (a) at least 66.67 percent, (b) less than 66.67 percent and at least 33.33
percent and (c) less than 33.33 percent, respectively. The Revolver expires on August 18, 2019. Interest is due monthly and the outstanding
principal balance is due upon maturity. The Revolver is secured by substantially all assets of the Company and requires that the Company
maintain a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio. In conjunction with the Senior Note Exchange (see below) in September 2017, the
borrowing capacity was increased to $65,000,000 and the maturity date was extended to September 8, 2022. In addition, applicable margin
for the interest rate was decreased to (a) 2.00 percent, (b) 2.25 percent or (c) 2.50 percent if the quarterly average excess availability is (a) at
least 66.67 percent, (b) less than 66.67 percent and at least 33.33 percent and (c) less than 33.33 percent, respectively. On October 2, 2017,
$35,000,000 of the Revolver balance was transferred to a 3-month line of credit with a separate LIBOR interest rate which was 3.56 percent
as of October 31, 2017.
 
The Revolver requires that the Company maintain a maximum ratio of total fixed charges, which include interest, principal payments, taxes
and management fees to EBITDA (earnings before interest expense, taxes, depreciation and amortization) less capital expenditures during
the term of the Revolver. As of October 31, 2018 the Company was in compliance with the financial covenant under the Revolver.
 
The outstanding balance of the Revolver as of October 31, 2018 and 2017 was $48,735,228 and $44,597,240, respectively.
 
UK Revolver: In connection with the acquisition of the Camfaud in November 2016 (see Note 3), Camfaud entered into a revolving loan
agreement (the UK Revolver) with a maximum borrowing capacity of approximately $28,000,000. The UK Revolver bears interest at the
LIBOR rate plus 2 percent and expires in November 2019. The UK Revolver is secured by substantially all assets of Camfaud. The
outstanding balance of the UK Revolver as of October 31, 2018 and 2017 was $14,251,734 and $21,291,631, respectively.
 

   



 

 
Note 8. Long-Term Debt and Revolving Lines of Credit (Continued)
 
The UK Revolver requires that the Company maintain a maximum ratio of total fixed charges, which include interest, principal payments,
taxes and management fees to EBITDA (earnings before interest expense, taxes, depreciation and amortization) less capital expenditures
during the term of the Revolver. As of October 31, 2018, the Company was in compliance with the financial covenant under the Revolver.
 
Senior secured notes: To finance the Merger on August 18, 2014, the Company issued senior secured notes through a high-yield bond
offering under SEC Rule 144A (Senior Notes). The offering raised $140,000,000 of proceeds for the Company. The Senior Notes mature
on September 1, 2021, and bear interest at 10.375 percent per annum. Interest payments are due every March 1 and September 1
commencing March 1, 2015. Principal is due upon maturity. The Senior Notes are secured by substantially all assets of the Company and
contain various non-financial covenants.
 
The Senior Notes contain a number of significant restrictive covenants. Such restrictive covenants, among other things, restrict, subject to
certain exceptions, the Company’s restricted subsidiaries’ ability to incur additional indebtedness and make guarantees; create liens on
assets; pay dividends and distributions or repurchase their capital stock; make investments, loans and advances, including acquisitions;
engage in mergers, consolidations, dissolutions or similar transactions; sell or otherwise dispose of assets, engage in certain transactions
with affiliates; enter into certain restrictive agreements.
 
To finance the acquisition of the Camfaud (see Note 3), in November 2016, the Company issued additional senior secured notes of
$40,000,000 as an incremental borrowing with the same terms and form as the original Senior Notes.
 
In January 2016, the Company repurchased and retired approximately $7,665,000 of outstanding Senior Notes for a purchase price of
approximately $7,205,100 plus accrued interest of approximately $292,000. In April 2016, the Company repurchased and retired
$10,000,000 of outstanding Senior Notes for a purchase price of $10,150,000 plus accrued interest of approximately $164,000. In March
2017, the Company repurchased and retired approximately $3,000,000 of outstanding Senior Notes for a purchase price of approximately
$3,090,000 plus accrued interest of approximately $5,000. In May 2017, the Company repurchased and retired approximately $2,807,000 of
outstanding Senior Notes for a purchase price of approximately $2,975,000 plus accrued interest of approximately $54,000. In September
2017, the Company repurchased and retired approximately $3,000,000 of outstanding Senior Notes for a purchase price of approximately
$3,045,000 plus accrued interest of approximately $24,000.
 
As a result of these repurchases, the Company recognized a loss of $303,420 for the difference between the carrying amount of the Senior
Notes, plus accrued interest, and the repurchase price, and also recognized a loss of $260,380 related to the write off of deferred loan fees
(see Note 2) for the year ended October 31, 2017. There were no such repurchases for the year ended October 31, 2018. The net loss has
been presented in the accompanying consolidated statements of income as a loss on extinguishment of debt for the year ended October 31,
2017. The difference between the carrying amount and the reacquisition price of the debt, net of unamortized loan fees, has been presented
in the accompanying consolidated statements of income as a (loss) gain on extinguishment of debt.
 
On August 24, 2017, the Company issued a Notice of Early Tender to exchange their Senior Notes for newly issued senior secured notes
(New Senior Notes). Substantially all investors exchanged their outstanding notes (the Senior Note Exchange), which settled in September
2017. The New Senior Notes bear interest at 10.375 percent per annum and mature on September 1, 2023. The Company will make interest
payments on March 1 and September 1 of each year. The outstanding balance of the original Senior Notes outstanding as of October 31,
2018 and 2017, was $0 and $1,266,000, respectively. The outstanding balance of the New Senior Notes outstanding as of October 31, 2018
and 2017, was $167,553,000 and $151,287,000, respectively.
 

   



 

 
Note 8. Long-Term Debt and Revolving Lines of Credit (Continued)
 
After settlement of the New Senior Notes, the Company increased the total borrowing capacity of the Revolver, for which the proceeds
were used to pay off the unsecured note and to pay accrued and unpaid dividends on the 13.5 percent participating preferred stockholders
(Note13).
 
In conjunction with the acquisition of the O’Brien Companies (Note 3), in April 2018, the Company issued additional New Senior Notes
with a principal amount of $15,000,000 at a 104 percent premium for a total purchase price of $15,600,000. The $600,000 has been
recorded by the Company as a debt premium and will be amortized over the life of the New Senior Notes using the effective interest
method.
 
Unsecured note: To finance the Merger, on August 18, 2014, the Company entered into a $30,000,000 loan agreement with one of its
shareholders. The note matures on February 18, 2022, and bears interest at 12 percent per annum. Interest payments are due quarterly on
February 18, May 18, August 18 and November 18 every year. Principal, along with any accrued and unpaid interest, is due upon maturity.
The Company may elect to have the interest paid-in kind (PIK). If the Company elects to pay PIK interest, the accrued interest will be
added to the outstanding balance of the note and payable upon maturity. As of October 31, 2018 and 2017, all interest associated with the
PIK has been paid by the Company. The unsecured notes contain various non-financial covenants.
 
As part of the unsecured note, the Company issued 1,000,000 shares of common stock to the lender. As such, the proceeds of the
unsecured note have been allocated to the debt and common stock based on their relative fair values. The amount allocated to common
stock was $2,478,602, which was recorded as a discount on the debt. The discount is amortized to interest expense over the remaining life
of the loan using the effective interest method. During the years ended October 31, 2017 and 2016, amortization of the discount was
$275,400 and $330,480, respectively.
 
In connection with the Senior Note Exchange on September 8, 2017, the Company repaid the unsecured note, including accrued interest of
$210,000. Upon extinguishment, the Company incurred a prepayment penalty fee of $1,440,000, which has been included in loss on debt
extinguishment on the accompanying consolidated statements of income. The Company also wrote off the remaining unamortized discount
of $1,473,392, which has also been included in loss on extinguishment of debt on the accompanying consolidated statements of income.
The Company wrote off $1,712,194 of unamortized loan fees, including accumulated amortization of $1,088,806. Net write-off is included
in the loss on extinguishment of debt on the consolidated statements of income for the year ended October 31, 2017.
 
Seller notes: In connection with the acquisitions of Camfaud and Reilly in November 2016 and July 2017 (see Note 3), respectively, the
Company entered into loan agreements with the former owners of the Camfaud and Reilly for an aggregate amount of $6,221,000 and
$1,941,150, respectively, (collectively, the Seller Notes). The Camfaud Note bears interest at 5 percent per annum and all principal plus
accrued interest are due upon the earlier of; (1) 6 months after the UK Revolver is repaid in full, (2) 42 months after the acquisition date
(May 2020) or (3) the date on which the Company suffers an insolvency event. The Reilly Note bears interest at 5 percent per annum and
all principal plus accrued interest are due three years after the acquisition date (July 2020). The Seller Notes are unsecured.

 

   



 

 
Note 8. Long-Term Debt and Revolving Lines of Credit (Continued)
 
The following is a summary of the Company’s long-term debt as of October 31, 2018 and 2017:
 
  2018   2017  
       
Senior secured notes  $ 167,553,000  $ 152,553,000 
Seller notes   8,292,050   8,626,150 
   175,845,050   161,179,150 
         
Plus unamortized premium on debt   539,535   327,473 
Less unamortized deferred financing costs   (2,914,520)   (4,521,793)

Total long term debt  $ 173,470,065  $ 156,984,830 
 
Future maturities of long-term debt are as follows:

 
Years ending October 31:     

2019  $ - 
2020   8,292,050 
2021   1,266,000 
2022   - 
2023   166,287,000 
Thereafter   - 

  $ 175,845,050 
 

   



 

 
Note 9. Accrued Payroll and Payroll Expenses
 
The following table summarizes accrued payroll expenses as of October 31, 2018 and 2017:
 
  2018   2017  
       
Accrued vacation  $ 3,482,161  $ 3,041,238 
Accrued bonus   1,766,013   2,131,945 
Other accrued   1,457,035   1,729,483 

Total accrued payroll and payroll expenses  $ 6,705,209  $ 6,902,666 
 

Note 10. Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities
 
The following table summarizes accrued expenses and other current liabilities as of October 31, 2018 and 2017:

 
  2018   2017  
       
Accrued insurance  $ 4,743,247  $ 3,155,685 
Accrued interest   3,091,150   2,830,656 
Accrued equipment purchases   -   2,172,115 
Accrued sales and use tax   4,145,047   2,695,141 
Accrued property taxes   865,061   750,264 
Accrued professional fees   3,579,008   862,069 
Other   2,406,089   2,156,192 

Total accrued expenses and other liabilities  $ 18,829,602  $ 14,622,122 
 

Note 11. Income Taxes
 
The sources of income before income taxes for the years ended October 31, 2018 and 2017 are as follows:

 
  2018   2017   2016  
          
United States  $ 15,076,595  $ 3,813,825  $ 10,687,132 
Foreign   3,521,127   856,112   - 

Total  $ 18,597,722  $ 4,669,937  $ 10,687,132 
 

   



 

 
Note 11. Income Taxes (Continued)
 
The components of the provision for income taxes for the years ended October 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, are as follows:
 
  2018   2017   2016  
Current tax provision:             

Federal  $ (365,902)  $ 2,201,279  $ 156,533 
Foreign   1,232,718   378,031   - 
State and local   455,537   578,697   542,378 

Total current tax provision   1,322,353   3,158,007   698,911 
             
Deferred tax provision (benefit):             

Federal   (10,650,171)   993,603   3,586,058 
Foreign   (729,745)   (132,607)   - 
State and local   273,443   (262,345)   168,572 

Total deferred tax (benefit) provision   (11,106,473)   598,651   3,754,630 
             

Net provision for income taxes  $ (9,784,120)  $ 3,756,658  $ 4,453,541 
 
For the years ended October 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the income tax provision differs from the expected tax provision computed by
applying the U.S. federal statutory rate to income before taxes as a result of the following:
 
  2018   2017   2016  
          
Provision for income taxes at blended U.S. statutory rate of 23.1% and 34.7% $ 4,309,576  $ 1,587,778  $ 3,633,625 
State income taxes, net of federal deduction   560,056   285,982   469,227 
Foreign rate differential   (178,927)   (139,460)   - 
Meals and entertainment   220,234   270,789   234,353 
Transaction costs   44,145   1,582,474   - 
Change in deferred tax rate   -   (116,954)   83,409 
Domestic manufacturing deduction   -   (254,236)   (189,453)
Stock-based compensation   64,849   122,844   36,851 
Contingent consideration fair value adjustment   122,077   -   - 
Nontaxable Interest income net of foreign income inclusions   39,973   (378,068)   - 
Foreign tax credit   -   (79,791)   - 
Deferred tax on undistributed foreign earnings   (141,935)   888,576   - 
Impact of tax reform   (14,644,758)   -   - 
Increase in valuation allowance   -   52,662   - 
Other   (179,410)   (65,938)   185,529 

Income tax provision  $ (9,784,120)  $ 3,756,658  $ 4,453,541 
 

   



 

 
Note 11. Income Taxes (Continued)
 
The tax effects of the temporary differences giving rise to the Company’s net deferred tax liabilities as of October 31, 2018 and 2017, are
summarized as follows:

 
  2018   2017  
Deferred tax assets:         

Accrued insurance reserves  $ 943,054  $ 1,000,078 
Accrued sales and use tax   961,863   997,091 
Accrued payroll   367,653   509,276 
Foreign tax credit carryforward   79,791   79,791 
Net operating loss carryforward   1,930,998   160 
Other   254,998   200,936 

Total deferred tax assets   4,538,357   2,787,332 
Valuation allowance   (63,035)   (52,662)

Net deferred tax assets   4,475,322   2,734,670 
         
Deferred tax liabilities:         

Intangible assets   (6,219,735)   (11,879,983)
Property and equipment   (36,394,087)   (39,717,047)
Prepaid expenses   (119,712)   (352,976)
Unremitted foreign earnings   (746,641)   (888,576)
Other   -   (7,414)

Total net deferred tax liabilities   (43,480,175)   (52,845,996)
         
Net deferred tax assets  $ (39,004,853)  $ (50,111,326)
 
The Company has federal net operating loss carry forwards of $8,100,000 for the period ended October 31, 2018. The Company did not
have any federal net operating loss carry forwards for the period ended October 31, 2017. The Company has state net operating loss carry
forwards of approximately $5,300,000 and $6,000, respectively, as of October 31, 2018 and 2017 that begin to expire in 2024.
 
The Company has foreign tax credit carryforwards of approximately $80,000 as of both October 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, which
begin to expire in 2027.
 
The Company has provided U.S. deferred taxes on cumulative earnings of all of its non-U.S. affiliates.
 
In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the
deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable
income during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. Management considers the scheduled reversal of
deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, carryback opportunities, and tax planning strategies in making the assessment. The
Company believes it is more likely than not that it will realize the benefits of these deductible differences, net of the valuation allowance
provided. The valuation allowance provided by the Company relates to foreign tax credit carry forwards.
 
In December 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “2017 Tax Act”) was enacted. The 2017 Tax Act significantly revised the U.S.
corporate income tax regime by, among other things, lowering the U.S. corporate tax rate from 35 percent to 21 percent effective January 1,
2018. The Company recognized the income tax effects of the 2017 Tax Act in its consolidated financial statements in the period the 2017
Tax Act was signed into law.

 

   



 

 
Note 11. Income Taxes (Continued)
 
The SEC staff recognized that entities may not have the necessary information available, prepared, or analyzed in reasonable detail to
complete the accounting under ASC 740 for certain income tax effects of the 2017 Tax Act in the reporting period that includes the date of
enactment. In accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118, which provides SEC staff guidance for the application of ASC 740, the
Company’s consolidated financial statements for the period ended October 31, 2018 reflect the income tax effects of the 2017 Tax Act.
 
The 2017 Tax Act creates a requirement that certain income earned by controlled foreign corporations (“CFCs”) must be included currently
in the gross income of the CFC's U.S. shareholder. The Global Intangible Low Tax Income (“GILTI”) provisions are effective for tax years
beginning on or after January 1, 2018. In FASB staff Q&A Topic 740, No. 5, Accounting for Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income, the
FASB staff noted that Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 740 (“Topic 740”), Income Taxes, was not clear with respect to the
appropriate accounting for GILTI, and accordingly, an entity may either: (1) elect to treat taxes on GILTI as period costs similar to special
deductions, or (2) recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities when basis differences exist that are expected to affect the amount of GILTI
inclusion upon reversal (the deferred method). The Company has not yet adopted an accounting policy related to GILTI.
 
As a result of the 2017 Tax Act, the Company recorded a tax benefit of $15,096,000 for the period ended October 31, 2018 related to the
remeasurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities to reflect the reduction in the U.S. corporate income tax rate from 35 percent to 21
percent. The Company also recorded a tax expense of $451,000 for the period ended October 31, 2018 related to the deemed repatriation of
earnings from its foreign subsidiaries, also known as the “Transition Tax”. The net of these two adjustments related to the 2017 Tax Act
reflect the total impact of tax reform for the period ended October 31, 2018.
 
Note 12. Commitments and Contingencies
 
Incentive compensation plan: The Company has an Incentive Compensation Plan that has been approved by the Board of Directors. The
Plan establishes a cash bonus pool for eligible employees of the Company. The balance available for the cash bonus pool is established by
meeting certain performance targets. As of October 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company accrued $1,766,013 and $2,131,945, respectively, of
bonuses payable under the Incentive Compensation Plan, which has been included in accrued payroll and payroll expenses in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
 
Self-insurance: BB’s automobile, general and workmen’s compensation insurance is partially self- insured. As of October 31, 2018, the
general liability deductible was $100,000 per claim. Beginning in fiscal years 2010 and 2014, the workmen’s compensation and automobile
policies, respectively, were fully insured. As of October 31, 2018 and 2017, management has accrued $3,151,989 and $2,418,000,
respectively, for claims incurred but not reported and estimated losses reported, which is included in accrued expenses and other current
liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
 
The Company offers employee health benefits via a partially self-insured medical benefit plan. Participant claims exceeding certain limits
are covered by a stop-loss insurance policy. The Company contracts with a third-party administrator to process claims, remit benefits, etc.
The third-party administrator requires the Company to maintain a bank account to facilitate the administration of claims. As of October 31,
2018 and 2017, the account balance was $300,000 and $234,167, respectively, and is included in cash in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets. As of October 31, 2018 and 2017, management has accrued $957,584 and $737,000, respectively, for health claims incurred
but not reported based on historical claims amounts and average lag time, which is included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities
in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
 
Litigation: The Company is currently involved in certain legal proceedings and other disputes with third parties that have arisen in the
ordinary course of business. Management has reviewed these issues to determine if reserves are required for losses that are probable to
materialize and reasonable to estimate the amount of loss in accordance with ASC 450, Contingencies (ASC 450). Management evaluates
such reserves, if any, based upon several criteria, including the merits of each claim, settlement discussions, advice of outside counsel, as
well as indemnification of amounts expended by the Company’s insurers or others, if any. Management and corporate counsel believe that
the outcomes of the legal actions will not have a material impact and do not believe that any amounts need to be recorded for contingent
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.
 
Life insurance: BB is the owner and beneficiary of term life insurance policies on the lives of its key employees. As of October 31, 2018,
2017 and 2016, the aggregate face value of the policies was $6,000,000, $4,000,000, and $10,000,000, respectively. The policies do not
have a cash surrender value.
 

   



 

 
Note 12. Commitments and Contingencies (Continued)
 
Letters of credit: The Revolver provides for up to $5,000,000 of standby letters of credit. As of October 31, 2018 and 2017,
approximately, $882,999 and $48,000, respectively, had been committed to the Company’s general liability insurance provider.
 
Operating leases: The Company leases facilities, equipment and vehicles under non-cancelable operating leases with various expiration
dates through August 2023. Monthly lease payments range from $543 to $8,903. Total rental expense for the years ended October 31, 2018,
2017 and 2016, was $4,836,742, $2,807,484 and $1,869,973, respectively, which also includes the Company’s month-to-month leases.
 
The following is a summary of future minimum lease payments for the years ended October 31:
 
2019   1,971,150 
2020   1,201,642 
2021   812,929 
2022   577,269 
2023   323,458 
Thereafter   202,597 
  $ 5,089,045 
 
Capital leases: BB entered into two capital leases for land and buildings in Georgia and South Carolina during fiscal year 2015. The terms
of the Georgia and South Carolina leases are 123 and 120 months, respectively, and contain purchase options that may be exercised at any
time during the lease. The purchase price payable upon exercise of the purchase options is equal to the fair value of the leased assets less
the amount of rent paid to date. The purchase price at the end of the lease is insignificant and, therefore, the leased assets are considered to
transfer ownership at the end of the lease.
 
The land and buildings and related liabilities under the capital leases were recorded at the time of the lease at the lesser of the present value
of the future payments due under the leases or the fair value of the leased assets. The amount of land and buildings and capital lease
obligation originally recorded under the capital leases was $909,250. The capital lease obligation recorded as of October 31, 2018 and
2017 was $829,934 and $731,829, respectively. The net book value of the leased assets as of October 31, 2018 and 2017 was $652,752 and
$851,619, respectively.
 
Camfaud also enters into capital leases for operating equipment. The capital lease obligation recorded as of October 31, 2017, was
$113,962. The net book value of the leased assets as of October 31, 2017, was $135,452. Camfaud did not have a capital lease obligation as
of October 31, 2018.
 

   



 

 
Note 12. Commitments and Contingencies (Continued)
 
Future payments of capital lease obligations, together with the present value of those future payments are as follows:
 
Fiscal years ending October 31:     

2019  $ 108,081 
2020   110,394 
2021   112,776 
2022   115,229 
2023   117,756 
Thereafter   173,638 

Total minimum lease payments   737,874 
     

Less the amount representing interest   (85,122)
Present value of minimum lease payments  $ 652,752 

 
Note 13. Stockholders’ Equity
 
Pursuant to the articles of incorporation, the Company was initially authorized to issue 50,000,000 shares of $0.001 par value common
stock and 2,423,711 shares of $0.001 par value preferred stock. In March 2016, the Company amended the articles of incorporation to
reduce the number of shares of common stock the Company is authorized to issue to 15,000,000 shares.
 
In connection with the Merger, the Company issued 6,576,289 shares of common stock to the Sponsor for $16,300,000. The Company also
issued 1,000,000 shares of common stock to one of the lenders as part of obtaining loan financing. The amount recorded of $2,478,602 was
based on an allocation of the loan proceeds based on the relative fair values of the common stock and debt. The amount was recorded as a
discount on the debt, which was written off upon the Company’s repayment of the unsecured note during 2017 (see Note 8). The proceeds
raised from the equity offering have been reduced by offering costs of $158,715. Also in connection with the Merger, the Company issued
2,423,711 shares of preferred stock to certain former owners of BB and EP. The preferred stock was recorded at its fair value, which was
determined to be $15,182,053 as of the Merger date.
 
Redeemable preferred stock: The Company’s preferred stock accrues cumulative dividends at 13.5 percent per annum that must be paid
before dividends are paid to any other holders of capital stock, but are not payable until declared (Preferred Dividends). Preferred
Dividends accrue daily based on the liquidation preference of the underlying shares and compound quarterly. Preferred stock holders are
entitled to participating dividends, distributions declared or paid, or set aside for payment on the common stock whether payments consist
of cash, securities, property, or other assets. To the extent that dividend or distributions are made in the form of securities, preferred stock
holders are only entitled to receive the same class securities provided to the common stock holders.

   



 

 
Note 13. Stockholders’ Equity (Continued)
 
The preferred stock also includes a liquidation preference of $4.13 per share (Liquidation Preference). Upon liquidation, dissolution or
winding up of the Company, before any distributions are made to holders of common stock, holders of preferred stock are entitled to
receive an amount equal to the Liquidation Preference plus all accrued but unpaid dividends. On September 8, 2017, upon settlement of the
Senior Notes Exchange (see Note 8), the Company declared and paid cumulative unpaid accrued dividends of $4,840,065 to the preferred
stockholders. As of October 31, 2018 and 2017 the liquidation preference of preferred stock was $11,239,060 and $9,845,139, respectively,
which includes Preferred Dividends of $1,716,504 and $322,583, respectively.
 
On the 66th month anniversary of the original issuance date (February 18, 2020), each holder of preferred stock may redeem their shares of
preferred stock to the Company for a price equal to the fair value of the preferred stock on the redemption date. If it is determined that the
presence of preferred stock would have a material adverse effect on the success of a qualified public offering, the shares of preferred stock
shall be converted into shares of common stock upon the closing of a qualified public offering. This redemption feature is outside the
holder’s control; however, the preferred shares contain disability conditions that allow for the Company to invoke said disability notice and
prevent the payment upon execution of the aforementioned conversion if the Company so deems that the Company is not in a position to
allow for the conversion as it would place the Company in a difficult financial position. The carrying value of preferred stock has not been
subsequently adjusted to reflect redemption value as the Company does not believe redemption is probable due to the length of time before
redemption can occur.
 
The holders of preferred stock are entitled to vote together with the holders of common stock as a single class on all matters submitted to a
vote of the holders of common stock. Each share of preferred stock is entitled to one vote.
 
The Company applies the accounting standards for distinguishing liabilities from equity when determining the classification and
measurement of its preferred stock. Conditionally redeemable preferred shares (including preferred shares that feature redemption rights
that are either within the control of the holder or subject to redemption upon the occurrence of uncertain events not solely within the
Company’s control) are classified as temporary equity.
 
The Company has performed an analysis of the redemption features contained within the preferred stock and has determined that
embedded features other than the change in control feature identified and evaluated have been determined to be solely within the control of
the issuer. Accounting Series Release (ASR) 268 requires equity instruments with redemption features that are not solely within the control
of the issuer to be classified outside of permanent equity, often referred to as classification in “temporary equity”. The Company has
presented such amounts as temporary equity commensurate with the aforementioned guidance.
 
During 2017, the Company purchased 81,447 shares of preferred stock from a stockholder for $1,400,009. The difference of $889,825
between the purchase price and original cost is included in retained earnings for the year ended October 31, 2017.
 
Note 14. Stock-Based Compensation
 
During 2015, the Company established the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (as amended, the “2015 Plan”). Under the 2015 Plan, the Company
may award stock options, restricted stock or other equity awards to certain employees, directors and consultants of the Company and its
affiliates, including Brundage-Bone and Eco-Pan. The 2015 Plan permits the issuance of up to 1,622,120 shares of the Company’s common
stock. The vesting period and term of each option are determined at the date of grant and generally does not exceed ten years. The options
may include time-vesting and/or performance-based vesting criteria. The options may be subject to forfeiture if certain vesting
requirements are not met.
 

   



 

 
Note 14. Stock-Based Compensation (Continued)
 
As of October 31, 2018, there were 362,560 shares of the Company’s common stock available for grant under the 2015 Plan. A summary of
option activity for the years ended October 31, 2018 and 2017, is as follows:
 
        Weighted-     
     Weighted-   Average     
     Average   Remaining   Aggregate  
     Exercise   Contractual   Intrinsic  
  Options   Price   Life   Value  
             
Options outstanding, October 31, 2016   1,529,704  $ 2.48   8.27  $ - 

Granted   227,280   17.50         
Forfeited   (286,119)   2.74         
Cancelled   (70,281)   2.48         

Options outstanding, October 31, 2017   1,400,584  $ 4.86   7.41  $ - 
Granted   -   -         
Forfeited   (141,024)   17.50         
Cancelled   -   -         

Options outstanding, October 31, 2018   1,259,560  $ 4.55   7.68  $ - 
 
There were no options granted to employees during the year ended October 31, 2018. The options granted to employees during the year
ended October 31, 2017, included both time-vesting and performance-based vesting criteria. Of the 227,280 options granted, 54,000 are
subject to time vesting only. The time-vesting criteria specify that 20 percent of the options will vest on each of the first five anniversaries
of the grant date, subject to the holder’s continued service through the vesting date. The remaining 173,280 options granted include both
time-vesting and performance-based vesting criteria. For these grants, 50 percent of the options are subject to time vesting and 50 percent
are subject to performance-based vesting. The time-vesting criteria specify that 10 percent of the options shall vest on each of the first five
anniversaries the grant date, subject to the holder’s continued service through the vesting date. The performance criteria stipulate that up to
10 percent of the options shall vest on each of the first five anniversaries of the grant date, based on the Company’s annual earnings before
income taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) for the applicable year and provided that the Companies achieve a minimum
annual EBITDA amount for that particular year, subject to the holder’s continued service through the vesting date.
 
The Company repurchased and cancelled 70,281 options during the year ended October 31, 2017, for $686,645. The repurchase price was
less than the fair value of the options at the time of the repurchase and accordingly, no incremental compensation cost was recorded. The
Company did not repurchase any options during the year ended October 31, 2018.
 
Compensation expense subject to the performance-based vesting criteria is recognized over the requisite service period only if the
performance criteria are probable of being met. The fiscal year 2018 and 2016 EBITDA target was achieved by the Company and,
therefore, the Company has recognized compensation expense related to those performance tranches. Compensation expense for time-
based vesting options is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period. The fiscal year 2017 EBITDA target was not
met, thus compensation expense was not recorded for the fiscal year 2017 performance vesting tranche with the exception of two
individuals for which the Company waived the performance- based vesting criteria. Total compensation expense recognized by the
Company for the years ended October 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, is $280,632, $362,345 and $109,424, respectively, which has been
included in general and administrative expenses on the accompanying consolidated statements of income.
 

   



 

 
Note 14. Stock-Based Compensation (Continued)
 
As of October 31, 2018, stock-based compensation not yet recognized in income is $801,892, which will be recognized over a weighted-
average period of 2.5 years. Included in this amount is $287,818 of expense related to the performance-based awards, which will only be
recognized if achievement of the performance targets is determined to be probable.
 
The following is a summary of options outstanding and exercisable as of October 31, 2018:
 
   Options Outstanding   Options Exercisable  
      Weighted-           
      Average   Weighted-      Weighted-  
   Number of   Remaining   Average   Number of   Average  

Exercise Price   Options   Contractual Life   Exercise Price   Options   Exercise Price  
                 
$ 2.48   1,085,888   7.18  $ 2.48   609,368  $ 2.48 
 17.50   173,672   10.81   17.50   86,024   17.50 
     1,259,560   5.74  $ 4.55   695,392  $ 4.34 
 
The Company did not grant any options during 2018. The weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted during 2017 was $8.16
per share. The fair value of share-based payments was estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model requiring the use of
subjective valuation assumptions. The Black-Scholes valuation model requires several inputs, including the expected stock price volatility.
Volatility was determined using observations of historical stock prices for five comparable public companies. The Company’s options have
characteristics significantly different from those of traded options, and changes in input assumptions can materially affect the fair value
estimates.
 
There were no options granted during 2018. The fair value of options granted during 2017 and 2016 was estimated using the following
assumptions:
 
  2017  2016
Risk-free interest rate  1.61%  1.05% - 1.62%
Expected dividend yield   None  None
Expected volatility factor  45.37%  29.54% - 35.27%
Expected option life (in years)  6.5  4 - 5
Actual forfeitures  None  0

 

   



 

 
Note 15. Earnings Per Share
 
Under the terms and conditions of the Company’s Participating Preferred Stock Agreement, the holders of the Preferred Stock have the
right to receive dividends or dividend equivalents should the Company declare dividends on its common stock on a one-for-one per-share
basis. Under the two-class method, undistributed earnings is calculated by the earnings for the period less the cumulative preferred stock
dividends earned for the period. The undistributed earnings are then allocated on a pro-rata basis to the common and preferred stockholders
on a one-for-one per-share basis. The weighted-average number of common and preferred shares outstanding during the period is then used
to calculate basic EPS for each class of shares. As a result, the undistributed earnings available to common shareholders is calculated by
earnings (loss) for the period less the cumulative preferred stock dividends earned for the period less undistributed earnings allocated to the
holders of the Preferred Stock.
 
In periods in which the Company has a net loss or undistributed net loss, basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable
to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period. The two-class method is not
used, because the holders of the Preferred Stock do not participate in losses.
 
The following is a reconciliation of the weighted average number of shares outstanding used to calculate basic EPS to those used to
calculate diluted EPS for the fiscal years ended October 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively:

 
  2018   2017   2016  
Net Income (numerator):             
Basic & Diluted:             
Net income attributable to Concrete Pumping Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries  $ 28,381,842  $ 913,279  $ 6,269,955 
Less: Preferred stock - cumulative dividends   (1,428,257)   (1,811,837)   (1,695,122)
Less: Undistributed earnings allocated to preferred shares   (6,365,083)   -   (1,108,807)
Net income (loss) available to common shareholders  $ 20,588,502  $ (898,558)  $ 3,466,026 
             
Weighted average shares (denominator):             
Weighted average shares - basic   7,576,289   7,576,289   7,576,289 
Dilutive effect of stock options   749,601   -   703,032 
Weighted average shares - diluted   8,325,890   7,576,289   8,279,321 
             
Antidilutive stock options   -   770,171   - 
             
Basic income (loss) per share  $ 2.72  $ (0.12)  $ 0.46 
Diluted income (loss) per share  $ 2.47  $ (0.12)  $ 0.42 

 

   



 

 
Note 16. Employee Benefits Plan
 
Retirement plans: The Company offers a 401(k) plan, which covers substantially all employees of BB and EP, with the exception of
certain union employees. Participating employees may elect to contribute, on a tax-deferred basis, a portion of their compensation, in
accordance with Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. For the years ended October 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company’s
matching contribution rate for non-collectively bargained employees was 25 percent of the first 4 percent and 50 percent of the first
7 percent of an employee’s gross earnings for BB and EP participants, respectively. The Company’s matching contribution may be changed
at the discretion of the Board of Directors. Matching contributions vest 20 percent after 2 years of service and ratably thereafter until they
are 100 percent vested after 6 years of service. During the years ended October 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, certain union employees have
collectively bargained for a matching contribution of 50 percent to 100 percent of the first 7 percent of base compensation that a participant
contributed, and additional amounts may be contributed at the option of the Board of Directors. During the years ended October 31, 2018,
2017 and 2016, certain other union employees have collectively bargained for a defined contribution of $4.50 and $4.25 per hour worked,
respectively. Retirement plan contributions for the years ended October 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 were $576,657, $442,262 and $445,162
respectively.
 
Camfaud operates a Small Self-Administered Scheme (SSAS), which is the equivalent of a U.S. defined contribution pension plan. The
assets of the plan are held separately from those of Camfaud in an independently administered fund. Contributions by Camfaud to the
SSAS amounted to $280,677 and $179,562 for the years ended October 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
 
Multiemployer plans: BB contributes to a number of multiemployer defined benefit pension plans under the terms of collective-bargaining
agreements (CBAs) that cover its union-represented employees. The risks of participating in these multiemployer plans are different from
single-employer plans in the following aspects: (a) Assets contributed to the multiemployer plan by one employer may be used to provide
benefits to employees of other participating employers; (b) If a participating employer stops contributing to the plan, the unfunded
obligations of the plan may be borne by the remaining participating employers; and (c) If BB chooses to stop participating in some of its
multiemployer plans, BB may be required to pay those plans an amount based on the underfunded status of the plan, referred to as a
withdrawal liability. BB has no intention of stopping its participation in any multiemployer plan.
 
The following is a summary of our contributions to each multiemployer pension plan for the years ended October 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016:
 
  2018   2017   2016  
California  $ 492,430  $ 564,047  $ 603,516 
Oregon   232,971   207,735   196,825 
Washington   216,454   145,517   124,595 

Total contributions  $ 941,855  $ 917,299  $ 924,936 
 
No plan was determined to be individually significant. There have been no significant changes that affect the comparability of the
contributions. The Company reviews the funded status of each multiemployer defined benefit pension plan at each reporting period so as to
monitor the certified zone status for each of the multiemployer defined benefit pension plans. The zone status for the multiemployer
defined benefit pension plans for Oregon and Washington was Green (greater than 80 percent funded) and Yellow (less than 80 percent
funded but greater than 65 percent funded) for the California multiemployer defined benefit pension plans. The funding status for the
Oregon and Washington multiemployer defined benefit pension plans is at January 1, 2017 and July 1, 2017 for the California
multiemployer defined benefit pension plan.

 

   



 

 
Note 16. Employee Benefits Plan (continued)
 
Government regulations impose certain requirements relative to multiemployer plans. In the event of plan termination or employer
withdrawal, an employer may be liable for a portion of the plan’s unfunded vested benefits. BB has not received information from the
plans’ administrators to determine its share of unfunded vested benefits. BB does not anticipate withdrawal from the plans, nor is BB aware
of any expected plan terminations.
 
The Company believes that the “construction industry” multiemployer plan exception may apply if the Company did withdraw from any of
its current multiemployer plans. The “construction industry” exception generally delays the imposition of withdrawal liability in
connection with an employer’s withdrawal from a “construction industry” multiemployer plan unless and until that employer resumes
covered operations in the relevant geographic region without a corresponding resumption of contributions to the multiemployer plan. The
Company has no intention of withdrawing, in either a complete or partial withdrawal, from any of the multiemployer plans to which the
Company currently contributes; however, it has been assessed a withdrawal liability in the past.
 
Note 17. Segment Reporting
 
The Company conducts its business through the following reportable segments based on geography and the nature of services sold: U.S
Concrete pumping – Brundage-Bone, U.K. Concrete Pumping – Camfaud, Concrete Waste Management Services – Eco-Pan. The
classifications are defined as follows:

 
· U.S. Concrete Pumping – Brundage-Bone (Brundage-Bone) – consists of concrete pumping services sold to customers in the U.S.

 
· U.K. Concrete Pumping – Camfaud (Camfaud) – consists of concrete pumping services sold to customers in the U.K, which represents

foreign operations.
 

· Concrete Waste Management Services – Eco-Pan (Eco-Pan) – consists of pans and containers rented to customers in the U.S and the
disposal of the concrete waste material services sold to customers in the U.S.

 
The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in Note 2. The Chief Operating Decision Maker
(CODM) evaluates the performance of its segments based on revenue, and measures segment performance based upon segment EBITDA
(earnings before income, taxes, depreciation and amortization).
 
Non-allocated interest expense and various other administrative costs are reflected in Corporate. Corporate assets include cash, prepaid
expenses and other current assets, property and equipment.
 
The following provides operating information about the Company’s reportable segments for the years ended October 31, 2018, 2017 and
2016:
 

  2018   2017   2016  
Revenue:             

Brundage-Bone  $ 164,305,836  $ 151,194,931  $ 153,488,134 
Camfaud   50,448,085   36,433,763   - 
Eco-Pan   28,469,346   23,581,905   18,937,413 

   243,223,267   211,210,599   172,425,547 
 

   



 

 
Note 17. Segment Reporting (Continued)
 
EBITDA  2018   2017   2016  
Brundage-Bone  $ 34,966,513  $ 36,925,969  $ 43,763,760 
Camfaud   15,753,598   10,827,292   - 
Eco-Pan   12,558,725   9,912,446   7,560,512 
Corporate   2,366,179   (3,093,897)   1,188,480 
  $ 65,645,015  $ 54,571,810  $ 52,512,752 
 
Interest income (expense)  2018   2017   2016  
Brundage-Bone  $ (17,247,250)  $ (15,389,779)  $ (15,156,744)
Camfaud   (4,172,959)   (3,634,811)   - 
Eco-Pan   (980)   870   - 
Corporate   (3,558)   (3,724,128)   (4,359,333)
  $ (21,424,747)  $ (22,747,848)  $ (19,516,077)
 
Depreciation and amortization  2018   2017   2016  
Brundage-Bone  $ 15,237,041  $ 18,275,871  $ 19,420,137 
Camfaud   8,059,512   6,336,369   - 
Eco-Pan   2,078,137   2,315,298   2,675,954 
Corporate   247,856   226,487   213,452 
  $ 25,622,546  $ 27,154,025  $ 22,309,543 
 
Income tax (benefit) expense  2018   2017   2016  
Brundage-Bone  $ (11,472,368)  $ 3,109,635  $ 4,603,472 
Camfaud   502,974   245,424   - 
Eco-Pan   845,572   2,791,138   703,733 
Corporate   339,702   (2,389,539)   (853,664)
  $ (9,784,120)  $ 3,756,658  $ 4,453,541 
 
Transaction costs  2018   2017   2016  
Brundage-Bone  $ 7,589,825  $ 4,489,517  $ 3,691,466 
  $ 7,589,825  $ 4,489,517  $ 3,691,466 
 
Net income (loss)  2018   2017   2016  
Brundage-Bone  $ 13,954,590  $ 150,684  $ 4,583,407 
Camfaud   3,018,153   610,688   - 
Eco-Pan   9,634,036   4,806,880   4,180,825 
Corporate   1,775,063   (4,654,973)   (2,530,641)
  $ 28,381,842  $ 913,279  $ 6,233,591 
 
  2018   2017   2016  
Total Assets             
Brundage-Bone  $ 277,935,739  $ 244,553,325  $ 209,074,489 
Camfaud   39,167,461   44,866,267   - 
Eco-Pan   32,781,488   28,961,354   26,738,362 
Corporate   20,259,056   20,465,681   19,116,618 
  $ 370,143,744  $ 338,846,627  $ 254,929,469 

 

   



 

 
Note 17. Segment Reporting (Continued)
 
The following provides a reconciliation from the Company’s measure of segment performance, EBITDA, to income before taxes for the
years ended October 31, 2018 and 2017:
 
Income Before Taxes to EBITDA Reconciliation  2018   2017   2016  
Income before taxes  $ 18,597,722  $ 4,669,937  $ 10,687,132 
Depreciation and amortization   25,622,546   27,154,025   22,309,543 
Interest expense   21,424,747   22,747,848   19,516,077 
EBITDA  $ 65,645,015  $ 54,571,810  $ 52,512,752 

 
The U.S. and U.K. were the only regions that accounted for more than 10 percent of the Company’s revenues in 2018, 2017 and 2016.
There was no single customer that accounted for more than 10 percent of revenues in 2018, 2017 and 2016. Revenues for 2018, 2017 and
2016 and long-lived assets as of October 31, 2018 and 2017 were as follows:
 
Revenues  2018   2017   2016  
    U.S.  $ 192,775,182  $ 174,776,836  $ 172,425,547 
    U.K.   50,448,085   36,433,763   - 
  $ 243,223,267  $ 211,210,599  $ 172,425,547 
 
Long Lived Assets  2018   2017   2016  
    U.S.  $ 167,368,850  $ 138,012,093  $ 138,686,332 
    U.K.   34,546,590   37,530,042   - 
  $ 201,915,440  $ 175,542,135  $ 138,686,332 

 
Note 18. Related-Party Transactions
 
The Company entered into a Management Services Agreement with PGP Advisors, LLC (PGP), an affiliate of the Sponsor, on August 18,
2014, to provide advisory, consulting and other professional services. The annual fee for these services is $1,250,000, which is payable
quarterly. The annual service fee was increased to $4,000,000 for fiscal year 2018 and 2019 and $2,000,000 annually thereafter. For the
years ended October 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company incurred $4,348,456, $1,749,792 and $1,535,705, respectively, related to this
agreement and other agreed upon expenses, which is included in general and administrative expenses on the accompanying consolidated
statements of income.
 
In connection with the acquisition of the O’Brien Companies and Camfaud (see Note 3), the Company paid $525,000 and $1,500,000,
respectively, in transaction costs to PGP that is included in transaction costs on the consolidated statements of income for the years ended
October 31, 2018 and 2017.
 

   



 

 
Note 19. Subsequent Events
 
The Company has evaluated subsequent events through January 14, 2019, the date for which the consolidated financial statements were
available for issuance, except for the matters described below, the Company has not identified any significant events for which it needs to
provide disclosure.
 
Consummation of the Merger with Industrea Acquisition Corporation : On December 6, 2018, the Company consummated the merger
as contemplated in the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of September 7, 2018 (the “ Industrea Merger Agreement”), by and among
the Company and Industrea Acquisition Corp. The transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement are referred to herein as the
“Business Combination”.
 
The Company incurred approximately $6,450,266 of seller related costs related to the Industrea Merger Agreement that have been reflected
as transaction costs in the accompanying consolidated statement of income for the year ended October 31, 2018.
 
Upon the closing of the Business Combination, all outstanding shares of Industrea’s Class A common stock, par value $0.0001 per share
(“Class A common stock”), were exchanged on a one-for-one basis for shares of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.0001 per share
(“Company common stock”), and Industrea’s outstanding warrants were assumed by the Company and became exercisable for shares of the
Company’s common stock on the same terms as were contained in such warrants prior to the Business Combination. The Company is the
successor issuer to Industrea and has succeeded to the attributes of Industrea as the registrant.
 
Debt Financing: On the Closing Date, the Company entered into (i) a Term Loan Agreement (the “Term Loan Agreement”) among the
Company and its subsidiaries as joint lead arrangers and joint bookrunners and (ii) a Credit Agreement (the “ABL Credit Agreement”) with
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as agent, sole lead arranger and sole bookrunner.
 

   



 

 
Note 19. Subsequent Events (Continued)
 
Term Loan Agreement: The initial term loans advanced under the Term Loan Agreement on the Closing Date will mature and be due and
payable in full seven years after the Closing Date, with principal amortization payments in an annual amount equal to 5.00% of the original
principal amount thereof.
 
The initial terms loans extended under the Term Loan Agreement are in an aggregate principal amount of $357,000,000.
 
Interest on borrowings under the Term Loan Agreement, at the Borrower’s option, will bear interest at either (1) an adjusted Eurodollar
rate or (2) an alternate base rate, in each case plus an applicable margin. The applicable margin is 6.00% with respect to Eurodollar
borrowings and 5.00% with respect to base rate borrowings.
 
ABL Facility Principal Amount and Maturity: The ABL Credit Agreement provides borrowing availability in US Dollars and GBP up to
a maximum of $60,000,000.
 
The ABL Credit Agreement includes borrowing capacity available for standby letters of credit of up to $7,500,000, and for other loan
borrowings of up to $7,500,000. Any issuance of letters of credit or making of a swingline loan will reduce the amount available under the
ABL Facility.
 
In addition, the ABL Credit Agreement provides the ABL Borrowers the ability to seek commitments to increase the revolving
commitments thereunder, subject to certain conditions, in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $30,000,000.
 
Amounts borrowed under the ABL Credit Agreement may be repaid and, subject to the terms and conditions of the ABL Credit Agreement,
reborrowed at any time during the term of the ABL Credit Agreement. The loans advanced under the ABL Credit Agreement will mature
and be due and payable in full five years after the Closing Date. The ABL agreement also includes certain financial covenants.
 
ABL Facility Interest Rate: Interest on borrowings in US Dollars under the ABL Credit Agreement, at the Borrower’s option, will bear
interest at either (1) an adjusted LIBOR rate or (2) a base rate, in each case plus an applicable margin. Interest on borrowings in GBP under
the ABL Credit Agreement will bear interest at an adjusted LIBOR rate plus an applicable margin. The ABL Credit Agreement is subject to
two step-downs of 0.25% and 0.50% based on excess availability levels.
 

   



 

 
Note 19. Subsequent Events (Continued)
 
Stockholders Agreement: In connection with the Business Combination, the Company, CFLL Sponsor Holdings, LLC (f/k/a Industrea
Alexandria LLC) (the “Sponsor”) and its affiliates, Industrea’s independent directors (collectively with the Sponsor and affiliates, the
“Initial Stockholders”), Argand Partners Fund, LP (the “Argand Investor”), and certain holders of CPH’s capital stock (“CPH
stockholders”), entered into the Stockholders Agreement. Pursuant to the Stockholders, Argand Investor and CPH stockholders have agreed
to limit the transfer of shares for a period of time after closing.
 

   

 
 



 
Exhibit 99.4

 
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

 
The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements give effect to the Business Combination under the

acquisition method of accounting in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standard Codification
(“ASC”) Topic 805, Business Combinations (“ASC 805”), as well as the Debt Financing and Equity Financing. The Business Combination
will be accounted for as an acquisition of CPH (the accounting acquiree) by Industrea (the accounting acquirer) since Industrea is a
substantive entity and has engaged in significant pre-combination activities in order to raise capital, market to investors and pursue a
business combination (see Note 2). Please see the Company’s registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-227259), as amended and
supplemented, originally filed with the SEC on September 10, 2018 (as amended and supplemented, the “proxy statement/prospectus”),
which is incorporated herein by reference, as it relates to considerations as to the determination of the accounting acquirer, expected
ownership stakes at the date of acquisition and definition for terms such as, but not limited to, Debt Financing and Equity Financing.

 
The historical consolidated financial information has been adjusted in these unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial

statements to give effect to pro forma events that are (1) directly attributable to the Business Combination and the related Debt Financing
and Equity Financing, (2) factually supportable, and (3) with respect to the statements of operations, expected to have a continuing impact
on the post-combination company. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet is based on the historical unaudited
consolidated balance sheet of CPH and the unaudited condensed balance sheet of Industrea, and has been prepared to reflect the Business
Combination and the related Debt Financing and Equity Financing as if they occurred on October 31, 2018. The unaudited pro forma
condensed combined statement of operations for the twelve months ended October 31, 2018 combines the historical results of operations of
CPH and for Industrea for the periods described below, giving effect to the Business Combination and the proposed Debt Financing and
Equity Financing as if they occurred as of the beginning of fiscal 2018, i.e. November 1, 2017.

 
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations information for the twelve months ended October 31, 2018 was

derived from CPH’s audited consolidated statement of operations for the twelve months ended October 31, 2018 and Industrea’s audited
statement of operations for the period January 1, 2018 through December 5, 2018. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance
sheet information as of October 31, 2018 was derived from CPH consolidated audited balance sheet as of October 31, 2018 and Industrea’s
audited balance sheet as of December 5, 2018. Such unaudited financial information has been prepared on a basis consistent with the
audited financial statements of CPH and Industrea, respectively, each of which is included in the proxy statement/prospectus. See Note 2,
Basis of the Pro Forma Presentation for further discussion regarding combining entities with differing fiscal years.

 
These unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements are for informational purposes only. They do not purport to

indicate the results that would actually have been obtained had the Business Combination and the Debt Financing and Equity Financings
been completed on the assumed date or for the periods presented, or which may be realized in the future. The pro forma adjustments are
based on the information currently available and the assumptions and estimates underlying the pro forma adjustments are described in the
accompanying notes. Actual results may differ materially from the assumptions within the accompanying unaudited pro forma condensed
combined financial information.

 
Concrete Pumping Holdings, Inc. (“Newco”) will likely incur additional costs in order to satisfy its obligations as a fully reporting

public company as it transitions from an emerging growth company status; however, no estimate has been reflected as an adjustment to the
unaudited pro forma statements of operations. In addition, Industrea anticipates adoption of various stock compensation plans or programs
that are typical for employees, officers and directors of public companies. No adjustment to the unaudited pro forma condensed combined
statement of operations has been made for these items as they are not factually supportable at this time.

 

 



 

 
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations are not necessarily indicative of what the actual results of

operations would have been had the Business Combination taken place on the date indicated, nor is it indicative of the future consolidated
results of operations of the post-combination company. The selected unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information below
should be read in conjunction with the sections entitled “Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information,” “CPH
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and the historical financial statements and notes
thereto of CPH and Industrea included in the proxy statement/prospectus incorporated by reference.

 
The unaudited pro forma combined financial statements have been prepared using actual redemptions of public shares of Industrea on

the date of redemption. 22,337,322 public shares were redeemed by public stockholders. The presentation of the unaudited pro forma
condensed combined financial statements herein reflects the aforementioned level of redemptions by public stockholders.

 

 



 

 
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Balance Sheet 

As of October 31, 2018 
(in thousands)

  

  
Industrea 

Acquisition Corp.   
Concrete Pumping 

Holdings, Inc.   Pro Forma Adjustments      
Pro Forma
Combined  

                
ASSETS                     
Current Assets                     

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 4  $ 8,621  $ 231,558    [3A]  $ 547 
           357,000    [3B]     
           25,000    [3C]     
           71,900    [3D]     
           (36,283)    [3E]     
           (7,000)    [3B]     
           (147,856)    [3F]     
           (31,000)    [3F]     
           (14,000)    [3F]     
           (14,672)    [3G]     
           (239,372)    [3B]     
           (231,558)    [3N]     
           25,000    [3O]     
           (7,477)    [3Q]     
           10,682    [3P]     
Cash and marketable securities held in Trust Account   238,474   -   (238,474)    [3A]    
Accounts receivable, net   -   40,118   -       40,118 
Inventory   -   3,810   -       3,810 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   807   3,947   -       4,754 
                     

Total current assets   239,285   56,496   (246,552)       49,229 
Property and equipment, net   -   201,915   18,885    [3H]   220,800 
Other intangible assets, net   -   36,429   181,271    [3I]   217,700 
Goodwill   -   74,656   147,259    [3J]   221,915 
Other assets   -   648   (648)    [3B]   - 

TOTAL ASSETS  $ 239,285  $ 370,144  $ 100,215      $ 709,644 

                     
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY                     

Current liabilities                     
Current portion of capital lease obligations  $ -  $ 85  $ -      $ 85 
Revolving loans and current maturities of long term debt   -   62,987   17,850    [3B]   28,532 
           (62,987)    [3B]     
           10,682    [3P]     
Accounts payable & other current liabilities   10,829   31,879   -       44,203 
Total current liabilities   10,829   94,951   (34,455)       72,820 
Long-term liabilities           -         
Deferred underwriters’ commission   8,050   -   (8,050)    [3E]   - 
Capital lease obligations, less current portion   -   568   -       568 
Long-term debt, net of debt issuance costs   -   173,470   (176,385)    [3B]   321,650 
           2,915    [3B]     
           339,150    [3B]     
           (17,500)         
Deferred income taxes   -   39,005   33,916    [3K]   72,921 
Other liabilities   -   1,458   -       1,458 

Total liabilities   18,879   309,452   139,591       467,922 
                     
Redeemable Preferred Stock   -   14,672   (14,672)    [3G]   25,000 
           25,000    [3C]     
Common stock subject to possible redemption   215,406   -   (215,406)    [3L]   - 
                     
Stockholders’ Equity                     

Common Stock - Total   1   8   (8)    [3M]  1 
Additional paid-in-capital   12,433   18,724   (18,724)    [3M]  253,138 
           -         
           (227,839)    [3N]     
           25,000    [3P]     
           -         
           215,406    [3L]     
           71,900    [3D]     
           156,238    [3F]     
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit)   (7,434)   26,704   (26,704)    [3M]  (36,417)
           (28,983)    [3E]     
Accumulated other comprehensive income   -   584   (584)    [3M]  - 
Total stockholders’ equity   5,000   46,020   165,702       216,722 
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY  $ 239,285  $ 370,144  $ 100,215      $ 709,644 

 
See accompanying notes to unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information 
 



 



 

 
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statement of Operations

For the Twelve Months Ended October 31, 2018
(in thousands, except per share information)

  

  
Industrea

Acquisition Corp.  
Concrete Pumping

Holdings, Inc.   
Pro Forma

Adjustments     
Pro Forma
Combined  

               
Net sales  $ -  $ 243,223  $ -    $ 243,223 
Cost of operations   -   136,877   3,631  [4A]  140,508 

Gross profit   -   106,346   (3,631)     102,715 
Operating expenses                   
Selling, general and administrative expenses   10,305   58,789   6,610  [4B]   75,850 
           146  [4A]    
Transaction Costs   -   7,590   (6,450)  [4J]   1,140 
Operating (loss) profit   (10,305)   39,967   (3,937)     25,725 
Interest expense   -   (21,425)   (7,755)  [4E]   (30,441)
           1,690  [4D]    
           (2,951)  [4C]    
Other income (expense), net   3,989   55   (3,989)  [4F]   55 
Income (loss) before income taxes   (6,316)   18,597   (16,942)     (4,661)
Income tax (expense) benefit   (801)   9,784   5,774  [4G]  14,757 

Net income (loss)  $ (7,117)  $ 28,381  $ (11,168)    $ 10,096 
Dividends on cumulative redeemable
convertible preferred stock   -   (1,428)   (452)  [4H]  (1,880)
Undistributed earnings allocated to preferred
shares   -   (6,365)   6,335  [4K]  - 

Net income (loss) available to common
shareholders  $ (7,117)  $ 20,588  $ (5,255)    $ 8,216 

                   
Weighted average shares outstanding                   
Basic   6,956          [4I]   31,228 
Diluted   6,956          [4I]   31,228 
                   
Earnings per share available to common
stockholders                   
Basic  $ (1.02)            $ 0.26 
Diluted  $ (1.02)            $ 0.26 

 
See accompanying notes to unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information

 

 



 

 
NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

 
Note 1 — Description of the Transaction

 
For a description of the terms of the Business Combination and related documents, see the section entitled “The Business Combination
Proposal” within the proxy/prospectus incorporated by reference.
 
Note 2 — Basis of the Pro Forma Presentation

 
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements are based on Industrea and CPH historical consolidated financial

statements as adjusted to give effect to the acquisition of CPH and any other consideration necessary to finance the Business Combination.
CPH and Industrea have differing fiscal year ends, October 31st and December 31st, respectively. Accordingly, quarter ends are also
differing commensurate with the timing of the aforementioned fiscal year ends.

 
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of October 31, 2018 is based on the historical audited condensed

consolidated balance sheet of CPH as of October 31, 2018 and the audited condensed balance sheet of Industrea as of December 5, 2018
and has been prepared to reflect the Business Combination and the proposed related financing transactions as if they occurred on October
31, 2018. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations information for the year ended October 31, 2018
combines the historical results of operations of CPH for the twelve months ended October 31, 2018 and Industrea’s historical results
operations for the period January 1, 2018 through December 5, 2018. In connection with the Business Combination, Newco succeeded to
the attributes of Industrea as the registrant and changed its fiscal year end from December 31 to October 31.

 
The Business Combination will be accounted for as a business combination under the scope of the FASB ASC 805, Business

Combinations (“ASC 805”). The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information was prepared using the acquisition
method of accounting and was based on the historical financial information of CPH and Industrea. The acquisition method of accounting,
based on ASC 805, uses the fair value concepts defined in ASC 820, “Fair Value Measurement.” As described above, please see the “proxy
statement/prospectus”, which is incorporated herein by reference, as it relates to discussion of the considerations evaluated in the
determination of the accounting acquirer.

 
CPH constitutes a business, with inputs, processes, and outputs. Accordingly, the acquisition of CPH constitutes the acquisition of a

business for purposes of ASC 805, and due to the change in control, will be accounted for using the acquisition method.
 
Under the acquisition method, the acquisition-date fair value of the Merger Consideration paid by Industrea to effect the Business

Combination is allocated to the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values, as described in Note 3
below. Management of Concrete Pumping Holdings, Inc. has made significant estimates and assumptions in determining the preliminary
allocation of the Merger Consideration transferred in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements. As the unaudited
pro forma condensed combined financial statements have been prepared based on these preliminary estimates, the final amounts recorded
may differ materially from the information presented.

 

 



 

 
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations for the twelve months ended October 31, 2018 give pro forma

effect to the Business Combination as if it had occurred. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of October 31,
2018 assumes that the Business Combination was completed on October 31, 2018. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial
statements are based on the historical consolidated financial statements of the Companies and related adjustments. The pro forma
adjustments are based on the information currently available. The assumptions and estimates underlying the pro forma adjustments are
described in the accompanying notes.

 
Unless indicated otherwise, all amounts presented in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information section are in

thousands, except per share information.
 
Lastly, the significant accounting policies of Industrea and CPH are aligned and did not require any adjustments to be made upon

consummation of the Business Combination in order to create the significant accounting policies of the post-consummation entity.
 
Note 3 — Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Balance Sheet Adjustments

 
Newco acquired CPH for Merger Consideration of approximately $610 million. Industrea financed the acquisition through Debt

Financing of $357 million. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information includes various assumptions, including
those related to the preliminary purchase price allocation of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed of CPH based on management’s best
estimates of the expected fair values. The final purchase price allocation may vary based on final appraisals, valuations and analyses of the
fair value of the acquired assets and assumed liabilities. Accordingly, the pro forma adjustments are preliminary and have been made solely
for illustrative purposes.

 
The estimated purchase price and the allocation of the estimated purchase price discussed below are preliminary. An independent

third-party valuation firm assisted in performing a preliminary valuation. The preliminary allocation of the purchase consideration to
property and equipment was based on the fair value of such assets determined using a internal valuation process to determine through
appraisal the fair value for all such assets.

 
Goodwill represents the excess fair value of Merger Consideration over the fair value of the underlying net assets, largely arising from

the workforce and extensive industry expertise that has been established by CPH.
 
No portion of the purchase price is contingent on future events occurring or other conditions being met.
 
The final allocation of the purchase price will be determined at a later date and is dependent on a number of factors, including the

determination of the final aggregate consideration paid in connection with the Business Combination as a result of all adjustments set forth
in the Merger Agreement and the final evaluation of CPH’s tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
Such final adjustments, including increases or decreases to depreciation or amortization resulting from the allocation of purchase price to
depreciable property, plant and equipment, deferred taxes and amortizable intangible assets, respectively, may be material. The final
allocation will be completed no later than one year from the consummation of the Business Combination.

 

 



 

 
The preliminary consideration and allocation of the purchase price to the fair value of CPH’s assets acquired and liabilities assumed as

if the acquisition date was October 31, 2018 is presented as follows (in thousands):
 

Calculation of consideration  Rounded (000s)  
    
New term loan  $ 357,000 
Rollover equity   156,238 
Zero-dividend convertible perpetual preferred stock   25,000 
Common equity Argand subscription and PIPE   71,900 
Argand partners backstop   25,000 
Cash from Industrea trust   6,916 
Draw on asset-based lending line of credit   10,682 
Cash on the balance sheet   547 
Total   653,283 
Less: Seller expenses & financing fees   (43,283)
Total consideration available for purchase  $ 610,000 
Less: Cash acquired   (8,621)
Total purchase price, net of cash acquired  $ 601,379 
     
Recognized amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
     
Accounts receivable   40,118 
Inventory   3,810 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   3,947 
Other intangible assets   217,700 
Property and equipment   220,800 
Current portion of capital lease obligations   (85)
Accounts payable & other current liabilities   (31,879)
Capital lease obligations, less current portion   (568)
Deferred income taxes   (72,921)
Other liabilities   (1,458)
Total net assets acquired   379,464 
Goodwill  $ 221,915 

 
(3A) Represents the release of approximately $238.5 million of cash and investments held in the trust account that becomes available

following the Business Combination. $231.6 million of the cash and investments held in the trust account was utilized for redemptions of
22,337,322 shares. The remaining amount cash and investments of $6.9 million was utilized to settle expenses associated with the Business
Combination and is included within Retained Earnings.

 

 



 

 
(3B) Represents the issuance of $357.0 million of Debt Financing from a new Term Loan, net of $17.5 million of debt issuance costs.

The new term loan has a seven-year term and will expire in December 2025. Commencing on the last day of the first full fiscal quarter
ended after the closing date of the facility, the new Term Loan shall be repayable in equal quarterly installments in aggregate annual
amounts equal to 5.00% per annum of the original principal amount of the new Term Loans, with the balance payable on the maturity date
of the new Term Loan. The proceeds from the Debt Financing will be used to retire the outstanding high yield bonds, revolving credit
facilities in North America and U.K. and Seller Notes. This includes the write off deferred financing costs attributable to the previously
listed debt facilities in the amount of $2.9 million related to long term debt and $0.6 million attributable to revolving credit facilities. The
total amount of debt to be paid off is approximately $239.4 million as of October 31, 2018.

 
Further, in order to extinguish CPH outstanding debt a payment penalty of $14.0 million, as also discussed at (3F), was paid by Newco

upon consummation of the Business Combination. $17.5 million of debt issuance costs are to be capitalized and amortized over the life of
the underlying issuances. $7.0 million of the proceeds from the new Term Loan will be used to settle debt issuance costs. Current
maturities of long term debt in the amount of $17.9 million have been re-classed to current liabilities to reflect the portion of the term loan
that is expected to be due within the next 12 months.

 
(3C) Represents the issuance of $25.0 million of Newco Series A Zero-Dividend Convertible Perpetual Preferred Stock concurrently

with the Business Combination. Each share will be convertible into shares of Newco common stock at a 1:1 conversion ratio upon
satisfaction of certain conditions for conversion. The redemption features contained within the preferred stock were reviewed to determine
appropriate pro forma condensed combined balance sheet classification and other relevant treatment derived from the determination of
whether the preferred shares are permanent or “temporary” equity. Evaluation of the redemption features resulted in a determination that
Series A Zero-Dividend Convertible Perpetual Preferred Stock will be presented in temporary equity. This determination was made due to
the presence of a change in control upon liquidation feature within the preferred shares agreement.

 
(3D) Represents the Argand Subscription Agreement purchase of 5,333,333 shares of Industrea common stock for proceeds of 

$54.4 million. Further, reflects the PIPE Subscription Agreement of 1,906,318 shares of Industrea common stock for proceeds of 
$17.5 million. The proceeds from these Private Placements were used to finance the selling price of the transaction and provide funds to
pay redemption amounts for those shareholders who wish to redeem their shares upon consummation of the acquisition under a redemption
scenario.

 
 (3E) Represents the estimated amount of transaction costs to be paid by Argand of $36.3 million. This amount is comprised of the

following $18.0 million of professional services fees incurred as a result of the Business Combination, $8.0 million of deferred
underwriter’s commission and $10.5 million of estimated debt issuance costs. As described in (3B), actual debt issuance costs are $17.5
million of which $7.0 million is funded out of new Term Loan proceeds.

 
(3F) In accordance with the Merger Agreement, the purchase price of CPH is $610.0 million. The purchase price includes

consideration transferred such as transaction expenses of CPH for $31 million, debt extinguishment costs of $14.0 million and for the
amount of CPH outstanding debt as disclosed in (3B). Transaction costs of the seller are made up of professional services fees of $13.8
million and $17.3 million in fees to the former equity sponsor Peninsula. Further consideration transferred includes $147.9 million in cash
and $156.2 million in Rollover Shares. Rollover Shares were issued at $10.20 per share which is derived as the investment value over the
number of shares issued.

 
(3G) Represents the payment of liquidation value of approximately $14.7 million of CPH preferred stock. The CPH preferred shares

contain a liquidation event redemption feature, wherein upon a qualifying event such as the Business Combination, the participating
stockholders are entitled to receive liquidation value of the participating preferred shares plus all accumulated and unpaid dividends on a
per share basis.

 
(3H) Represents the write-up of property, plant and equipment by $18.9 million to their estimated fair value of $220.8 million. See

Note 3 regarding Business Combination.
 

 



 

 
(3I) Represents the increase in fair value of identifiable intangible assets by $181.3 million to their estimated fair value of

$217.7 million. See Note 3 regarding Business Combination.
 
(3J) Represents the residual goodwill adjustment of approximately $147.3 million to $221.9 million representing the excess of the

total purchase consideration over the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the Business Combination as
described in Note 3.

 
(3K) Represents the recording of deferred income tax liabilities of $33.9 million, resulting from fair value adjustments for property,

plant and equipment and identifiable intangible assets in the Business Combination described in Note 3. The statutory rates used are as
follows: of 21.0% for the U.S., state rate of 3.6% and 17.2% for the U.K.

 
(3L) At the time of issuance, certain of Industrea’s common shares were subject to a possible redemption and, as such, an amount of 

$215.4 million was classified outside the equity section in Industrea’s historical balance sheet. 22,337,322 common shares were redeemed
by common shareholders. The remaining common shares, in the amount of $6.2 million, not redeemed by common shareholders were
classified as part of equity and are included within the amounts described at (3M). 

 
(3M) Represents the elimination of CPH’s common stock, additional paid-in capital, accumulated other comprehensive income and

retained earnings as a result of the business combination. This amount also reflects $3.7 million worth of redemptions in excess of common
stock and additional paid in capital.

 
(3N) Represents the decrease in cash and cash equivalents held in the trust account available for transaction consideration. Please see

note (3A) for further detail.
 
(3O) Represents the Argand Backstop amount of $25.0 million which allows for the offsetting of redemptions by the Argand Investor

through the purchase of additional issued Industrea common stock at a price of $10.20.
 
(3P) As part of the transaction the post-consummation entity obtained access to a $60.0 million asset backed line “ABL Facility.”

Draws of $10.7 million were made by the post-consummation entity in order to pay Business Combination expenses.
 
(3Q) Represents the total costs not reflected in the historical income statements that are directly attributable to the Business

Combination and factually supportable but nonrecurring.
 
Note 4 — Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statement of Operations Adjustments

 
The pro forma adjustments included in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations for the twelve months

ended October 31, 2018 are as follows:
 
(4A) Represents the incremental adjustment to record pro forma depreciation expense on the portion of the purchase price allocated to

property, plant and equipment for the twelve months ended October 31, 2018. Depreciation expense for property and equipment was
preliminarily estimated based on a straight line methodology, using original useful lives ranging from 3 to 15 years and taking into
consideration the fixed assets’ reported ages. The vast majority of property, plant and equipment is attributable to machinery.

 
(4B) Represents the incremental adjustment to record pro forma amortization expense on a straight line basis on the portion of the

purchase price allocated to identifiable intangible assets such as trademarks and customer relationships, for the twelve months ended
October 31, 2018. The estimated remaining useful lives of the identified intangibles were determined based on the projected economic
benefits associated with each of the identified intangible assets and was determined to be a 15-year preliminary estimated useful life for
trademarks and customer relationships.

 

 



 

 
(4C) Represents the amortization expense paid on the new debt facilities financing costs of Concrete Pumping Holdings, Inc. in

connection with the Business Combination. Please see (4D) for discussion related to the reversal of deferred financing costs attributable to
legacy debt settled in connection with the Business Combination.

 
(4D) Represents the reversal of deferred financing cost (amortization) for the twelve months ended October 31, 2018, related to debt

settled in connection with the Business Combination.
 
(4E) Represents the net increase to interest expense to a total interest expense of $30.4 million, inclusive of deferred financing costs

(4D), for the twelve months ended October 31, 2018 resulting from interest on the New Term Loan to finance the acquisition of Concrete
Pumping Holdings, Inc. The interest rate associated with the New Term Loan is LIBOR plus 6.0%. As interest rates in future periods could
vary from those depicted in the transaction, it was determined that a 1/8% variance in interest rates would result in a $0.4 million difference
in interest expense.

 
(4F) Reflects the reversal of $4.0 million of interest income attributable to interest earnings on the cash and marketable securities held

in the Trust Account.
 
(4G) Represents the income tax effect of the pro forma adjustments related to the acquisition of CPH calculated using the blended

U.S. statutory income tax rate of 23.1%, for the twelve months ended October 31, 2018. The effective tax rate of the combined company
could be significantly different depending on the mix of post-acquisition income and other activities. The income tax effects of the Tax
Cuts and Jobs Act (TCJA), which was enacted in the United States on December 22, 2017, are presented as recorded by the separate
companies and have not been re-determined on a combined basis.

 
(4H) To record cumulative dividends on the Preferred Stock for the purpose of determining income (loss) attributable to common

stockholders.
 
(4I) As the Business Combination is being reflected as if they had occurred at the beginning of the period presented, the calculation of

weighted average shares outstanding for basic and diluted net income (loss) per share assumes that the shares issuable relating to the
Business Combination and the PIPE Investment have been outstanding for the entire period presented. All potential common share
securities in connection to the Business Combination were antidilutive, and have been ignored for the purposes of diluted EPS. For this
reason, the unaudited pro forma condensed combined basic and diluted earnings per share are the same.

 

 



 

 
The following presents the calculation of basic and diluted weighted average common shares outstanding.
 

  
Year Ended 

October 31, 2018  
Weighted average shares calculation, basic & diluted     
Weighted average public shares outstanding   662,678 
Argand rights converted to shares   5,750,000 
CPH Management (rollover)   5,079,033 
Peninsula Pacific (rollover)   11,005,275 
Shares issued to PIPE investors   1,906,318 
Other Non-Management Sellers   243,225 
Argand shares issued in Business Combination   6,581,388 
Weighted average shares outstanding   31,227,917 

 
(4J) Represents the elimination of nonrecurring transaction costs incurred during the twelve-month period ended October 31, 2018 of 

$6.5 million that are directly related to the proposed Business Combination between Industrea and CPH.
 
(4K) Represents the distribution of undistributed earnings allocated to preferred shareholders.

 

 

 


